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Building Strengths

Defining Distinction
Growing Networks

Investing in Quality

Keppel T&T builds on track records, core
competencies and strengths in our logistics
and data centre businesses to deliver distinctive
services and solutions to our customers.
By constantly distinguishing ourselves from
our competitors, we are well-positioned to
achieve sustained earnings growth for greater
shareholder value.
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Key Figures 2010

Shareholders’ Funds

Net Tangible Assets

Gearing Ratio

+15.5%

+14.8%

0.29x

Shareholders’ funds increased
by 15.5% to $341.7 million.

Net tangible assets grew
from 54 cents to 62 cents
per share.

The Group’s gearing during
the year remained low at
0.29 times.

Revenue

Attributable Profit before
Exceptional Items

Earnings per Share

$107.8m

$62.1m

11.2 cents

Revenue upheld at
$107.8 million.

Attributable profit before
exceptional items to
shareholders increased
by 17%.

EPS increased by 17% from
9.6 cents to 11.2 cents.

Return on Equity

Economic Value Added

19.5%

+$11.4m

ROE improved to 19.5%
from 18.5%.

EVA grew by $11.4 million
to $34.6 million.

Key Figures 2010
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Chairman’s Statement

Attributable Profit before
Exceptional Items

+17%
Attributable profit
before exceptional
items of the Group
increased by 17%.

“The Group’s net gearing improved
from 0.42 times to 0.29 times.
The strong balance sheet and
good financial health will position
us well to take advantage of growth
opportunities in the year ahead.”

I am pleased to report that the
Group’s key businesses performed
well in 2010 against a backdrop
of uneven global growth.
Attributable profit before
exceptional items was 17%
higher. Logistics Division’s profit
rose 9% to $20.7 million, while
Data Centre Division’s profit
improved to $10.3 million.
Investments Division also reported
a higher profit of $31.2 million.
Earnings per Share improved by
17% to 11.2 cents.
In 2010, the Group’s Return on Equity
was higher at 19.5% and Economic
Value Added was $34.6 million.
The Group’s net gearing improved from
0.42 times to 0.29 times. The strong
balance sheet and good financial
health will position us well to take
advantage of growth opportunities
in the year ahead.
DIVIDEND
In view of the higher earnings
achieved by the Group, the Board
has recommended a higher dividend
of 3.5 cents per share.
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2010 IN REVIEW
The year started with the global
recovery gaining momentum but
global markets remained volatile
due to numerous concerns arising
from the Eurozone crisis, fluctuating
global currencies as well as high
unemployment rates in Europe and
the US. Despite the uncertainty
over the economic health of Europe
and the US, many Asian countries
recovered well from the financial
crisis, achieving double-digit growth.
The Group’s focus in Asia paid off,
as profitability improved for its
operating business units.
LOGISTICS
In Singapore, the warehouses
continued to operate at near full
occupancy. Several long-term
contracts have been renewed
with existing customers, while
contracts in new market segments,
such as the biomedical and
pharmaceutical sectors, were won.
Keppel Logistics Singapore continued
to be recognised for its excellence
when it clinched, for the second
consecutive year, the Domestic
Logistics Service Provider of the Year
(Singapore) title at the 2010 Frost
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Chairman’s Statement

and Sullivan ASEAN Transportation
and Logistics Award. In Malaysia,
our operations continued to expand
with a new distribution and trucking
department. The Group also expanded
its footprint in Vietnam when we tripled
our warehousing capacity with the
opening and development of four
new distribution centres.
Our logistics business in China
continued to do well. Supported by
China’s strong economic growth, our
port in Foshan set another new record
high in container throughput, with an
18% increase from the previous year.
The new Nanhai Distribution Centre
is nearing completion and will be
operational in early 2011. The Group
continues to expand its logistics
footprint in China, having entered into
an agreement to develop an integrated
distribution centre in the Sino-Singapore
Tianjin Eco-City, which will be
operational in 2013.
DATA CENTRE
The Data Centre Division saw its
first revenue contribution from
Keppel Datahub which began
operations in early 2010. Within
its first year of operation, the data
centre, which serves blue-chip clients,
achieved 100% occupancy for the
fitted-out area. Similarly, our data centre
in Dublin, Ireland, through Citadel 100
Datacenters Limited, a 50%-owned
associate, continued to enjoy 100%
occupancy. A joint venture, formed
in early 2011 to bring Keppel Group’s
data centre assets under Keppel T&T’s
management, is expected to contribute
to the Division’s revenue in the
coming years.
The Securus Data Property
Fund, established in 2010, achieved
an initial closing of US$100 million in
the year. It continues to seek good
quality data centre assets for
investment, so as to enhance the
Group’s market position in the
fast-growing data centre sector.
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INVESTMENTS
The Group continues to maintain its
strategic stake in M1 Limited (M1).
In 2010, M1 had done well to grow its
mobile broadband and smartphone
customer base, leading to the
increase in revenue from non-voice
services. The postpaid customer
base continued to grow to reach
1.91 million customers, as of
end-December 2010. In 2011, M1 is
expected to enhance the fixed service
offerings to drive take-up of fibre
services, and remain a contributor
to the Group’s overall profits.
LOOKING AHEAD
The Group is optimistic of the
growth prospects in Asia, and will
seek to expand its logistics and
data centre footprint so as to
capitalise on the growing demand
for its quality logistics and
data centre services.
We will continue to build on our solid
foundation and strengths to further
distinguish ourselves from competitors,
and drive greater value for our
customers and shareholders.
SINCERE APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board of Directors,
I would like to thank our shareholders
for their continual support during the
year. I would also like to thank the
Board of Directors for their guidance
in building the Group’s businesses.
The Board and I thank the
management and staff for their
dedicated contributions to Keppel T&T.
Yours sincerely,

Teo Soon Hoe
Chairman
14 February 2011
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Group Financial Highlights

Attributable Profit before
Exceptional Items

2010

For the year ($’000)
Revenue
Profit before tax and exceptional items
Attributable profit
– before exceptional items
– after exceptional items

$62.1m
Attributable profit before
exceptional items to
shareholders increased
by 17%.

At year-end ($’000)
Shareholders’ funds
Non-controlling interests
Capital employed
Net borrowings

Shareholders’ Funds

+15.5%
Shareholders’ funds increased
by 15.5% to $341.7 million.

Return on Equity

19.5%
ROE improved to 19.5%
from 18.5%.

Gearing Ratio

107,762 113,336
75,042 65,255
62,132
57,595

%
Change

(5)
15

52,915
44,608

17
29

341,716 295,907
26,946 26,090
368,662 321,997
108,251 135,386

15
3
14
(20)

Per share
Earnings (cents):
– before tax and exceptional items
– attributable before exceptional items
– attributable after exceptional items
Net tangible assets ($)

12.8
11.2
10.4
0.62

11.1
9.6
8.1
0.54

15
17
28
15

Financial ratios
Return on shareholders’ funds (%):
– before tax and exceptional items
– attributable before exceptional items
– attributable after exceptional items
Net gearing (times)

22.3
19.5
18.1
0.29

21.4
18.5
15.6
0.42

4
5
16
(31)

977
32,475

1,158
35,404

(16)
(8)

4Q

Total

Personnel
Number of employees
Total wages, salaries and related benefits

0.29x

2009

The Group’s gearing during
the year remained low at
0.29 times.

2010
1Q

Group quarterly results ($’000)
Revenue
Operating profit
Profit before tax and exceptional items
Attributable profit before
exceptional items

Group Financial Highlights

2Q

3Q

2009
4Q

Total

1Q

2Q

3Q

25,443 27,208 28,180 26,931 107,762 29,875 29,172 29,618 24,671 113,336
2,093 2,357 3,099 4,836 12,385
604 2,102 2,745 2,858
8,309
16,963 18,206 19,696 20,177 75,042 12,779 15,255 16,733 20,488 65,255
12,683 13,800 15,265 20,384 62,132

10,725 11,970 13,003 17,217

52,915
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Growing
Networks

g We constantly hunt for opportunities to grow our
regional networks so as to offer better solutions for our
clients’ regional distribution needs. Apart from expanding
our capacity in Singapore, we are also actively looking
to grow overseas, especially in China where our
port in the Pearl River Delta operates at maximum
capacity, and our logistics facilities in Foshan
continue to achieve high occupancy rates.

Investing in
Quality

g We map our offerings closely to the
ever-changing market needs, and constantly invest
and improve on them to serve our portfolio of
blue-chip clients better. Apart from expanding our
current data centre facilities to meet the growing
demand, we are also looking out for high quality
data centre assets to invest in.

Board of Directors

Teo Soon Hoe, 61

Tan Tin Wee, 49

Chairman
Senior Executive Director
& Group Finance Director,
Keppel Corporation Limited
Chairman, Divestment and
New Investment Committee
Member, Remuneration Committee
Member, Nominating Committee
Bachelor of Business Administration,
University of Singapore; Member of
the Wharton Society of Fellows,
University of Pennsylvania

Independent Director
Associate Professor of
Biochemistry, National
University of Singapore
Chairman, Nominating Committee
Member, Remuneration Committee
Member, Divestment and
New Investment Committee
Bachelor of Arts (Natural Science Tripos
majoring in Biochemistry), University of
Cambridge; MSc University of London;
PhD University of Edinburgh

Mr Teo Soon Hoe is the non-executive
Chairman of Keppel T&T (Director
since 23 August 1988; date of
last re-election: 21 April 2010),
Chairman of the Divestment and
New Investment Committee and
a member of the Nominating and
Remuneration Committees.

Dr Tan Tin Wee was appointed to the
Board on 7 September 2000 (date
of last re-election: 22 April 2008).
An independent and non-executive
Director, he is Chairman of the
Nominating Committee and a member
of the Divestment and New Investment
and Remuneration Committees.

Mr Teo is a Senior Executive Director
and the Group Finance Director of
Keppel Corporation Limited. He is also
Chairman of M1 Limited and Keppel
Philippines Holding Inc. In addition, he
is a director of several companies within
the Keppel Group, including Keppel Land
Limited, Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd,
Keppel Infrastructure Fund Management
Pte Ltd (the Trustee-Manager of K-Green
Trust), Keppel Energy Pte Ltd, Singapore
Tianjin Eco-City Investment Holdings Pte.
Ltd and k1 Ventures Limited.

Dr Tan is an Associate Professor
and Deputy Head of the Department
of Biochemistry at the National
University of Singapore (NUS),
pursuing bioinformatics research on
the converging interface between life
sciences and internet technologies.

In addition, Dr Tan is Master of
Eusoff Hall of Residence at NUS,
Board Director of the International
Society for Computational Biology,
Founding Secretariat of the Asia
Pacific Bioinformatics Network
(APBioNet) and secretary of the
ExCo, International Conference on
Bioinformatics. He was the founding
principal investigator of the Singapore
Advanced Research and Education
Network (SINGAREN). As founder
of the multilingual internet domain
name system (IDN), he has been a
key mover in the internationalisation
of the internet domain name system.
Dr Tan had previously served as
Chairman of ASEAN Sub-Committee
on Biotechnology and Asia Pacific
Network Group (APNG), President
of the Association for Medical and
Bioinformatics Singapore (AMBIS),
and headed Technet Unit before its
commercial debut as Pacific Internet.
In addition, he is also a director of
iGates Bioinnovation Pte Ltd. He has
also been involved in a number of NUS
start-up companies and spin-offs.

Mr Teo began his career with the
Keppel Group in 1975, when he joined
Keppel Shipyard Limited. He rose
through the ranks and was seconded to
various subsidiaries of the Keppel Group
before assuming the position of Group
Finance Director in 1985.
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Bernard Tan Tiong Gie, 67
Independent Director
Professor of Physics, National
University of Singapore
Chairman, Remuneration
Committee
Member, Nominating Committee
Member, Divestment and
New Investment Committee
PPA(P); BBM(L); Bachelor of Science
(Hons in Physics), University of
Singapore; Doctor of Philosophy in
Engineering Science, Oxford University
(UK); Chartered Engineer (UK); Member
of the Institution of Electrical Engineers
(UK); Fellow of the Institute of Physics
(UK); Fellow of the Institute of Physics,
Singapore; Fellow of Trinity College of
Music, London; Diploma in Financial
Management (ACCA)
Prof Bernard Tan Tiong Gie was
appointed to the Board on
1 April 2003 (date of last
re-election: 21 April 2009).
He is an independent and
non-executive Director, Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Nominating
and Divestment and New
Investment Committees.

Board of Directors

Prof Tan is a director of NUS
Technology Holdings Ltd, the Singapore
Symphonia Company Ltd and the
Singapore Arts School Ltd. He is also
Chairman of Keppel Credit Union
Co-operative Ltd and Cadi Scientific
Pte Ltd, and a member of Southeast
Asia Advisory Board of Rolls-Royce.
He has been an academic staff member
of the National University of Singapore
(NUS) since 1968, where he is presently
a Professor of Physics and Director of
the Centre for Maritime Studies. He was
Dean of Science from 1985 to 1997 and
Dean of Students from 1997 to 2002
at NUS, where he is also Chairman
of the Centre for Remote Sensing,
Imaging and Processing and the
Singapore Synchrotron Light Source.
He is Chairman of the National
Advisory Committee on Laboratory
Animal Research and the Advisory
Committee on Radiation Protection
and Nuclear Science, National
Environment Agency.
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Board of Directors

Reggie Thein, 70

Wee Sin Tho, 62

Tan Boon Huat, 59

Independent Director
Chairman, Audit Committee
Member, Board Risk Committee
CPA, FCA (England & Wales)

Independent Director
Vice President, Endowment and
Institutional Development,
National University of Singapore
Chairman, Board Risk Committee
Member, Audit Committee
Bachelor of Social Sciences (Hons),
University of Singapore

Independent Director
Member, Board Risk Committee
BSc Forestry, University of British
Columbia; MSc in Management
Science (Distinction), Imperial College,
University of London

Mr Reggie Thein was appointed
to the Board on 26 June 2003
(date of last re-election: 22 April 2008).
An independent and non-executive
Director, he is Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the
Board Risk Committee.
Mr Thein is a director of United
Overseas Bank Limited, a board
member and Chairman of the Audit
Committee of several listed companies
in Singapore, among them, Haw Par
Corporation Limited, GuocoLeisure
Limited (previously known as BIL
International Ltd), M1 Limited,
Guocoland Limited, FJ Benjamin
Holdings Ltd, and Otto Marine Limited.
He is also a director and Chairman of
the Audit Committee of Ascendas Pte
Ltd and a director of Energy Support
Management Pte Ltd.
Mr Thein is a member of the Governing
Council and Vice Chairman of the
Singapore Institute of Directors, a
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales,
and member of the Institute of Certified
Public Accountants of Singapore.
He was previously a Senior Partner
of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Vice
Chairman of Coopers & Lybrand, and
Managing Partner of its management
consulting services firm. In 1999, he
was awarded the Public Service Medal
by the President of Singapore.
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Mr Wee Sin Tho was appointed to
the Board on 1 February 2005
(date of last re-election: 21 April 2009).
An independent and non-executive
Director, he is Chairman of the Board
Risk Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.
Mr Wee is currently the Vice President,
Endowment and Institutional
Development, of the National University
of Singapore and a non-executive
director of Hwa Hong Corporation
Limited. He was previously Chief
Executive Officer of HLG Capital Bhd,
a holding company in Malaysia with
interests in stockbroking and asset
management. Earlier in his career, he
had also served as Managing Director
of United Industrial Corporation Ltd,
President of Vickers Capital Limited
and Chief Executive Officer of Vickers
Ballas Holdings Ltd.

Mr Tan Boon Huat was appointed
to the Board on 17 January 2007
(date of last re-election: 21 April
2010). He is an independent and
non-executive Director and a member
of the Board Risk Committee.
Mr Tan was the Chief Executive Director
of the People’s Association prior to
his retirement, and was the first
deputy secretary of Home Affairs
prior to his secondment to the
People’s Association. He currently
serves as a director for the SEF Group
Ltd. He also served on the board of
Keppel Finance Ltd and Keppel Tat Lee
Finance Ltd previously.

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
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Karmjit Singh, 63
Independent Director
Member, Audit Committee
Bachelor of Arts in Geography
(Honours-Gold Medallist),
National University of Singapore
Mr Karmjit Singh was appointed to
the Board on 1 October 2010. He is
an independent and non-executive
Director and a member of the
Audit Committee.
Mr Singh was the Chief Executive of
SATS Airport Services Pte Ltd from
1998 to 2004. He became the Chief
Operating Officer of SATS Ltd (SATS)
in 2004 where he held the post till his
retirement in 2009. He was consultant
to the President and Chief Executive
Officer of SATS until end-September
2010. He was the Chairman of Asia
Airfreight Terminal Co Ltd. Mr Singh is
Chairman of the Chartered Institute of
Logistics and Transport, Singapore,
and is a member of the Board of The
Logistics Institute – Asia Pacific of the
National University of Singapore (NUS)
and of the Public Transport Council.
He is also a director of GATI Asia Pacific
Pte. Ltd. Mr Singh has also served on
the Working Group for Logistics as
part of the Government’s Economic
Review Committee.

Board of Directors

PAST PRINCIPAL DIRECTORSHIPS
OF DIRECTORS
The past principal directorships of
the Directors in the last five years
are as follows:
Teo Soon Hoe
Keppel Shipyard Limited;
Singapore Petroleum Company Limited;
Travelmore Pte Ltd
Tan Tin Wee
Bioinformatics Technology
Group Pte Ltd
Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
CSA Holdings Ltd
Reggie Thein
Pearl Energy Limited; LindetevesJacoberg Limited; Grand Banks
Yachts Limited; MFS Technology Ltd;
DLF Trust Management Pte. Ltd.
Wee Sin Tho
HLG Unit Trust Bhd; HLG Asset
Management Sdn Bhd;
Savu Investments Ltd
Tan Boon Huat
Singapore Sports Council; National
Arts Council; Health Promotion Board;
Housing and Development Board
Karmjit Singh
SATS Airport Services Pte Ltd; SATS
Catering Pte Ltd; SATS Investments
Pte Ltd; Asia-Pacific Star Private
Limited; Aerolog Express Pte Ltd;
Asia Airfreight Terminal Co Ltd
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Senior Management & Key Executives

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

KEY EXECUTIVES

Corporate Office

The following are the key executives
(Key Executives) of the Company and
its principal subsidiaries:

Pang Hee Hon
Chief Executive Officer
Chan Shui Har (Ms)
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
& Chief Financial Officer
Data Centre Division
Bruno Lopez
Chief Executive Officer
Logistics Division
Keppel Logistics Pte Ltd
Gui Eng Hwee
Chief Executive Officer
Keppel Logistics (Foshan) Limited
Vincent Ko Woon Chun
Chief Executive Officer

Pang Hee Hon, 50
Bachelor of Science and Bachelor of
Commerce, University of Birmingham;
Masters in Public Administration,
Harvard University
Mr Pang Hee Hon is the Chief Executive
Officer of Keppel T&T, appointed with
effect from 4 January 2010. Previously
the Deputy President (Operations) of
ST Electronics (Info-Software Systems),
Mr Pang oversaw business operations
and international marketing. He was
the Chairman of the eGov Chapter in
the Singapore IT Federation, which
provides feedback on eGov policies
and promotes internationalisation of
local ICT companies.
Mr Pang was also Head of Joint
Logistics Department, MINDEF,
where he directed the implementation
of enterprise-wide IT solutions for
supply chain management, electronic
procurement and finance. He also
held other principal command and
staff appointments within the
Singapore Armed Forces, including
Assistant Chief of the General Staff
(Logistics) G-4 Army, Assistant Chief
of the General Staff (Plans) G-5
Army, Commander, Division Artillery
Headquarters and Deputy Assistant
Chief of the General Staff
(Ops Planning) G-3 Army.
Chan Shui Har, 58
Bachelor of Accountancy Degree,
University of Singapore; Diploma
with distinction (Specialisation in
Financial Management), Research
Institute for Management Science in
Delft, The Netherlands; Fellow of the
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
of Singapore
Ms Chan Shui Har is the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer of Keppel T&T. Ms Chan,
who has been with Keppel Group for
22 years, was previously the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer of Evergro
Properties Limited. Prior to this,
Ms Chan was the General Manager
of a listed real estate company and
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was responsible for group asset
management, hospitality and corporate
planning. She was in charge of
businesses in Singapore, Malaysia,
Indonesia and China. She was also
previously the General Manager of
Property Investment and Development
at Keppel Land Limited.
She is a member of the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants Singapore.
Bruno Lopez, 46
Bachelor of Arts (Honours), National
University of Singapore; Masters
in Human Resource Management,
Rutgers University, USA
Mr Bruno Lopez joined the
Keppel T&T Group in September
1995 as a Human Resource Manager
with Folec Communications Pte Ltd,
now known as Keppel Communications
Pte Ltd (Keppel Communications).
He has held several senior
operational and management roles
since then, including overseeing the
Corporate Services Division and
the Business Solutions Group in
Keppel Communications.
He was seconded to ECHO Broadband
Group in April 2000 as its Chief
Operating Officer. In September 2002,
he was appointed as Vice President,
Europe, of the network engineering
division of the Company and in May
2003 as its Vice President, Product
Marketing and Global Accounts.
He is currently the Chief Executive
Officer of the Data Centre Division
and sits on the board of directors
of various Keppel T&T subsidiaries
and associates.
He is also the Joint Investment Fund
Manager for Securus Data Property
Fund. He is actively involved in
business development opportunities
in data centres and logistics for
Keppel T&T in Europe and ASEAN.
Prior to his joining the Keppel T&T
Group, Mr Lopez worked in the Signal
Corp of the Singapore Armed Forces
and handled human resources for
CWT Distribution Ltd.
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PAST PRINCIPAL DIRECTORSHIPS
OF KEY EXECUTIVES
Gui Eng Hwee, 43
Bachelor of Science, National University
of Singapore; Masters in Business
Administration, National University
of Singapore
Mr Gui Eng Hwee was appointed
Chief Executive Officer of Keppel
Logistics Pte Ltd in September 2007.
He is responsible for the business
operations and strategic growth
of Keppel Logistics’ supply chain
management, warehousing and
distribution businesses in Southeast
Asia. He is also a director of various
logistics units in Southeast Asia
within the Keppel T&T Group.
Mr Gui has more than 15 years of work
experience, most of which were in the
supply chain and logistics fields. Prior
to joining Keppel Logistics, Mr Gui was
Vice President, Strategic Development
at Sembcorp Logistics Ltd (now known
as Toll (Asia) Pte Ltd), and also held
a second appointment as General
Manager of Toll (Singapore) Pte Ltd.
He had also worked in managerial and
consultative positions with MINDEF,
GE Plastics SEA, and British
American Tobacco.
Vincent Ko Woon Chun, 58
Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting),
Nanyang University; Fellow of the
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
of Singapore
Mr Vincent Ko started his career when
he joined the Keppel Group in March
1980 as an Accountant with Keppel
Shipyard Limited. During his career
with the Keppel Group, he has held
various management appointments
in Singapore, China and Hong Kong
with Keppel Land International Ltd,
Straits Steamship Company Ltd (now
known as Keppel Land Limited) and
Keppel Corporation Limited. He was
appointed as the Company’s Divisional
Director, China Business Unit, in
January 1998, and in February 2004
assumed the position of Executive
Director. He is also Executive Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer for
Keppel Logistics (Foshan) Limited
and Keppel Logistics (Hong Kong) Ltd
and is a director of various other
Keppel T&T subsidiaries.

Senior Management & Key Executives

The past principal directorships of the
Key Executives in the last five years are
as follows:
Pang Hee Hon
PM-B Pte Ltd; INFA Systems Limited;
ST Electronics (e-Services) Pte Ltd
Chan Shui Har
Jiangyin Evergro Properties Co., Ltd;
Jiangyin Yangtze Dragon Development
Co., Ltd; Changzhou Fushi Housing
Development Pte. Ltd.; Jiangyin
Yangtze International Country Club Co.,
Ltd; Tianjin Pearl Beach International
Country Club Co., Ltd.; Tianjin Fushi
Property Development Co., Ltd.;
Tianjin Fulong Property Development
Co., Ltd.; Dragon Link Investment Pte
Ltd; Second Dragon Development
Pte Ltd; Third Dragon Development
Pte Ltd; Third Dragon Holdings Pte
Ltd; Sixth Dragon Development Pte
Ltd; Eighth Dragon Development Pte
Ltd; Ninth Dragon Development Pte
Ltd; Dragonland Technology Pte Ltd;
Sapphire Industrial Park Development
(S) Pte Ltd; Chelville Investment Pte
Ltd; Chelshire Investment Pte Ltd;
Suzhou Property Development Pte
Ltd (alternate director); Winwave
Investment Pte Ltd; Winfame
Investment Pte Ltd; Wingtai Iadvantage
Pte Ltd (alternate director); Wing Tai
Investment Management Pte Ltd; Jiaxin
(Suzhou) Property Development Co.,
Ltd (alternate director); PT Windas
Development; Suzhou Xin Xin Land Co.,
Ltd (alternate director)

Bruno Lopez
ECHO Broadband SARL, ECHO
Broadband Sdn Bhd, iCELL Network
Pte Ltd, Trisilco Folec Pte Ltd,
Trisilco Folec Sdn Bhd, Trisilco Folec
Philippines, PT Trisilco Folec Indonesia,
Keppel Communications Pte Ltd,
Keppel Communications Thailand
Co Ltd, Folec Communications (B)
Sdn Bhd, Keppel IHT Investment Ltd,
Keppel IHT (BVI) Ltd, Platinum Venture
Capital Ltd, Platinum Venture Capital
(Cayman) Management Ltd, Adfact
Pte Ltd, Apilson Ventures Pte Ltd,
Radiance Converged Solutions
Sdn Bhd, Securus Data Property
Fund Pte Ltd
Gui Eng Hwee
Nil
Vincent Ko Woon Chun
Nil
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Corporate Structure

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd

Logistics

Keppel Logistics
Pte Ltd

Transware Distribution
Services Pte Ltd
Keppel Logistics (M)
Sdn Bhd
TradeOneAsia
Pte Ltd
Wuhu Annto Logistics
Company Limited
Indo-Trans Keppel
Logistics Vietnam
Co. Ltd

Keppel Logistics
(Foshan) Limited

Foshan Keppel Customs
Declaration Company
Limited

Foshan Keppel Shipping
Agency Company
Limited

Steamers (HK)
Limited

Keppel Logistics
(Hong Kong) Limited

Keppel International
Freight Forwarding
(Shenzhen) Limited

Asia Airfreight
Terminal Company
Limited

Data Centre

Keppel Data Centres
Pte Ltd

Keppel Datahub
Pte Ltd
Keppel Data Centre
Investment
Management Pte Ltd

Securus Partners
Pte Ltd

Citadel 100
Datacenters Limited

Keppel
Communications
Pte Ltd #

Keppel Telecoms
Pte Ltd

M1 Limited

Echo Broadband
(Singapore) Pte Ltd

Echo Broadband,
Inc

Keppel
Communications
(Thailand) Co. Ltd

Echo Broadband
GmbH
Echo Broadband
(Ireland) Limited
Echo Network Services
(UK) Limited

Radiance Converged
Solutions Sdn Bhd

Investments

Trisilco Folec Pte Ltd

Trisilco Folec
Philippines, Inc
Apsilon Ventures
Pte Ltd

#

Subsidiary Companies
Associated Companies
Jointly Controlled Entities
Held by Keppel Data Centres Pte Ltd

Adfact Pte Ltd

SVOA Public
Co. Ltd

Radiance
Communications
Pte Ltd

Advanced Research
Group Co. Ltd

Trisilco Folec
Sdn Bhd

ARIP Public Co. Ltd

iCELL Network
Pte Ltd

ABIKS Development
Co. Ltd

Business Online
Public Co. Ltd

Computer Generated
Solutions Inc

Anew
Corporation Ltd

Trisilco Radiance
Communications
Sdn Bhd

The complete list of subsidiaries and significant associated companies is available on Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation’s website www.keppeltt.com.sg
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Business Structure

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd

Third-Party Logistics

Logistics

Supply Chain Solutions

Logistics Infrastructure

Data Centre

Data Centre

Data Centre Fund Management

Investments

Business Structure
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Special Feature
Users demand
data centres that
are secure and
energy efficient.

Opportunities
in the
Data Centre
Business
Since the advent of the digital age and the popularisation
of the internet in the 1990s, the global internet industry
has developed and changed significantly. Today, with
higher broadband penetration globally, the internet has
become part and parcel of modern life – in online shopping,
gaming, e-banking, social networking and many other
activities. Over the last decade, the number of internet
users has almost quadrupled, growing at a rate of 362%
from 2000 to 20091.
With this strong growth in internet traffic, the demand
for data storage and processing housed in data centres
have grown correspondingly. Complementing this are
the increasing data storage requirements by financial
institutions, the health sector and government agencies.
In addition, governments are driving investments in Asia
Pacific to implement next-generation broadband networks
and IT infrastructure build-outs to create e-ready nations,
which have also fuelled the demand in the region. Despite
the growing demand for data centres, there is, however,
still a lag in the supply growth due to the capital intensive
nature of data centre investments.

1

Given the
huge amount
of capital
expenditure
and technical
expertise
required to
maintain an
in-house
data centre,
corporates are
shifting towards
the outsourcing
of data centres.

Source: Market assessment report – Frost & Sullivan, 2009
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Special Feature
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Special Feature

DATA CENTRES
A data centre is a resilient and secure
purpose-built facility that houses
computer servers. The provision
of high-quality data storage and
management is extremely critical for
information-dependent businesses,
like telecommunication companies,
IT service providers, financial
institutions, and government agencies,
that require their servers to have
minimal or even zero disruptions.
In order to ensure the minimal or
zero downtime to these servers, data
centres are built and operated to high
technical standards in terms of cooling,
power, water seepage prevention, fire
prevention and security maintenance,
and are connected to land and/or
submarine fi bre-optic cables for high
speed transmission of data.
Data centres are classifi ed into four
tiers ranging from Tier I to Tier IV.
The main difference between the
various tiers lies in the amount of
allowable downtime a data centre
asset accrues per year, with Tier IV
data centres having the highest
technical specifications and lowest
threshold for downtime. Consequently,
Tier III and Tier IV data centres are
selected to host mission-critical data
computer systems.
OPPORTUNITIES FOR
CO-LOCATION PROVIDERS
There are three segments in the
data centre space: (1) asset ownership,
(2) data centre facility management
or co-location service and
(3) IT managed services.
Given the huge amount of capital
expenditure and technical expertise
required to maintain an in-house data
centre, corporates are shifting towards
the outsourcing of data centres.

2

Citadel 100 recently collaborated with Dublin City University to jointly research and
develop a proactive cooling technology that is designed to predict heat build-up and
allocate cooling with high accuracy.

The data centre arm of Keppel T&T
is Keppel Data Centres Pte Ltd
(Keppel Data Centres). They are
riding on this outsourcing trend as
co-location service providers while
giving their customers the option of
maintaining the integrity of their servers.
This also means that Keppel Data
Centres are able to serve IT managed
service businesses that focus on
providing managed services.
KEPPEL’S SOLUTIONS
IN DATA CENTRES
Today, Keppel Data Centres have
more than 10 years track record
in owning and managing Tier III+
data centres, providing blue-chip
customers, IT managed service
providers, corporates and
government agencies with one of
the highest levels of availability in
the industry. Through involvement
in designing and building the
data centres they manage,
Keppel Data Centres offer bespoke

data centre suites to customers
who require co-location services
and manage them in accordance to
customers’ service level requirements.
Keppel Data Centres currently own
and operate more than 220,000 square
feet of data centre and business
disaster recovery through their three
Tier III+ data centres – two in
Singapore (Keppel Datahub and
Keppel Digihub2) and one in
Europe (Citadel 100).
Keppel T&T has also teamed up
with AEP Capital, part of Saudi
Arabia-based Al Rajhi Holding Group,
to be co-sponsors of the world’s first
Shariah-compliant data centre fund,
Securus Data Property Fund
(Securus Fund). With an initial closing
of US$100 million, Securus Fund is
targeting to purchase a portfolio of high
quality assets of Tier III or Tier IV status
globally. Securus Fund intends to cater
to the growing demand for high quality

Keppel Digihub was acquired through a joint venture company, Keppel Data Centres Holding Pte Ltd, that Keppel T&T set up with Keppel Land Limited
in January 2011.
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data centres while leveraging Keppel’s
experience in the operations of these
specialised assets.
SUPERIOR TRACK RECORD
Since operating their first data centre in
2001, Keppel Data Centres have built
up professional expertise in designing
and managing Tier III+ data centres
for blue-chip tenants. They also have
a proven track record in designing and
delivering zero downtime for their power
and cooling infrastructure in their data
centres. As a testimony to their delivery
performance, Keppel Data Centres
boast a strong portfolio of blue-chip
customers ranging from multi-national
corporations to government agencies,
including the Singapore Stock
Exchange’s state-of-the-art trading
platform which was recently added
to their portfolio of customers.
ENERGY EFFICIENCY
Data centres have high power
requirements not only for supporting
the IT equipment but also for the
power and cooling infrastructure
needed to support these equipment.
In fact, data centres can be
40 times3 more energy-intensive
than conventional office buildings.
As such, with high energy consumption
being a key concern, most data centres
operators, including Keppel Data
Centres, are constantly monitoring
their Power Usage Effectiveness
(PUE) as a gauge of energy efficiency
of their data centres.
Besides managing costs, concern
for the environment is also why
Keppel Data Centres are focusing
on energy efficiency. They constantly
search for ways to improve their
PUE through precise design and
configuration of their data centres,
including the type of equipment used.

3

In Singapore, Keppel Data Centres
have implemented green measures
and adopted environmentally-friendly
solutions to improve their energy
efficiency and reduce their carbon
footprint. Some of these include:
– State-of-the-art UPS systems
and energy-efficient chilled
water systems;
– Computer Room Air Conditioning
units which are optimally sized and
placed to meet customers’ power
and cooling requirements to
enhance overall energy efficiency;
– fire suppression systems with
environmentally-friendly
refrigerants and gases;
– installation of motion detector
lights as well as low-powered
lightings to reduce energy
consumption;
– Customised hot and cold
aisle configuration for more
effective cooling.
In Europe, Citadel 100 secured a
contract with Airtricity to supply green
electricity to the data centre in 2009.
Recently, Citadel 100 also collaborated
with Dublin City University to jointly
research and develop a proactive
cooling technology called “Pact 100”.
This technology is designed to predict
heat build-up within co-location
rooms and direct cooling with
higher targeted accuracy.
FLEXIBILITY IN EXPANSION
Keppel Data Centres adopt a
modular approach in their data centre
expansion which provides customer
with the flexibility to grow and
customise their data centre needs
at their facilities. Through this
approach, their customers are able
to adapt to the changing power
density demands and adopt the latest
technologies in server designs.

HIGHER QUALITY AND
GREENER DATA CENTRES
Today, users demand data centres which
are not only highly secured with resilient
power and cooling infrastructure, but
also with high power efficiency. Such
requirements, coupled with growing
awareness of back-up and redundancy,
risk management and corporate
governance, are increasing the demand
for Tier III and IV data centres.
The current imbalance in data centre
demand and supply hence offers
great opportunities for data centre
providers with excellent track record,
financial strength and technical
know-how. Against such a backdrop,
Keppel Data Centres are
well-positioned to ride on the
growth of the data centre industry.

Besides managing costs,
concern for the environment
is also why Keppel Data
Centres are focusing on
energy efficiency. They
constantly search for ways
to improve their PUE through
precise configuration of their
data centres down to the
type of equipment used.

“Best Practices For Data Centres: Lessons Learned from Benchmarking 22 Data Centres”,
Greenberg et al., 2006.
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Business Review
Logistics

MARKET REVIEW
Southeast Asia
Southeast Asia saw a steady recovery
from the global financial crisis that
started in 2008. In Singapore, the
strong economic growth resulted in
strong and stable demand for logistics
services. Although the influx of new
warehousing space in early 2010 led
to lower occupancy across the market,
this situation gradually abated as
continued economic growth brought
about higher warehousing demand.
Vietnam’s entry into the World Trade
Organisation has led to a more open
logistics market. More foreign logistics
companies started and expanded
their operations in Vietnam. Local
companies were also expanding,
through collaboration, to compete with
foreign companies, resulting in keener
competition. Foreign direct investments
continued to strengthen in 2010,
particularly in infrastructure projects such
as port and industrial park developments.
China
China surpassed Japan as the world’s
second largest economy in 2010,

In 2010, the Logistics Division
recorded a higher operating profit
of $14.4 million, up 11% from 2009.

signalling China’s rising influence in the
global economy. A 10% GDP growth
was achieved in 2010 despite strong
cooling measures implemented to
prevent the Chinese economy
from overheating.
EARNINGS AND
FINANCIAL REVIEW
In 2010, the Logistics Division recorded
a higher operating profit of $14.4 million,
up 11% from 2009. This is largely
due to stronger contributions from
Keppel Logistics (Foshan) Limited (KLF).
Among the associated companies,
Asia Airfreight Terminal achieved much
higher profits than last year, boosting
the Division’s attributable profit before
exceptional items to $20.7 million.
BUSINESS REVIEW
Singapore
The Logistics Division experienced
strong demand in 2010. Occupancy in
the Singapore warehouses of Keppel
Logistics Pte Ltd (Keppel Logistics)
and Transware Distribution Services
Pte Ltd (Transware) remained at near
full capacity throughout 2010.
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The Division upgraded its warehouse
management and transport
management systems, which will be
deployed across the Division’s regional
operations in 2011.
2010 saw the redevelopment of the
logistics facility at 44 Benoi Road.
Expected to be completed by end-2011,
the facility will double its warehousing
capacity to 20,000 square metres (sm).
Transware underwent reorganisation
in the middle of 2010 which saw to the
streamlining of its operations.
For the second consecutive year,
Keppel Logistics was conferred the
Best Domestic Logistics Service
Provider of the Year (Singapore)

Earnings Highlights

Logistics
Revenue
Operating profit
Profit before tax and exceptional items
Attributable profit before exceptional items
Assets employed
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During the year, contracts with key
existing customers such as Affymetrix,
Trane, M1, Nestle, Brother and Carrefour
were renewed. In addition, the Division
also won contracts in new market
segments that extended its service
offerings to spare parts and biomedical
logistics. This year, the Division’s
collaboration with a leading global
logistics company led to new customers.

Business Review
Logistics

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

% Increase/
(Decrease)

85,738
14,438
27,220
20,679
144,575

92,003
12,964
23,944
19,047
139,223

(7)
11
14
9
4
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1
1_Hiep Phuoc Distribution Centre
was one of the two facilities
that were offi cially opened by
ITKL Vietnam in May 2010.
2_KLF’s warehouses in Foshan
continued to achieve high
occupancy rates.

at the 2010 Frost and Sullivan ASEAN
Transportation and Logistics Awards.
Malaysia
The Division’s expansion in Malaysia
continued to gain traction with a new
distribution and trucking department.
The warehouses at Shah Alam and
Kluang also achieved higher occupancy
rates in 2010.
Vietnam
The Division’s joint venture in
Vietnam, Indo-Trans Keppel Logistics
Vietnam Co., Ltd (ITKL Vietnam),
enlarged its footprint significantly
in 2010. It formed a joint venture
with TANIMEX Group to provide
warehousing and handling services
at Tan Binh Logistics Park in
Ho Chi Minh City. The 15,000 sm
of warehousing space in the
first phase has since been fully
taken up.
ITKL Vietnam also officially opened
four new distribution centres in North
and South Vietnam. With the addition
of these centres, ITKL Vietnam’s
managed warehousing capacity
grew more than three-fold to a
total of 31,500 sm.

24

China
Despite stiffer competition, the
Division’s units performed well in 2010.
KLF’s Lanshi port continued to operate
at maximum capacity and handled a
record 258,888 twenty-foot equivalent
units despite stiff competition from
neighbouring ports to draw cargo
traffic away.
KLF’s Nanhai Distribution Centre
(NHDC) will start operations in
early 2011. With modern logistics
features, NHDC will add 35,000 sm
of warehousing space to KLF’s
footprint in the Pearl River Delta.
KLF was accredited as one of
the Top 1000 key enterprises
in Guangdong province. This
entitles the company to special
administrative attention with
express processing for all
business applications up to 2012.
Wuhu Annto Logistics Company
Limited (Annto) continued to
perform well in 2010, with higher
revenues that came on the
back of increased retail and
domestic spending. In 2010,
Annto doubled its warehouse
space to 4,000,000 sm.

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
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Doubling Capacity for Further Growth

In line with its growth strategy to be the leading third party
logistics company in the Asia Pacific region, Keppel Logistics
started refurbishment and redevelopment works for the
44 Benoi Road facility in Singapore during the year.
Once completed, the redeveloped warehouse will double
its capacity to just over 20,000 sm and be equipped with
modern amenities. The additional warehousing space will
help to support the growth of Keppel Logistics’ businesses
in Singapore and the region.
Constructed in 1973, the 44 Benoi Road warehouse is the
oldest amongst Keppel Logistics’ three facilities in Singapore.
The redeveloped facility will synergise operations with the
company’s two other facilities in Singapore, all of which are
in close proximity to one another.

2

OUTLOOK
The uncertain economies of the US and
Europe suggest that global logistics
volume growth may taper off in 2011.
However, intra-Asia trade is expected to
continue growing, aided by increasing
consumption especially in China.
Coupled with an increasing trend of
logistics outsourcing, the demand for
third-party logistics is expected to be
strong. Therefore, the Division is exploring
opportunities to scale up and expand its
logistics footprint in the existing markets,
and grow its customer base in new
logistics verticals.

The refurbishment and redevelopment for the 44 Benoi Road facility is expected to
be completed by end of 2011.

Logistics Facilities Owned

%
Owned

Warehouse
Area
(sm)

Capacity of
Container
Yard (TEUs)

Location

Held By

27 Benoi Sector, Singapore

Keppel Logistics Pte Ltd

100

25,000

3,500

7 Gul Circle, Singapore

Keppel Logistics Pte Ltd

100

60,000

–

44 Benoi Road, Singapore

Keppel Logistics Pte Ltd

100

10,500

–

9 Gul Circle, Singapore

Transware Distribution
Services Pte Ltd
Trans-ware Logistics (Pvt) Ltd
Keppel Logistics
(Foshan) Limited

50

39,500

3,000

25
70

3,700
40,404

3,000
3,698

Colombo, Sri Lanka
Foshan, Guangdong,
People’s Republic of China

Business Review
Logistics

Tenure

25-year leasehold
(expiring in 2019)
43-year leasehold
(expiring in 2040)
20-year leasehold
(expiring in 2030)
30-year leasehold
(expiring in 2033)
Freehold
50-year leasehold
(expiring in 2044)
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Data Centre

MARKET REVIEW
The global data centre market
experienced strong growth in 2010,
with utilisation rate of data centres
projected to go up to 97% by 20131.
This is fundamentally driven by strong
demand drivers including cloud
computing, corporate IT outsourcing,
increased internet traffic due to
streaming media and mobile data.
Supply has remained constrained given
the expertise and capital costs required
to develop data centres.
Similarly, Singapore enjoyed a buoyant
growth in data centre demand. The
Government’s initiatives such as the
New Generation National Broadband
Network to promote Singapore as an
information communications hub has
helped to position Singapore as a data
storage hub. The demand for data
centre space is further fuelled by the
growth in cloud computing services
in Singapore. Further to these trends,
the Division’s operational excellence in
offering high-quality data centre facilities
attracted new blue-chip tenants while
some of the Division’s existing tenants
also took up more data centre space.
1

The Data Centre Division’s
attributable profit before exceptional
items reached $10.3 million.

EARNINGS AND
FINANCIAL REVIEW
2010 marked the first year of revenue
contribution from Keppel Datahub
Pte Ltd (Keppel Datahub) and
Keppel Data Centre Investment
Management Pte Ltd, which brought
in a total of $6.9 million. Consequently,
the Division’s operating profit improved
to $1.2 million. A tax refund of $5.1 million
in respect of prior years’ tax deducted
at source also helped boost the
Division’s attributable profit before
exceptional items to $10.3 million.
BUSINESS REVIEW
Keppel Datahub, which was
reconfigured from an existing industrial
building into a Tier III+ data centre,
began operations in January 2010.
The high-quality data centre, which
serves blue-chip clients, achieved
100% occupancy within its first year
of operations. Works to add capacity
to the data centre has commenced.
This new capacity has already seen
significant customer commitment.
The data centre also recently secured
provisional TIA 942 and SS 507

certifications that affirm the data
centre’s compliance with international
standards in quality and services. The
data centre is expected to be awarded
these certifications in 2011.
Based in Dublin, Ireland, Citadel 100
Datacenters Limited (Citadel 100)
continued to enjoy 100% occupancy.
During the year, Citadel 100 continued
to innovate and source for better
solutions in energy efficiency through
a collaboration with Dublin City
University to jointly research on
and develop a proactive cooling
technology named “Pact 100”
(refer to page 21 for details).
During the year, the Securus Data
Property Fund achieved an initial
closing of US$100 million. Keppel
Data Centres Pte Ltd, together with
AEP Capital (majority-owned by
AI Rajhi Group), attracted a key
Bruneian Islamic financial institution,
Perbadanan Tabung Amanah Islam
Brunei (TAIB), to be its cornerstone
investor. Keppel T&T had formed a joint
venture company in 2009 with AEP
Investment Management Pte Ltd to

Source: Tier Research, 2010

Earnings Highlights

2010
$’000

Data Centre
Revenue
Operating profit/(loss)
Profit before tax and exceptional items
Attributable profit before exceptional items
Assets employed

6,885
1,234
5,725
10,296
32,586

2009
$’000

0
(155)
5,097
4,878
16,376

% Increase/
(Decrease)

n.m.
n.m.
12
111
99

n.m. – not meaningful
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Global Data Centre Utilisation Increasing
(%)

Data Centre Utilisation

73.0

79.0

84.0

92.0

97.0

provide fund and asset management
services for the Fund, which was set
up to acquire a global portfolio of high
quality and income generating data
centre assets.

100

80

60

40

20

0
2009

2010

2011E

2012E

2013E

Growth in Data Centres Demand Outstrips Supply
(%)

Demand Growth

7.5

13.0

14.0

16.0

15.0

Supply Growth

3.5

4.5

6.5

7.0

9.0
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In January 2011, Keppel T&T
formed a joint venture company,
Keppel Data Centres Holding Pte Ltd
(JV Co), with Keppel Land Limited to
consolidate their data centre assets, i.e.
Keppel Datahub and Keppel Digihub.
The JV Co, which is 70% indirectly
held by Keppel T&T, can achieve
potentially greater economies of
scales by consolidating the resources
and systems of the two data centres,
and provide stronger business
continuity and disaster recovery
(BCDR) services. The JV Co will own,
manage and operate data centres
and disaster recovery centres, or
invest in companies engaged in similar
businesses. Through this platform,
the JV Co currently boasts more than
150,000 square feet or 14,000 square
metres of data centre and BCDR space
serving blue-chip tenants.
OUTLOOK
The data centre market is expected to
stay buoyant as demand for data centre
space continues to outpace its supply.

16

12

8

4

0
2009
Source: Tier 1 Research, 2010
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2010

2011E

2012E

2013E

Given the favourable market
conditions and Keppel T&T’s
expertise as a premium data centre
co-location service provider in Asia
and Europe, the Division will continue
to expand and maximise its existing
facilities whilst continuing to explore
opportunities to expand its
data centre footprint globally.
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Keppel Datahub achieved 100% occupancy within its fi rst year of operation.

Data Centre Facilities Owned

%
Owned

Land Area
(sm)

Keppel Datahub Pte Ltd

70

5,000

Keppel Digihub Limited

70

7,333

Held By

Business Review
Data Centre

Tenure

30-year lease (expiring in year 2021)
with option for another 30 years
30-year lease (expiring in year 2025)
with option for another 30 years
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Business Review
Investments

EARNINGS AND
FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue for the Division declined with
the progressive winding down of its
non-core businesses. However, pre-tax
profit increased 16% to $42.1 million
due to stronger contributions from
associated companies M1 Limited (M1),
Computer Generated Solutions Inc
(CGS) and ARIP Public Co. Limited.

to provide a wide selection of the latest
applications to its customers. These
initiatives boosted M1’s non-voice
services revenue.

OPERATIONS REVIEW
M1 was the first in Singapore to provide
ultra high-speed broadband services
to its customers on the new national
fibre network in 2010. Its residential
broadband customers were also offered
a free fixed voice service. In addition,
M1 launched its own application store

CGS recovered from the global financial
crisis to double its profitability in
2010. This was achieved through its
integrated IT solutions and services,
such as application development,
project services, call centre,
e-commerce, e-learning and
global sourcing solutions.

During the year, M1 received
the Best Mobile Operator award at
the CommsDay Asia Awards which
were voted by CommsDay’s
12,000 readers.

Other Properties

Pre-tax profit for the Division
increased 16% to $42.1 million
due to stronger contributions
from associated companies.
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Location

Held By

3 units of 3-storey shophouses
at Damansara Perdana Business
Centre, Malaysia

Radiance Converged
Solutions Sdn Bhd

%
Owned

Land Area
(sm)

Office Area
(sm)

55

642

1,681

Tenure

99-year leasehold
(expiring in year
2094)

Earnings Highlights

2010
$’000

Investments
Revenue
Operating loss
Profit before tax and exceptional items
Attributable profit before exceptional items
Assets employed

Business Review
Investments

15,139
(3,287)
42,097
31,157
191,501

2009
$’000

21,333
(4,500)
36,214
28,990
166,398

% Increase/
(Decrease)

(29)
(27)
16
7
15
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Financial Review

The Group performed well in 2010
despite a decline in revenue by 5% to
$107.8 million in 2010 due mainly to the
winding down of non-core businesses.

Revenue

Logistics

The Group’s attributable profit before
exceptional items increased by 17%
to $62.1 million attributed to profit
contributions from the Data Centre
Division, better operating margins as
well as higher share of profits from the
Group’s associated companies.

The Group generated a net operating
cash flow of $19.4 million in 2010,
compared to $26.2 million in 2009.

Earnings per Share before
exceptional items rose 17% from
9.6 cents to 11.2 cents in 2010.
Return on Equity improved
from 18.5% to 19.5%.
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%

2009
$’000

%

Change
%

85,738

80

92,003

81

(7)

Data Centre

6,885

6

0

0

n.m.

Investments

15,139

14

21,333

19

(29)

107,762

100

113,336

100

(5)

Total
n.m. – not meaningful

Exceptional items of $4.5 million in
2010 were due mainly to impairment
in value of other investments and
provisions made for associated
companies. In 2009, the Group’s
exceptional loss of $8.3 million was due
mainly to impairment in value of other
investments and restructuring costs.
Earnings per Share (EPS) before
exceptional items rose 17% from
9.6 cents to 11.2 cents in 2010.
Return on Equity (ROE) improved
from 18.5% to 19.5%.

2010
$’000

2010

2009

This was mainly from cash generated
from operations before working capital
changes and refund of income tax.
In the previous year, net cash from
operating activities was higher at
$26.2 million due to a significant
improvement in working capital
changes as payments were received
from debtors. Free cash flow of

$37.3 million was higher in 2010
due mainly to higher dividends
received from investments and lower
capital expenditure.
For the financial year 2010, the Group
is proposing a dividend of 3.5 cents
per share compared to 3.0 cents
paid for 2009.

Overview

2010
$’000

Revenue
Attributable profit before exceptional items
Exceptional items
Attributable profit after exceptional items
Operating cash flow
Free cash flow
Earnings per share
before exceptional items (EPS)
Return on equity
before exceptional items (ROE)
Total distribution to shareholders (per share)

Financial Review

2009
$’000

Change
%

107,762
62,132
(4,537)
57,595
19,443
37,301

113,336
52,915
(8,307)
44,608
26,154
21,314

(5)
17
(45)
29
(26)
75

11.2 cts

9.6 cts

17

19.5 %
3.5 cts

18.5 %
3.0 cts

5
17
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Attributable Profit before Exceptional Items
2010
$’000

Logistics

20,679

33

2009
$’000

19,047

%

Change
%

36

9

Data Centre

10,296

17

4,878

9

111

Investments

31,157

50

28,990

55

7

100

52,915

100

17

Total

62,132

2010

2009

The Group will focus on Logistics and
Data Centre businesses and expects to
grow both organically and geographically.
The Group will continue to remain
prudent in managing costs and improving
efficiency while seeking growth.

ATTRIBUTABLE PROFIT BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
The Group’s attributable profit before
exceptional items rose 17% in 2010
to $62.1 million as all divisions
showed improvement in results.

Information on the Group’s five-year
performance is set out on page 39
and pages 41 to 43.

Attributable profit before exceptional
items of the Logistics Division rose 9% to
$20.7 million. This was largely attributed
to higher contribution from its associated
company, Asia Airfreight Terminal.

REVENUE
Group revenue of $107.8 million was
5% lower than 2009.
Revenue from the Logistics Division
dipped due to lower revenue in
Singapore due partly to the closure
of the 44 Benoi Road facility for
redevelopment. The decline, however,
was partly compensated by higher
revenues from operations in China
and Malaysia.
The Data Centre Division’s revenue
of $6.9 million was generated from its
data centre business in Singapore which
commenced operations in 2010. The
Investments Division’s revenue declined
due mainly to the winding-down of
non-core businesses.
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%

The Data Centre Division’s attributable
profit before exceptional items
increased $5.4 million from $4.9 million
in 2009 to $10.3 million in 2010 due
mainly to profits from the data centre
in Singapore which started operations
in 2010, and tax refund received in
respect of prior years’ taxes deducted
at source.
Attributable profit before exceptional
items of the Investments Division
increased by 7% to $31.2 million in 2010
due largely to higher contributions from
its associated companies, M1 Limited
(M1), Computer Generated Solutions,
Inc and ARIP Public Co. Limited. M1
remained the most significant contributor
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Cash Flow

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Change
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit
Depreciation, amortisation and other non-cash items
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital
Working capital changes
Net interest and taxes paid
Proceeds from tax losses transferred under group relief system
Staff compensation and restructuring expenses

12,385
5,658
18,043
802
663
558
(623)

8,309
5,685
13,994
15,752
(3,495)
602
(699)

4,076
(27)
4,049
(14,950)
4,158
(44)
76

Net cash from operating activities

19,443

26,154

(6,711)

825
(18,490)
33,379
1,241
903

(415)
(32,635)
28,210
–
–

1,240
14,145
5,169
1,241
903

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

17,858

(4,840)

22,698

Free Cash Flow

37,301

21,314

15,987

(16,570)

(16,568)

(2)

Cash flows from investing activities
Divestments
Investments and capital expenditure
Dividend income
Proceeds from capital reduction in an associated company
Capital distributions from other investments

Dividend paid to shareholders of the Company
to the Group with a $31.3 million
contribution to attributable profit before
exceptional items. At year-end, the
Group held a 20% equity stake in M1.
ROE & DIVIDEND PER SHARE
ROE improved from 18.5% to 19.5% in
2010 due mainly to a higher attributable
profit before exceptional items. The
Group paid a dividend of 3.0 cents
per share in 2009 and a proposed
dividend of 3.5 cents per share has been
recommended for financial year 2010
to be paid out in 2011.
CASH FLOW
Operating Activities
The Group’s net cash from operating
activities for 2010 was $19.4 million due
to cash generated from operations and
refund of income tax. During the year,
the Group received a tax refund of
$5.1 million in respect of prior years’

Financial Review

taxes deducted at source. In 2009,
net cash from operating activities at
$26.2 million was higher as there was
a significant improvement in working
capital changes due to payments
received from debtors.
Investing Activities
Net cash from investing activities
recorded an inflow of $17.9 million in 2010
as compared to an outflow of $4.8 million
in 2009. Dividend income, proceeds from
capital reduction and capital distributions
received from investments were partly
offset by cash used in acquisitions of
fixed assets, associated companies and
other investments. In the previous year,
the Group’s net cash used for investing
activities was $4.8 million owing to
higher purchase of fixed assets to
fit-out the data centre at Tampines
in Singapore and lower dividends
received from associated companies.

FINANCIAL POSITION
Total assets of the Group increased
from $573.2 million in 2009 to
$581.6 million in 2010. Fixed assets
increased by $7.2 million due mainly
to capital expenditure for the
construction of a distribution centre
in China. Investments rose to
$333.9 million in 2010 due largely
to equity accounting for the share of
profits from associated companies
partly offset by dividends received
and impairment loss.
The Group’s net borrowings of
$108.2 million at 31 December 2010
were lower than $135.4 million in
2009 as loans were repaid. The gross
borrowings of $169.7 million as at
31 December 2010 were financed by
a related company. These amounts
were unsecured and repayable
within one to five years.

35

Financial Review

CAPITAL STRUCTURE &
FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group’s capital structure
in 2010 is largely maintained.
The Group carried out a capital
restructuring exercise which
involved the capital reduction and
distribution of 10 cents per share
in 2005. Its capital structure is
now more effi cient and the Group
aims to maximise returns
for shareholders.
New investments will have to satisfy
stringent criteria for return on
investment as well as risk management
analysis, and will comprise a
combination of equity and debt
funding where appropriate.
Capital structure
Group shareholders’ funds
increased from $295.9 million in 2009
to $341.7 million in 2010. The increase
was due to the attributable profits
for the year and foreign currency
translation reserve partly offset
by dividend payment at 3.0 cents
per share in respect of financial year
2009 in 2010.

Total Assets Owned

Other Assets
Bank Balances and Cash

32.5

53.0

71.0

61.5

300.2

313.7

333.9

Fixed Assets

126.6

146.5

153.7

Total

546.5

573.2

581.6

2008

2009

2010

53.4

44.8

43.3

187.1

206.4

169.7

29.3

26.1

26.9

Shareholders’ Funds

276.7

295.9

341.7

Total

546.5

573.2

581.6

2008

2009

2010

$ million

600

480

360

240

120

0

Total Liabilities Owed and Capital Invested

Borrowings
Non-controlling Interests

$ million

600

The net gearing of the Group was
reduced to 0.29 times in 2010 as
net debt decreased with the
repayment of loans.

480

Interest coverage was higher at
26 times in 2010 compared to
22.8 times in 2009 due to higher
earnings before interest and tax.

240

At the last Annual General Meeting
in 2010, shareholders gave their
approval for mandates to issue
and buy back any shares.

0
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42.0

Investments

Other Liabilities

Non-controlling interests of the Group
increased from $26.1 million in 2009
to $26.9 million in 2010 mainly because
of retained profits generated by
non-wholly owned subsidiaries
and lesser dividends paid to
non-controlling interests.

66.7

360

120
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Gearing

Capital Employed

306.1

322.0

368.7

Net Debt

134.1

135.4

108.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

Gearing

$ million

no. of times

400

0.5

320

0.4

240

0.3

160

0.2

80

0.1

0

0
2008

2009

2010

69.1

68.3

78.0

Interest Coverage

EBIT
Interest Expenses

2.6

3.0

3.0

Interest Coverage

26.6

22.8

26.0

$ million

no. of times

80

30

64

24

48

18

32

12

16

6

0

0
2008

Financial Review

2009

2010
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Borrowings
The Group’s borrowings are in the form of short-term and long-term loans. The Group utilises short-term facilities from local and
foreign banks for its working capital. Gross borrowings at the end of 2010 were $169.7 million (2009: $206.4 million).
Loans are estimated to be repayable as follows:
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years

22,506
147,214
–

58,399
13,000
135,000

Total borrowings

169,720

206,399

The Group’s borrowings are fully unsecured in 2010.
Financial resources
At the end of 2010, credit facilities in
the form of short-term loans, overdrafts,
letters of credit, bank overdrafts and
other banking facilities provided by
banks to the Group amounted to
$14.0 million (2009: $29.0 million),
of which $1.2 million (2009:
$15.9 million) was utilised.
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s principal financial
instruments comprise loans and
cash and short-term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations.
The Group has other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations. The Group’s
financial risk management is covered in
greater detail in the notes to the financial
statements on pages 104 to 109.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The summary of significant accounting
policies of the Group is dealt with in
the notes to the financial statements.
In order to prepare the financial
statements in conformity with the
Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards, the management
has made certain estimates
and assumptions.
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The matters stated below are considered
to be most critical in understanding
the judgements that are involved in the
preparation of the financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured.
Revenue is measured at the fair value
of consideration received or receivable,
excluding discounts, rebates, and
sales taxes or duty.
Revenue from services rendered is
recognised in the period in which the
services are rendered. It represents
income from port operations, integrated
logistics services, supply chain
solutions, warehousing, distribution,
container storage and repairs and
freight forwarding services, data centre
facilities and co-location services
including business continuity and
disaster recovery services, installation
and maintenance of communications
systems. Revenue from warehousing
and co-location services includes
operating lease income which is
recognised in the profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
Revenue from sale of goods is
recognised upon the transfer of
significant risk and rewards of ownership
of the goods to the customers.

Impairment of assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
assets are reviewed at each balance
sheet date to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If such
indication exists, or when an annual
impairment assessment for an asset
is required, the recoverable amount
of that asset is estimated and an
impairment loss is recognised whenever
the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount. The impairment
loss is charged to the profit and loss
account unless it reverses a previous
revaluation in which case it will be
charged to equity.
Taxation
The Group has exposure to income
taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is involved in
determining the group-wide provision
for income taxes. There are certain
transactions and computations for
which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for expected tax issues
based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that
were initially recognised, such
differences will impact the income
tax and deferred income tax
provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.
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Five-Year Group Operating Results

The results of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2010 were as follows:
2006
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

Revenue

93,016

103,123

128,868

113,336

107,762

Operating profit
Interest income
Interest expense
Share of results of associated companies
and jointly controlled entities
Profit before tax and exceptional items
Exceptional items
Profit before taxation
Taxation

11,732
2,551
(5,423)

8,154
2,756
(6,118)

10,888
1,948
(2,574)

8,309
1,430
(3,007)

12,385
1,225
(2,950)

45,962
54,822
19
54,841
(7,243)

56,964
61,756
1,344
63,100
(8,583)

56,227
66,489
(3,491)
62,998
(7,998)

58,523
65,255
(8,596)
56,659
(8,994)

64,382
75,042
(4,573)
70,469
(9,736)

Profit for the year

47,598

54,517

55,000

47,665

60,733

42,193
1,105
43,298
4,300

50,090
1,359
51,449
3,068

55,492
(3,467)
52,025
2,975

52,915
(8,307)
44,608
3,057

62,132
(4,537)
57,595
3,138

47,598

54,517

55,000

47,665

60,733

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Profit before exceptional items
Exceptional items
Non-controlling interests

Revenue

Revenue

93.0

103.1

128.9

113.3

107.8

Profit before tax and exceptional items

54.8

61.8

66.5

65.3

75.0

$ million

$ million

180

80

150

70

120

60

90

50

60

40

30

30

0

20
2006
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2007

2008

2009

2010
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Quarterly Results

1st Qtr
$’000

2nd Qtr
$’000

3rd Qtr
$’000

4th Qtr
$’000

Total
$’000

29,875
25,443

29,172
27,208

29,618
28,180

24,671
26,931

113,336
107,762

604
2,093

2,102
2,357

2,745
3,099

2,858
4,836

8,309
12,385

Profit before tax and exceptional items
2009
2010

12,779
16,963

15,255
18,206

16,733
19,696

20,488
20,177

65,255
75,042

Attributable profit before exceptional items
2009
2010

10,725
12,683

11,970
13,800

13,003
15,265

17,217
20,384

52,915
62,132

Revenue
2009
2010
Operating profit
2009
2010

Quarterly Revenue

Quarterly Profit Before Tax
and Exceptional Items

Quarterly Attributable Profit
Before Exceptional Items

Q4

24.6

26.9

Q4

20.5

20.2

Q4

17.2

20.4

Q3

29.6

28.2

Q3

16.7

19.7

Q3

13.0

15.2

Q2

29.2

27.2

Q2

15.3

18.2

Q2

12.0

13.8

Q1

29.9

25.5

Q1

12.8

16.9

Q1

10.7

12.7

113.3

107.8

Total

65.3

75.0

Total

52.9

62.1

2009

2010

Total
$ million

$ million

$ million

120

80

80

105

70

70

90

60

60

75

50

50

60

40

40

45

30

30

30

20

20

15

10

10

0

0

0

2009

40

2010

2009

2010
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Five-Year Group Financial Profile

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Balance Sheet ($’000)
Fixed assets
Investments
Bank balances and cash
Other assets
Total assets

125,669
208,046
76,964
59,813
470,492

122,839
268,726
67,349
64,845
523,759

126,637
300,163
52,993
66,745
546,538

146,456
313,710
71,013
42,056
573,235

153,715
333,908
61,469
32,529
581,621

Borrowings
Deferred taxation
Other liabilities

(157,123)
(884)
(52,777)

(196,248)
(721)
(45,803)

(187,069)
(1,047)
(52,349)

(206,399)
(857)
(43,982)

(169,720)
(1,612)
(41,627)

Net assets

259,708

280,987

306,073

321,997

368,662

Share capital & reserves
Non-controlling interests

227,337
32,371

246,489
34,498

276,716
29,357

295,907
26,090

341,716
26,946

Capital employed

259,708

280,987

306,073

321,997

368,662

Per Share
Earnings (cents) (Note 1)
– before tax and exceptional items
– attributable before exceptional items
– attributable after exceptional items

8.8
7.7
7.9

10.5
9.1
9.3

11.4
10.1
9.4

11.1
9.6
8.1

12.8
11.2
10.4

Gross dividends (cents)

5.5

6.0

3.0

3.0

3.5

Net tangible assets ($)

0.41

0.45

0.50

0.54

0.62

Financial Ratios
Return on shareholders’ funds (%) (Note 2)
– before tax and exceptional items
– attributable before exceptional items
– attributable after exceptional items

22.1
19.3
19.8

24.5
21.1
21.7

24.0
21.2
19.9

21.4
18.5
15.6

22.3
19.5
18.1

60
31

70
46

61
44

64
42

46
29

Debt-equity ratio
– Gross %
– Net of cash %

Notes:
1. Earnings per share are calculated based on the Group profi t by reference to the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year.
2. In calculating return on shareholders’ funds, the average basis has been used.
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Group Financial Position

Total Assets Owned

Other Asset
Bank Balances and Cash

59.8

64.9

66.7

42.0

32.5

77.0

67.4

53.0

71.0

61.5

Investments

208.0

268.7

300.2

313.7

333.9

Fixed Assets

125.7

122.8

126.6

146.5

153.7

Total

470.5

523.8

546.5

573.2

581.6

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

53.7

46.5

53.4

44.8

43.3

157.1

196.3

187.1

206.4

169.7

32.4

34.5

29.3

26.1

26.9

Shareholders’ Funds

227.3

246.5

276.7

295.9

341.7

Total

470.5

523.8

546.5

573.2

581.6

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

$ million

600

480

360

240

120

0

Total Liabilities Owed and Capital Invested

Other Liabilities
Borrowings
Non-controlling Interests

$ million

600

480

360

240

120

0
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Five-Year Group Analysis By Industry

Revenue

Investments
Data Centre

31.9

31.3

27.9

21.3

15.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

6.9

Logistics

61.1

71.8

101.0

92.0

85.7

Total

93.0

103.1

128.9

113.3

107.8

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Investments

39.6

46.8

46.2

36.2

42.1

Data Centre

0.0

0.0

0.0

5.1

5.7

Logistics

15.2

15.0

20.3

24.0

27.2

Total

54.8

61.8

66.5

65.3

75.0

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

$ million

150

120

90

60

30

0

Profit Before Tax and Exceptional Items

$ million

100

80

60

40

20

0
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Value-Added Statement

Group
2010
$’000

Value added from:
Revenue
Less bought-in materials and services
Value added from operations
In addition:
Interest income
Share of results of associated companies and jointly controlled entities
Exceptional items
Total Group value added

2009
$’000

107,762
(51,792)
55,970

113,336
(57,051)
56,285

1,225
64,382
(4,573)

1,430
58,523
(8,596)

117,004

107,642

32,475
11,705

35,404
10,621

2,950
16,570
1,832
21,352
65,532

3,007
16,568
4,617
24,192
70,217

7,309
3,138
41,025
51,472

6,328
3,057
28,040
37,425

117,004

107,642

Number of employees (average)

980

1,268

Productivity analysis:
Value added per employee ($’000)
Value added per dollar employment cost ($)
Value added per dollar sales ($)
Value added per dollar investment in fixed assets (before depreciation) ($)

119
3.60
1.09
0.40

85
3.04
0.95
0.38

Distribution of Group’s value added:
To employees in wages, salaries and benefits
To government in income and other taxes
To providers of capital on:
Interest paid on borrowings
Dividends to shareholders
Dividends to non-controlling shareholders in subsidiaries

Balance retained in business:
Depreciation
Non-controlling interests
Surplus for the year

Total distribution
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Sustainability
Report

Our activities are aimed at creating
value for all our stakeholders –
shareholders, employees, customers,
contractors, and the communities
that we operate in.

Sustaining
Growth

Empowering
Lives

Nurturing
Communities

Our commitment to business
excellence is driven by our
unwavering focus on strong
corporate governance and
prudent risk management.

People are the cornerstone of
our businesses.

As a global citizen, we believe
that as communities thrive,
we thrive. We give back to
communities wherever we
operate through our multifaceted approach towards
Corporate Social Responsibility.

Resource efficiency is not only
our responsibility, but also
makes good business sense.
Innovation and delivering
quality products and services
are key in sharpening our
competitive edge.

Sustainability Report

As an employer of choice,
we are committed to grow
and nurture our talent pool
through continuous training and
development to help our people
reach their full potential.
We want to instill a culture of
safety so that everyone who
comes to work goes home safe.

We also believe that cultivating
a green mindset among our
employees will spur them to
adopt a sustainable lifestyle.
As leaders in our businesses,
we support industry
programmes and initiatives,
and encourage open dialogue
for further growth.
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Sustaining
Growth

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Working towards Keppel T&T’s
green vision, the Group has
deployed a three-prong approach
which includes developing businesses
that are environmentally friendly,
building fixed and support
infrastructure to be energy-efficient
and implementing the “3Rs” in daily
operational activities.
To gain a better understanding of
the Group’s carbon emission, it
initiated a carbon footprint study in
2010. The study allows the Group
to identify potential areas to target
reductions, devise initiatives and
measures to minimise emissions.
During the year, an initiative to
replace high bay lights in the
Group’s warehouses with
energy-saving lights was rolled out.
To be installed in phases, the new
lights can offer up to 46% savings in
electricity consumption. In addition to
the warehousing lights being switched
off during non-operating hours, these
environmentally-friendly initiatives
can help the Group to reduce its
electricity expenditure.
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RISK MANAGEMENT &
BUSINESS CONTINUITY
The Group’s enterprise risk
management framework provides
a holistic and systematic process
for identifying, evaluating and
managing risks.
Through prudent business and risk
management, the Group is better
prepared to meet challenges and
ensure the continuity of its
global operations.
At the operational level, risk
management is integrated into
the day-to-day business activities
to enable early risk detection for
effective management.
To address and manage potential
threats and disruptions to operations,
a Business Continuity Management
(BCM) framework has been
incorporated as part of the Group’s
risk management framework.
In 2010, the Group rolled out a threeyear Business Continuity Programme
(BCP) framework. During the year, the
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Group’s key subsidiaries carried out five
types of BCP exercises which consisted
of fire drills, pandemic flu, power
outage, chemical emergency response
and data recovery exercises.
Fire Drills
Fire drills are conducted every year not
only to comply with Singapore Civil
Defence Force (SCDF) regulations, but
also to ensure systematic and orderly
evacuation during disasters. The fire
drills conducted during the year tested
the effectiveness of the emergency
evacuation procedures in place, and
familiarised staff with evacuation
procedures and actions.
Pandemic Flu Exercises
The Group set up a Pandemic Flu
Business Continuity Management
Committee which focuses on the
development, testing and maintenance
of pandemic response plans and
procedures. These include temperature
screening and health declaration
procedures implemented for all
staff and visitors. In September,
Keppel Logistics (Foshan) Limited (KLF)
organised a pandemic exercise to test
and improve its employees’ readiness.
Power Outage and
Chemical Emergency Responses
During the year, Keppel Logistics
Pte Ltd (Keppel Logistics) also
successfully conducted a power
outage exercise at its premises by
using standby power generators. In
addition, Keppel Logistics conducted
a chemical emergency response
exercise at its chemical warehouse
to test its BCP plans in the handling
of hazardous cargo.
Data Recovery Exercises
Data recovery exercises to simulate
IT downtime were conducted across
the Group. Keppel Logistics conducted
the exercises jointly with a customer
to test the back-up procedures for
orders processing in times of data
system failure.

Sustaining Growth

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND TRANSPARENCY
The Group believes that strong
corporate governance and transparency
will enable it to achieve the goal of
growing sustainable businesses
with greater efficacy. The Group’s
commitment to best practices in
corporate governance and disclosure
was recognised when it was ranked
ninth out of 700 companies assessed in
the 2010 Governance and Transparency
Index. The Group’s associated
company, M1 Limited, was ranked
42nd place.

Keppel T&T was
conferred the
Best Annual
Report by the
Singapore
Corporate
Awards in its
category.

During the year, the Group was
also conferred by the Singapore
Corporate Awards the Best Annual
Report Award (Gold) for 2009 in the
“$300 million to less than $1 billion
market capitalisation’’ category,
which serves as a testament of the
Group’s commitment to accounting
standards beyond the minimum
regulatory requirements.
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Sustaining Growth

Empowering
Lives

WORKPLACE SAFETY
Aiming for zero fatality at work,
safety remained one of the key
focuses for the Group. In 2010,
the Group embarked on a series of
training courses and programmes to
enhance safety consciousness in
all its employees and contractors.
Safety Training and Exercises
Recognising the importance of fire
safety at the workplace, emergency
response trainings and fire drills were
conducted at the various business units
of the Group. Keppel Logistics Malaysia
Sdn Bhd organised two separate drills
at their warehouses in Kluang and
Shah Alam in November 2010. A
table top exercise was held with all
the department heads reviewing
appropriate responses during a fire.
The Singapore and China units of
Keppel Logistics also conducted
similar fire safety drills during the year.
KLF remained committed to the
education and training of its staff on
safety issues. In total, 12 safety training
courses aggregating 341 man-days
were carried out by KLF in 2010.
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Promoting a
Safety-Conscious Culture
Keppel T&T co-organised the annual
Keppel Group Safety Convention in
October during which Minister for
Manpower Mr Gan Kim Yong was the
Guest-of-Honour. The event rolled out
Keppel Group’s Workplace Safety &
Health 2018 initiative which had
Keppel T&T taking another major step
together with other members of the
Keppel family in their journey towards
a zero-incident workplace.
Keppel Logistics held its annual
Environment Health & Safety month in
July, during which a Material Handling
Equipment (MHE) competition was
held for staff from the warehouse
division. Through overcoming a series
of obstacles designed to simulate
the warehouse environment, the staff
brushed up their skills in using MHE,
such as a forklift, in a safe and
efficient manner.
Recognising that safety should not be
only confined to the workplace, Keppel
Logistics engaged Bukit Batok Driving
Centre to give a talk on road safety.

The centre also gave a demonstration
on defensive driving and motorcycle
riding techniques. An airbag shock
simulator was set up to allow
participants to go through real life
airbag deployment. Through a photo
competition, employees were also
encouraged to recognise safe behaviour
and practices beyond the workplace.
Employees were invited to take pictures
of safety acts or features that they
came across outside their workplaces
for the photo competition. Through
such engagements, the Group hopes to
cultivate a safety mindset in all its staff.
In August, KLF organised a safety
competition for its employees, during
which the contestants were tested on
their awareness and general knowledge
on safety. The activity helped to
raise the safety consciousness of the
employees in an engaging manner.
Transware Distribution Services Pte Ltd
held in November its safety week, which
aimed to drive home the importance
of workplace safety. Towards the end
of the safety week, the management
and the Safety Champions pledged
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their commitment to safety, and had an
enriching day learning about fire-fighting
and first-aid skills.
PEOPLE MATTERS
Training Courses
Taking an active interest in staff
training and career development, the
Group is committed to invest in the
development of its human capital.
During the year, the Group continued
to participate in government-initiated
programme SPUR (Skills Programme
for Upgrading & Resilience) for its
employees. Through the courses
offered by SPUR, employees were
trained in soft skills which ranged
from problem solving and decision
making to personal effectiveness.
At its overseas unit in China, more
than 562 man-days were invested in
a wide variety of training courses
ranging from management to
technical skill programmes.
New employees at the Logistics
Division were given vigorous
on-the-job training to ensure that
they understand standard operating
and safety procedures.
Network and facility engineers for
the Data Centre Division were sent
for professional courses in data
centre design and data centre facility
operations to strengthen their data
centres management capabilities.
Exchange Programme
Selected employees from KLF attended
an exchange programme in Singapore
during the year to familiarise themselves
with the Group’s core businesses and
Keppel Logistics’ key operations.
The trainees were given an overview
of Keppel Logistics’ safety framework,
risk management, as well as
warehousing and distribution
operations, so that they could share,
with their respective divisions, best
practices in logistics and safety
management upon their return to China.

Empowering Lives

Leadership Development
and Talent Management
During the year, the Group remained
focused on leadership development
and talent management. Employees
were sent for a variety of training
programmes which included the Global
Young Leaders programme conducted
by Keppel College.

Keppel Logistics
staff brushing
up their skills in
using a forklift
safely though a
fun-filled activity.

Top management engaged young
executives through regular dialogues
in both formal and informal settings.
High potential staff were given stretch
assignments, and were mentored.
The business unit heads also played
a vital role in this talent management
process as they tracked progress
made by these employees through
projects and assignments.
Scholarships were also granted
to staff with high potential for
tertiary education. In Singapore,
Keppel Logistics sponsored an
employee for a bachelor’s degree
in logistics management under the
Singapore Logistics Association’s
scholarship scheme. KLF also worked
closely with Tsinghua University in
Beijing to attract top graduates to
join the company.
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Empowering Lives

Industrial Relations
The Group continued to maintain a
good relationship with its union through
regular dialogues to foster better mutual
understanding. Through participating
in, and supporting joint activities, closer
ties between management and the
union were also forged.
In December, Keppel Logistics, together
with the National Trades Union Congress,
organised a recruitment drive for
union members at its premises. Union
members also attended the Dinner
& Dance organised by the Singapore
Industrial & Services Employees’ Union.
In China, KLF maintained good working
relationships with its local union
associates through meetings to discuss
various issues such as employment
policies and employee welfare.
Employee Recognition
The Group gives recognition and
encouragement to staff who display
passion and Keppel’s Can Do! spirit
through awards and incentives.
Every month, Keppel Logistics gives
out the Employee and Department
of the Month awards after careful
review by a committee. Nominated
employees are assessed based on:
performance on the job; outstanding
service provided to internal/external
customers or visitors or tenants;
actions which are especially helpful
or make a good impression;
exceptional contributions towards
the effectiveness and efficiency of
the departments and actions that
contribute to the maximum utilisation
of departmental resources.

was given the Home Team National
Service Award for Employers by the
Ministry of Home Affairs. For its support
given to Total Defence, Keppel Logistics
was also conferred the Meritorious
Defence Partner Award 2010.
Work-Life Balance
As part of the efforts to create
work-life balance for our staff, the
Group participated in the government’s
“Eat with your Family Day” initiative.
Employees were encouraged to leave
the office half an hour earlier to have
dinner with their family members
on 27 May.
Following its success in 2009, Keppel
Logistics organised the “Little Ones at
Work” event again in November.
17 children of the employees
participated by going on a warehouse
tour at the 7 Gul Circle logistics facility.
During the event, the children also had
fun at games, lucky draw, drawing
contest and playtime at SAFRA Jurong.
Riding on the Keppel Recreation
Club (KRC), the Group’s employees
participated in KRC’s annual Dinner &
Dance. In China, KLF organised a day
outing to Zhuhai for their employees to
build team rapport in September.

Healthy Lifestyle
The Group believes that a healthy
workforce is an engaged and
productive workforce. It is also through
sports activities that the Group
cultivates team spirit among its staff.
In Singapore, a staff bowling
competition was organised in October.
The best bowlers were selected to
participate in the Keppel Games
bowling tournament later in the year,
which also allowed them to forge ties
with other members in the Keppel
Group. In October, 33 of its employees
also participated in the Keppel
‘Walk-n-fun’ Day, a Keppel Group
activity, with family members and
friends at HortPark.

1

Support for NSmen
The Group recognises the importance
and contribution to the nation by its
employees who are NSmen. It has,
therefore, always played a supportive
role for its employees who need to fulfill
their national service obligations. In
recognition of its support, the Group
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2

3

1_An instructor from the
Bukit Batok Driving Centre
going through defensive driving
techniques with Keppel Logistics
staff and showing them
what happens during a
real-life airbag deployment.
2_Following its success in 2009,
Keppel Logistics organised the
“Little Ones at Work” event with
17 children of its employees
touring its warehouses.
3_Employees in China bonded
during the annual dinner held
to celebrate Lunar New Year.
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Nurturing
Communities

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
Every year, the Group participates in
community projects and donation drives
to contribute to the communities where it
operates. In 2010, the Group once again
actively participated in several
fund-raising activities.
During the year, staff joined hands
with other sister companies within the
Keppel Group to raise funds for the
Centre for Adults (CFA) from the
Association for Persons with Special
Needs, Keppel’s adopted charity. The
funds raised were used to support
CFA’s workshops, trainings and open
employment support programmes.
The Group’s staff also participated in
the annual Frost & Sullivan Run held
in October at MacRitchie Reservoir
Park, which raised funds for the 1,600
beneficiaries of PEACE-Connect.
The Group also helped to raise
funds in an event organised by
Community Chest through the sale
of National Day Parade T-shirts. The
funds raised were used to support
social services programmes by
Community Chest.
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In recognition of Keppel Logistics’
contributions and support to the
Community Chest, the company was
conferred the Community Chest Award
2010 in October.
Employees from KLF demonstrated their
sense of compassion for the unfortunate
residents who suffered from the Qinghai
Yushu earthquake by raising funds for
the rebuilding of lives.
On top of making monetary donations,
our business units in China and Singapore
participated in blood donation drives in
October and December respectively.
CULTIVATING GREEN MINDSETS
As part of the Group’s efforts in creating
an environmentally-conscious mindset,
it constantly creates awareness through
education programmes and by taking
part in global green movements.
For example, its local and overseas
operations participated in Earth Hour
2010 as a sign of commitment to
energy conservation.
Regular energy-saving tips were also
sent through email to encourage energy

saving habits. Through such platforms,
employees gain an understanding on
how green practices can be adopted
in everyday life.
INDUSTRIAL ATTACHMENTS
AND INTERNSHIPS
During the year, the Group continued its
collaboration with local education institutions
such as polytechnics, Institutes of Technical
Education (ITEs), as well as universities
by offering industrial attachments and
internships to their students.
In 2010, a total of 13 students from
various polytechnics and ITEs were
attached to various units under the Group
for six-month long industrial attachments,
and were given the opportunity to gain
real-life work exposure. These students
were exposed to various departments
in both the Logistics and Data Centre
Divisions. Three students from Nanyang
Technological University were offered
the opportunity to gain overseas work
experience when they were attached
to Keppel Logistics’ joint venture
company in Vietnam for six months
under the IE Singapore Manpower
Assistance Programme.

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
Report to Shareholders 2010

Statutory Reports & Financial Statements

53

Directors’ Report

The Directors are pleased to present their report, together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Keppel
Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), and the balance sheet
and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.
1.

Directors
The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Teo Soon Hoe (Chairman)
Tan Tin Wee
Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
Reggie Thein
Wee Sin Tho
Tan Boon Huat
Karmjit Singh (appointed on 1 October 2010)

2.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee carried out its function in accordance with the Companies Act. In relation to the financial
statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Committee reviewed the
audit plans and the scope of examination of the external auditors of the Company, and the scope and results of internal
audit procedures of companies within the Group. It further reviewed the financial statements of the Group and the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 and the report of the external auditors thereon. The functions
performed are detailed in the report on Corporate Governance.
The Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors the re-nomination of Ernst & Young LLP, Public
Accountants and Certified Public Accountants, as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.
The Audit Committee comprises three members, all of whom are independent Directors. The members of the
Committee in office at the date of this report are:
Reggie Thein (Chairman)
Wee Sin Tho
Karmjit Singh

3.

Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Shares or Debentures
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose
objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits through the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than the Keppel T&T Share Option Scheme 1993, the
KT&T Restricted Share Plan and the KT&T Performance Share Plan.

4.

Directors’ Interests in Shares and Debentures
The Directors holding office at the end of the financial year and their interests in shares and share options of the
Company and related companies as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, required to be kept under
Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, were as follows:

		
		
		
		

At		
1.1.10
or date of
appointment,
At
if later
31.12.10

Interest in Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
(Ordinary shares)
Teo Soon Hoe
28,000
28,000
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At
21.1.11

28,000

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
Report to Shareholders 2010

		
		
		
		

At		
1.1.10
or date of
appointment,
At
if later
31.12.10

At
21.1.11

Interest in Keppel Corporation Limited
(Ordinary shares)
Teo Soon Hoe
Reggie Thein
Karmjit Singh

3,628,332
8,000
10,000

4,088,332
8,000
10,000

4,088,332
8,000
10,000

Interest in Keppel Corporation Limited
(Share options)
Teo Soon Hoe

2,760,000

2,530,000

2,530,000

Interest in Keppel Corporation Limited
(Contingent award of restricted shares to be delivered after 2010)1				
Teo Soon Hoe
100,000
100,000
Interest in Keppel Corporation Limited
(Contingent award of performance shares issued in 2010 to be
delivered after 2012)2				
Teo Soon Hoe
200,000
200,000
Interest in Keppel Structured Notes Pte. Limited
(SGD Commodity Linked Guaranteed Notes Series 1 due 2011)
Teo Soon Hoe
Interest in Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc
(“B” shares of 1 Peso each)
Teo Soon Hoe

$100,000

$100,000

$100,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

1

Depending on the achievement of pre-determined performance targets, the actual number of shares to be released could be zero or the number stated.

2

Depending on the achievement of pre-determined performance targets, the actual number of shares to be released could range from zero to 150%
of the number stated.

5.

Directors’ Contractual Benefits
Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company
has received or has become entitled to receive benefits by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related
corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member or with a company in which the Director
has a substantial financial interest.

6.

Employee Share Options and Share Plans
(a)

Share Options
The Keppel T&T Share Option Scheme 1993 (“KT&T Share Option Scheme”) which has been approved by the
shareholders of the Company is administered by the Remuneration and Share Option Committee, whose members
are:
Bernard Tan Tiong Gie (Chairman)
Tan Tin Wee
Teo Soon Hoe
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Under the KT&T Share Option Scheme, an option may, except in certain special circumstances, be exercised at any
time after two years but no later than the expiry date. The shares under option may be exercised in full or in respect
of 100 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the subscription price. The subscription price is based on
the average last business done price for the shares of the Company on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited for the three market days preceding the date of offer. The Remuneration and Share Option Committee may
at its discretion fix the subscription price at a discount not exceeding 20 per cent to the above price. None of the
options offered in the financial year was granted at a discount. The employees to whom the options have been
granted do not have the right to participate by virtue of the options in a share issue of any other company.
At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 21 April 2010, the Company’s shareholders approved
the adoption of two new share plans, namely, the KT&T Restricted Share Plan (“KT&T RSP”) and the KT&T
Performance Share Plan (“KT&T PSP”) with effect from the date of termination of the KT&T Share Option Scheme.
The KT&T Share Option Scheme was terminated on 2 July 2010. Options granted and outstanding prior to the
termination will continue to be valid and subject to the terms and conditions of the KT&T Share Option Scheme.
Options to take up 380,000 unissued shares were granted during the financial year. 105,000 shares were issued by
virtue of the exercise of options and options to take up 1,259,000 shares were cancelled during the financial year.
At 31 December 2010, the following options to take up 1,822,000 unissued shares in the Company were outstanding:
		
		
Date of
Grant
04.03.00
16.11.00
01.06.01
08.08.06
06.02.07
07.08.07
11.02.08
11.08.08
03.02.09
03.08.09
03.02.10
		

Number of Share Options
At 1.1.10 or
Later Date			
of Grant
Exercised
Cancelled

At
31.12.10

Exercise
Price ($)

Expiry
Date

2.33
1.46
1.10
1.61
1.70
3.75
4.97
5.25
0.73
1.49
1.38

03.03.10
15.11.10
31.05.11
07.08.16
05.02.17
06.08.17
10.02.18
10.08.18
02.02.19
02.08.19
02.02.20

30,000
44,000
47,000
15,000
400,000
450,000
505,000
430,000
510,000
375,000
380,000

(105,000)
-

(30,000)
(44,000)
(225,000)
(225,000)
(225,000)
(190,000)
(105,000)
(120,000)
(95,000)

47,000
15,000
175,000
225,000
280,000
240,000
300,000
255,000
285,000

3,186,000

(105,000)

(1,259,000)

1,822,000

No options have been granted to Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates and no
employee received 5 per cent or more of the total number of options available under the Keppel T&T Share Option
Scheme 1993.
Fair Value of Options
On 03 February 2010, the Company granted 380,000 options under the Scheme. This is 0.07% of the Company’s
issued share capital as at 31 December 2010. The options will vest in two years and will expire in ten years. The
exercise price of $1.38 was the average last done price for the shares on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited for the three market days preceding the date of offer. The Company estimated the fair value of the
option granted under this tranche to be $0.708. This was calculated by applying the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The total fair value of options granted for 2010 amounts to approximately $269,000. This represents
0.43% of the Group’s 2010 attributable profit before exceptional items.
During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of any subsidiary were granted and there were no
shares of any subsidiary issued by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of any subsidiary under option.
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(b) Share Plans
		The KT&T RSP and the KT&T PSP were approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on
21 April 2010.
Details of share plans awarded are disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements.
During the financial year, the number of contingent shares granted and not released were 553,500 for KT&T RSP
and 180,000 for KT&T PSP. No share was released under the KT&T RSP and KT&T PSP during the financial year.
52,500 shares under the KT&T RSP were cancelled during the financial year. At the end of the financial year, there
were 501,000 shares under the KT&T RSP and 180,000 shares under the KT&T PSP as follows:
		
		
Date of
Grant

Number of Share Options
At 1.1.10 or
Later Date				
of Grant
Adjustment
Vested
Cancelled

At
31.12.10

KT&T RSP
02.07.10

553,500

-

-

(52,500)

501,000

KT&T PSP
02.07.10

180,000

-

-

-

180,000

		There is no contingent award of shares under the KT&T RSP and KT&T PSP granted to Directors and controlling
shareholders of the Company or their associates during the financial year.
		
		Employees who were granted 5 per cent or more of the total number of contingent awards of shares during the
financial year are as follows:
		
		
		
Shares
granted
Name of
during the
participant
financial year
KT&T RSP
Pang Hee Hon
Chan Shui Har
Bruno Lopez
Gui Eng Hwee
Jennifer Tan Nguek Ting
KT&T PSP
Pang Hee Hon
Chan Shui Har

Directors’ Report

Aggregate
shares granted
since
commencement
of the share
plans to the end
of financial year

Aggregate
shares exercised
since
commencement
of the share
plans to the end
of financial year

Aggregate
shares
cancelled
as at end of
financial year

Aggregate
shares
outstanding
as at end of
financial year

70,000
60,000
50,000
50,000
40,000

70,000
60,000
50,000
50,000
40,000

-

-

70,000
60,000
50,000
50,000
40,000

100,000
80,000

100,000
80,000

-

-

100,000
80,000
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7.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board

TEO SOON HOE
Chairman

REGGIE THEIN
Director

Singapore, 14 February 2011
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Group
				
			
Note

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Revenue

3

107,762

113,336

Operating expenses

4

(95,377)

(105,027)

Operating profit

5

12,385

8,309

Interest income
6
Interest expense
7
Share of results of associated companies and jointly controlled entities 		

1,225
(2,950)
64,382

1,430
(3,007)
58,523

Profit before tax and exceptional items		

75,042

65,255

Exceptional items
8
					
Profit before taxation		

(4,573)

(8,596)

70,469

56,659

Taxation

(9,736)

(8,994)

Profit for the year		

60,733

47,665

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Profit before exceptional items		
Exceptional items
8

62,132
(4,537)

52,915
(8,307)

					
Non-controlling interests		

57,595
3,138

44,608
3,057

					

60,733

47,665

Earnings per share (cents)
10
Before exceptional items
- basic		
- diluted		

11.2
11.2

9.6
9.6

After exceptional items
- basic		
- diluted		

10.4
10.4

8.1
8.1

9

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Profit for the year

60,733

47,665

Available-for-sale financial assets
- Fair value changes
- Fair value loss realised and transferred to profit & loss account

(1,041)
790

(3,718)
3,887

4,351
(733)

(11,941)
1,539

			
			

Foreign currency translation
- Exchange differences arising on consolidation
- Realised and transferred to profit & loss account

39

439

3,406

(9,794)

Total comprehensive income for the year

64,139

37,871

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

61,429
2,710

34,889
2,982

			

64,139

37,871

Share of other comprehensive income of associated companies
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

60

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
Report to Shareholders 2010

Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2010

Group

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

				
			
Note

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Share capital
11
Reserves
12
Share capital and reserves		
Non-controlling interests		

73,750
267,966
341,716
26,946

73,673
222,234
295,907
26,090

73,750
50,874
124,624
-

73,673
60,757
134,430
-

Capital employed		

368,662

321,997

124,624

134,430

153,715

146,456

-

-

329,355
4,553
333,908

303,383
10,327
313,710

73,317
6,621
79,938

68,677
6,621
75,298

17

-

-

43,274

-

Current assets
Stocks and work-in-progress
18
Debtors
19
Amounts owing by holding and related companies
20
Amounts owing by associated companies
21
Fixed deposits
22
Bank balances and cash
22
				

2,295
24,998
661
4,575
52,289
9,180
93,998

2,264
24,330
2,211
13,251
63,102
7,911
113,069

108
30,474
7,594
36
38,212

107
48,257
11,287
21
59,672

Less: Current liabilities
Creditors
23
Amounts owing to holding and related companies
20
Amounts owing to associated companies
21
Short-term borrowings
24
Taxation
				

40,095
320
165
22,506
1,047
64,133

42,455
517
188
58,399
822
102,381

502
52
10,029
3
10,586

495
37
8
540

Net current assets		

29,865

10,688

27,626

59,132

Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings
25
Deferred taxation
9
				

147,214
1,612
148,826

148,000
857
148,857

26,214
26,214

-

Net assets		

368,662

321,997

124,624

134,430

Represented by:
Fixed assets
13
Investments
Subsidiaries
14
Associated companies and jointly controlled entities
15
Others
16
				
Long-term receivable

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2010

					
Foreign
					 Currency
		
Share
Capital
Revenue Translation
		
Capital Reserves
Reserve
Reserve
		
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
The Group
Balance at 1 January 2010
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

Share
NonCapital & controlling
Reserves
Interests
$’000
$’000

Capital
Employed
$’000

73,673

10,126

225,398

(13,290)

295,907

26,090

321,997

-

(212)

57,595
-

4,046

57,595
3,834

3,138
(428)

60,733
3,406

-

(212)

57,595

4,046

61,429

2,710

64,139

77
-

873

-

-

77
873

-

77
873

-

704
-

(704)
-

-

-

(1,832)

(1,832)

77

1,577

(16,570)
(17,274)

-

(16,570)
(15,620)

3
(25)
(1,854)

3
(25)
(16,570)
(17,474)

Balance at 31 December 2010

73,750

11,491

265,719

(9,244)

341,716

26,946

368,662

Balance at 1 January 2009
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

73,651

9,375

196,653

(2,963)

276,716

29,357

306,073

-

608

44,608
-

(10,327)

44,608
(9,719)

3,057
(75)

47,665
(9,794)

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

608

44,608

(10,327)

34,889

2,982

37,871

22
-

848

-

-

22
848

-

22
848

-

(1,299)

1,299

-

-

-

-

-

594
-

(594)
-

-

-

(4,617)

(4,617)

22

143

(16,568)
(15,863)

-

(16,568)
(15,698)

(262)
(1,370)
(6,249)

(262)
(1,370)
(16,568)
(21,947)

73,673

10,126

225,398

(13,290)

295,907

26,090

321,997

Total comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with equity holders,
recorded directly in equity
Issue of shares
Cost of share-based payment
Transfer from revenue reserve to
capital reserves
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders
Acquisition of additional interest in
a subsidiary
Disposal of subsidiary
Dividend paid for 2009 (Note 34)
Total transactions with equity holders

Transactions with equity holders,
recorded directly in equity
Issue of shares
Cost of share-based payment
Transfer from capital reserves to
revenue reserve
Transfer from revenue reserve to
capital reserves
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders
Acquisition of additional interest in
a subsidiary
Disposal of subsidiaries
Dividend paid for 2008 (Note 34)
Total transactions with equity holders
Balance at 31 December 2009

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Share
Capital
$’000

Capital
Reserves
$’000

Revenue
Reserve
$’000

Total
$’000

The Company
Balance at 1 January 2010
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year

73,673
-

3,477
-

57,280
5,814

134,430
5,814

77
77

873
873

(16,570)
(16,570)

77
873
(16,570)
(15,620)

Balance at 31 December 2010

73,750

4,350

46,524

124,624

Balance at 1 January 2009
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year

73,651
-

2,629
-

65,576
8,272

141,856
8,272

22
22

848
848

(16,568)
(16,568)

22
848
(16,568)
(15,698)

73,673

3,477

57,280

134,430

Transactions with equity holders, recorded directly in equity
Issue of shares
Cost of share-based payment
Dividend paid for 2009 (Note 34)
Total transactions with equity holders

Transactions with equity holders, recorded directly in equity
Issue of shares
Cost of share-based payment
Dividend paid for 2008 (Note 34)
Total transactions with equity holders
Balance at 31 December 2009

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Group
		
		

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

12,385

8,309

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Operating profit
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation of fixed assets
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Share-based payment expenses
Gain on dilution of associated companies
Translation of foreign companies
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital
Working capital changes:
Stocks and work-in-progress
Debtors
Creditors
Cash flows from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Income taxes refunded/(paid), net
Proceeds from tax losses transferred under group relief system
Staff compensation and restructuring expenses

7,309
(64)
389
(1,787)
(189)
18,043

6,328
(10)
1,276
(38)
(1,871)
13,994

(31)
1,525
(692)
18,845
1,414
(3,223)
2,472
558
(623)

1,445
22,779
(8,472)
29,746
1,310
(3,066)
(1,739)
602
(699)

Net Cash from Operating Activities

19,443

26,154

(2,102)
(1,810)
1,241
903
825
(14,578)
33,379

(585)
(230)
(2,646)
170
(29,759)
28,210

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note A)
Purchase of other investments
Investment in associated companies
Proceeds from capital reduction in an associated company
Capital distribution from other investments
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets and other investments
Purchase of fixed assets
Dividends received from investments

Net Cash from/(used in) Investing Activities
17,858
(4,840)
					
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net proceeds from share issues
77
22
Acquisition of further shares in a subsidiary
(150)
(Repayment of)/proceeds from short-term loans
(35,893)
5,330
(Repayment of)/proceeds from long-term loans
(786)
14,000
Funds from/(to) associated companies
8,159
(1,311)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the company
(16,570)
(16,568)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
(1,832)
(4,617)
Net Cash used in Financing Activities

(46,845)

(3,294)

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January

(9,544)
71,013

18,020
52,993

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December (Note B)

61,469

71,013

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
A.

Disposal of Subsidiaries
During the financial year, the fair values of net assets and liabilities of subsidiaries disposed were as follows:
2010
$’000
Fixed assets
Stocks, debtors and creditors
Bank balances and cash
Exchange equalisation
Non-controlling interests

		
Net (gain)/loss on disposal

B.

2009
$’000

(38)
38
777
25

(84)
(444)
(585)
(772)
1,370

802
(802)

(515)
515

Sale proceeds
Add: Bank balances and cash disposed

-

585

Net cash outflow on disposal, net of cash disposed

-

585

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of fixed deposits, bank balances and cash. Cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following balance sheet amounts:

		

Fixed deposits (Note 22)
Bank balances and cash (Note 22)
		

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

52,289
9,180

63,102
7,911

61,469

71,013

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1.

Corporate Information
The Company is a public listed company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore, and its holding company is Keppel
Corporation Limited, a company incorporated in Singapore. The registered office of the Company is located at 1
HarbourFront Avenue, #18-01 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at 7 Gul Circle, Singapore 629563.
The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding and management company. The principal
activities of major subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly controlled entities are shown in Note 33.

2.

Significant Accounting Policies
2.1

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of
the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the
accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars.

2.2

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:
On 1 January 2010, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards and interpretations of FRS (“INT
FRS”) that are relevant and effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.
The adoption of the new and revised standards and interpretations did not result in any substantial change to the
Group’s accounting policies nor any significant impact on the financial performance or position of the Group.
The principal effects of these changes are as follows:
FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)
Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS 27 include:
-

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control is accounted for as
an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss;

-

Losses incurred by a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if the losses exceed the
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary’s equity; and

-

When control over a subsidiary is lost, any interest retained is measured at fair value with the corresponding
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 27 has been applied prospectively, and does not impact
the Company’s financial statements in respect of transactions with non-controlling interests, attribution of losses
to non-controlling interests and disposal of subsidiaries before 1 January 2010. The changes will affect future
transactions with non-controlling interests.
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FRS 103 Business Combinations (revised)
The revised FRS 103 introduces a number of changes to the accounting for business combinations that will
impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and
future reported results. Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS
103 include:
-

Transaction costs would no longer be capitalised as part of the cost of acquisition but will be expensed
immediately;

-

Consideration contingent on future events are recognised at fair value on the acquisition date and any
changes in the amount of consideration to be paid will no longer be adjusted against goodwill but recognised
in profit or loss;

-

The Group elects for each acquisition of a business, to measure non-controlling interest at fair value, or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, and this impacts the
amount of goodwill recognised; and

-

When a business is acquired in stages, the previously held equity interests in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date with any corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss, and this
impacts the amount of goodwill recognised.

According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 103 has been applied prospectively. Assets and liabilities
that arose from business combinations whose acquisition dates are before 1 January 2010 are not adjusted.
2.3

Standards issued but not yet effective
The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not effective:

				
		
Effective for
			
annual periods
			
beginning on
Reference
Description
or after
Amendment to FRS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation-Classification of
1 February 2010
		
Rights Issues
INT FRS 119
Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
1 July 2010
Revised FRS 24
Related Party Disclosures
1 January 2011
Amendments to INT FRS 114
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
1 January 2011
Except for the revised FRS 24, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards and interpretations
above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. The nature of the
impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of the revised FRS 24 is described below.
Revised FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures
The revised FRS 24 clarifies the definition of a related party to simplify the identification of such relationships and
to eliminate inconsistencies in its application. The revised FRS 24 expands the definition of a related party and
would treat two entities as related to each other whenever a person (or a close member of that person’s family)
or a third party has control or joint control over the entity, or has significant influence over the entity. The revised
standard also introduces a partial exemption of disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The
Group is currently determining the impact of the changes to the definition of a related party has on the disclosure
of related party transaction. As this is a disclosure standard, it will have no impact on the financial position or
financial performance of the Group when implemented in 2011.
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2.4

Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected
in the future.
Critical Judgement in Applying the Group’s Accounting Policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the management is of the opinion that there is no
instance of application of judgements which is expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements, apart from those involving estimations described below.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.
(a)

Impairment of Fixed Assets
Determining whether the fixed asset value is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash generating units. This requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected from the cash
generating units and an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash
flows. The carrying amount of fixed assets at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial
statements.

(b)

Impairment of Loans and Receivables
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or
significant delay in payments.
When there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amounts
of loans and receivables at the balance sheet date are disclosed in Note 17, 19 , 20 and 21 to the financial
statements.
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(c)

Impairment of Available-for-sale Financial Assets
The Group classifies its long-term equity instruments as available-for-sale financial assets. Management
exercises judgement based on the observable data relating to the possible events that may have caused
the decline in value. A decline in value below cost determined to be significant or prolonged is an
impairment that should be recognised in the profit and loss account.

(d)

Income Taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in
determining the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.
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2.5

Currency Translation
(a)

Functional and Presentation Currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

(b)

Transactions and Balances
Transactions arising in foreign currencies during the year are measured in the respective functional currencies
of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at
exchange rates approximating those ruling at transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at exchange rates approximating those ruling
at that date. Exchange differences arising from the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary
items at the balance sheet date are recognised in the profit and loss account.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

(c)

Translation of Group Entities’ Financial Statements
For inclusion in the Group financial statements, the trading results of subsidiaries and associated
companies whose financial statements are denominated in functional currencies other than Singapore
Dollars, are translated into Singapore Dollars at the average exchange rates for the year. All assets and
liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into Singapore Dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
balance sheet date. Exchange differences due to such currency translations are classified as reserves and
taken directly to other comprehensive income.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that foreign operation is recognised in the profit and loss account.

2.6

Subsidiaries and Basis of Consolidation
(a)

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses.

(b)

Basis of Consolidation
Business combinations from 1 January 2010
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiaries as at balance sheet date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company.
Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group to the date on
which that control ceases.
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Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Identifiable assets required and
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. Costs directly attributable to the acquisition are recognised as expenses in the periods incurred.
Any contingent considerations to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to
be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with FRS 39 either in profit or loss or as change to
other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured
until it is finally settled within equity.
In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree
(if any) is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree identifiable net assets.
			
Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill.
Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of business combination is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date of
acquisition.
Business combinations before 1 January 2010
			
In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:
			
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly
known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.
			
Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Adjustments to those fair
values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in equity.
			
Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic
outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent measurements to
the contingent consideration affected goodwill.
(c)

Transactions with Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable to owners of the Company
are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive statement of income and within
equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
			
Changes in the Company owners’ interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions and the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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2.7

Associated Companies and Jointly Controlled Entities
An associated company is a company, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group has significant influence and in
whose operating and financial policy decisions the Group actively participates.
A jointly controlled entity is a company in which the Group has a long-term substantial equity interest and in
whose operating and financial policy decisions the Group actively participates.
The Group’s investments in associated companies and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the
equity method. The equity method involves recording investments in associated companies and jointly controlled
entities initially at cost, and recognising the Group’s share of post-acquisition results and its share of postacquisition movements in reserves against the carrying amount of the investments. After application of the
equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s net investment in the associated companies and jointly controlled entities. The associated
companies and jointly controlled entities are equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant
influence until the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over the investments.
Goodwill relating to an associated company and jointly controlled entities is included in the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and
is instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company and jointly controlled entities equals or exceeds
its interest in the investment, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated company and jointly
controlled entities.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associated companies and jointly controlled
entities are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
The most recent available audited financial statements of the associated companies and jointly controlled entities
are used by the Group in applying the equity method. Where the dates of the audited financial statements used
are not co-terminus with those of the Group, the share of results is arrived at from the last audited financial
statements available and unaudited management financial statements to the end of the financial year.

2.8

Fixed Assets
All items of fixed assets are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of fixed asset is recognised as an asset
if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Subsequent to recognition, fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. An assessment of the carrying value of fixed assets is made when there are indications that
the assets have been impaired or the impairment losses recognised in prior years no longer exist.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the fixed assets over their estimated
useful lives after taking the estimated residual values into account. No depreciation is provided for capital workin-progress, as these assets are not available for use. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings
Plant and equipment
		 Data centre equipment
		 Office furniture and fittings
		 Other equipment
Motor vehicles
		 Prime movers and trailers
		 Motor cars
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-

over period of lease (ranging from 20 to 80 years)

-

10 to 41 years
5 years
1 to 10 years

-

4 to 10 years
4 to 5 years
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The carrying values of fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the
amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of fixed assets.
An item of fixed asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit and loss account in
the year the asset is derecognised.
2.9

Intangible Asset
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of the business combination
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Goodwill
is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit
may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account when the carrying amount of
the cash-generating unit, including goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating units
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis. Impairment losses
recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

2.10 Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified by the Group as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. Financial assets are recognised on the balance
sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On
derecognition of financial assets, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in other comprehensive income is
recognised in the profit and loss account.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this
designation at each financial year end.
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(a)

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Financial assets held for trading are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivative financial instruments are also classified
as fair value through profit or loss unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the profit and loss account.

(b)

Loans and Receivables
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are
classified as loans and receivables. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss account when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired and through the amortisation process.
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(c)

Available-for-sale Financial Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are not classified in any of the other categories.
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses
from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in other comprehensive income, except that
impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated
using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.
The fair values of instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by
reference to the relevant Exchange’s quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance
sheet date. For investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation
techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis. Investments in other unlisted investment funds are
recorded at the net asset value per share as reported by the managers of these funds.

2.11 Impairment
(a)

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication exists or when an annual impairment
assessment for an asset is required, the recoverable amount of that asset is estimated and an impairment
loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The impairment loss
is charged to the profit and loss account unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it will be
charged to equity.
Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded if, and only if, there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognised. The carrying amount is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. The reversal is recorded in the profit
and loss account. After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

(b)

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset is impaired.
(i)

Assets Carried at Amortised Cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for significant financial assets or collectively for financial
assets not individually significant. When determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for which impairment loss is to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in the
profit and loss account.
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If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in the profit and
loss account.
(ii)

Available-for-sale Financial Assets
For equity instruments classified as available-for-sale, if any evidence of a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost exists, the cumulative loss (measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss) is removed from the fair value reserve within
equity and recognised in the profit and loss account. Impairment losses recognised in the profit and
loss account on equity investments are not reversed through the profit and loss account, until the
equity instruments are disposed of.

2.12 Stocks and Work-in-progress
Stocks are stated at the lower of weighted average cost and net realisable value after adequate provision is made
for damaged, obsolete or slow-moving stocks.
Work-in-progress comprises uncompleted telecommunications contracts in the course of development. It
comprises costs of materials and direct expenses incurred to-date, less progress payments received and
receivable. Full provision is made for estimated losses to completion where applicable.
2.13 Debtors and Other Receivables
Debtors and other receivables, including amounts owing by holding and related companies and associated
companies are classified and accounted for as loans and receivables. The accounting policy for this category of
financial assets is stated in Note 2.10.
An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are
written off as incurred. Further details on the accounting policy for impairment of financial assets are stated in
Note 2.11.
2.14 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank and fixed deposits.
2.15 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities include creditors, borrowings and other payables which are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. All borrowings are initially recognised at the fair values of the consideration received less directly
attributable transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the profit or loss.
2.16 Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments are carried as assets when
the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes
in fair value on derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken to the profit and
loss account for the year.
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The fair values of forward currency contracts are determined by reference to current forward exchange rates for
contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair values of interest rate cap contracts are determined by reference
to market values for similar instruments.
2.17 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, the provision is reversed.
2.18 Operating Leases
Lessee
Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of the ownership of the leased
item are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the profit and
loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lessor
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in leasehold properties. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the
lease term.
2.19 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable,
excluding discounts, rebates, and sales taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to
determine if it is acting as principal or agent and has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue
arrangements.
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the period in which the services are rendered. It represents
income from port operations, integrated logistics services, supply chain solutions, warehousing, distribution,
container storage and repairs and freight forwarding services, data centre facilities and co-location services
including business continuity and disaster recovery services, installation and maintenance of communications
systems. Revenue from warehousing and co-location services includes operating lease income which is
recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the
goods to the customers.
The Group recognises contract revenue to the extent of contract costs incurred based on the stage of
completion method. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred to-date
to the estimated total costs for the contract. Judgement is required in determining the stage of completion,
the extent of the contract cost incurred, the estimated total contract revenue and contract cost, as well as the
recoverability of the contracts. Total contract revenue also includes an estimation of the recoverable variation
works that are recoverable from the customers. In making the judgement, the Group’s evaluation is based on the
assessment of project managers and past experience.
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis and dividend income is recognised when declared to be
payable.
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.20 Employee Benefits
(a)

Defined Contribution Plan
The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which
it has operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central
Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to national
pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

(b)

Employee Leave Entitlement
Employees’ entitlement to annual leave is recognised when it accrues to the employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability of unconsumed leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the balance sheet date.

(c)

Termination Benefits
The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment
of current employees according to a plan of action.

(d)

Employee Share Option Scheme and Share Plans
The Group operates share-based compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of options, restricted shares and performance shares is recognised as an expense in
the profit and loss account with a corresponding increase in the share option and share plan reserve over the
vesting period. The total amount to be recognised over the vesting period is determined by reference to the
fair values of the options, restricted shares and performance shares granted at the respective dates of grant.
At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to
become exercisable and share plan awards that are expected to vest on the vesting dates, and recognises
the impact of the revision of the estimates in the profit and loss account, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option and share plan reserve over the remaining vesting period.
No expense is recognised for options or share plan awards that do not ultimately vest, except for options
or share plan awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vested
irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
The proceeds received from the exercise of options are credited to share capital when the options are
exercised. When share plan awards are released, the share plan reserve is transferred to share capital if
new shares are issued.

2.21 Government Grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
The grants are recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to match them on a systematic
basis to the staff and business costs and are deducted in reporting “operating expenses”.
2.22 Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing
costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended
use or sale.
Other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.23 Income Taxes
(a)

Current Taxation
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

(b)

Deferred Taxation
Deferred taxation has been provided for under the liability method on all temporary differences at the
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled
based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
-

where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

-

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associated
companies and interest in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that they can be utilised against future
taxable profit, except:
-

where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

-

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associated
companies and interest in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet
date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against
goodwill on acquisition.
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists
to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.24 Segment Reporting
For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and
services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance
of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the
Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess
the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 29, including the
factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.
2.25 Contingencies
A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the
control of the Group.
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent
liabilities assured in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably
determined.
3.

Revenue
Group revenue excludes inter-company transactions. Revenue of the Group is analysed as follows:

		
		
		
Revenue from services rendered
Revenue from sale of goods
		
4.

2009
$’000

106,797
965

111,559
1,777

107,762

113,336

Operating Expenses
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Group
2010
$’000

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Purchase of goods and services
Staff costs
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund
Share-based payment expenses
Depreciation of fixed assets
Rental of equipment and facilities expenses
Other operating expenses
		
Other income

30,953
29,982
2,104
389
7,309
17,238
10,520
98,495
(3,118)

39,781
31,520
2,608
1,276
6,328
16,413
9,127
107,053
(2,026)

		

95,377

105,027

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
Report to Shareholders 2010

5.

Operating Profit

		
			
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

312
119
254
2,342
(64)
249
689
653
4
(1,787)
(207)
9,791

295
139
248
1,848
(10)
219
200
175
(50)
(38)
(1,009)
8,824

Operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Auditors’ remuneration:
		 Auditors of the Company
		 Other auditors of subsidiaries
Fees to Directors of the Company
Key management emoluments (Note 26b)
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Provision for stock obsolescence
Foreign exchange loss
Provision for doubtful debts
Bad debts written off/(recovered)
Gain on dilution of associated companies
Grant income from jobs credit scheme
Operating lease expense
Other professional fees paid to:
		 Auditors of the Company
6.

3

Interest Income

		
			
			
Interest from deposits with:
		 Banks
		 Related companies
Interest from other loans and receivables
Other interest income
			
7.

3

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

552
43
617
13

792
32
606
-

1,225

1,430

Interest Expense

		
			
			

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Interest on term loans from:
		 Related companies
Other interest expense

2,582
368

2,928
79

			

2,950

3,007
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8.

Exceptional Items

		
			
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2,105
(1,544)
(6,661)
1,300
227
(4,573)
36

(515)
56
(4,092)
(700)
27
(3,372)
(8,596)
289

			
(4,537)
				
9.
Taxation

(8,307)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies
		 and other investments
Impairment (loss)/write-back on investments in associated companies
Impairment loss on other investments
Impairment write-back/(loss) on fixed assets (Note 13)
Write-back of provision for equity advance to an associated company
Write-back/(provision) of restructuring expenses
			
Non-controlling interest’s share of exceptional items

		
			
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Current taxation:
		 Based on profit for the year
		 Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years
		 Tax refunds in respect of prior years
			

3,009
28
(5,110)
(2,073)

1,719
(286)
1,433

Deferred taxation:
		 Movements in temporary differences
		 Effect of reduction in tax rate
		 Benefits from transfer of tax losses under group relief
			
			
Share of taxation of associated companies and jointly controlled entities

755
(558)
197
(1,876)
11,612

(150)
(40)
(875)
(1,065)
368
8,626

9,736

8,994
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A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of profit before tax multiplied by the Singapore statutory tax rate
for the years ended 31 December is as follows:
		
			
			
Profit before taxation
Tax at the Singapore statutory rate of 17%
Income not subject to taxation
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years
Tax refunds in respect of prior years
Deferred tax benefits not recognised
Benefits from transfer of tax losses under group relief
Effect of reduction in tax rate
Effect of different tax rates in other countries
Share of taxation of associated companies and jointly controlled entities
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

70,469

56,659

11,980
(11,131)
2,097
28
(5,110)
313
(558)
505
11,612

9,632
(11,329)
2,542
(286)
441
(875)
(40)
283
8,626

9,736

8,994

The estimated unutilised losses and unabsorbed capital allowances for the Group at 31 December 2010 amounted to
approximately $24,074,000 (2009: $26,754,000) and $461,000 (2009: $486,000) respectively for which no deferred tax
benefit is recognised due to uncertainty of its recoverability.
The use of these losses and capital allowances is subject to agreement by the tax authority, and compliance with certain
provisions of the tax legislation in Singapore.
A loss-transfer system of group relief (known as “group relief system”) for companies was introduced in Singapore with
effect from Year of Assessment 2003. Under this system, corporate groups may set off the current year unutilised
capital allowances, trade losses and donations (“loss items”) of one Singapore company against the profits of another
Singapore company within the same group, subject to compliance with the relevant rules and procedures and
agreement of the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore.
The Group has recognised a deferred tax credit of $558,000 (2009: $875,000) on the transfer of unabsorbed donations
of $36,000 (2009: $2,000), tax losses of $1,367,000 (2009: $2,674,000) and capital allowances of $1,878,000 (2009:
$2,041,000) to certain related companies under the group relief system.
		
			
			
Deferred taxation:
		 Differences in depreciation
		 Other temporary differences
Gross deferred taxation
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Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

904
708

829
28

1,612

857
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10.

Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share represent the Group’s profit attributable divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year.
Diluted earnings per share represent the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders of the Company, divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year adjusted for the effects of all potential dilutive
ordinary shares.
Details of the computation are set out below:

		
		
		
			
Profit attributable to shareholders
		 before exceptional items
Exceptional items
Profit after exceptional items

		
		
		
Weighted average number of shares
Adjustment for potential dilutive ordinary shares
Weighted average number of shares
		 used to compute earnings per share
Earnings per share (cents)
		 Before exceptional items
		 After exceptional items

Group
2010
$’000
Basic

2009
$’000
Diluted

Basic

Diluted

62,132
(4,537)

62,132
(4,537)

52,915
(8,307)

52,915
(8,307)

57,595

57,595

44,608

44,608

2010
Number of shares
’000

2009		
Number of shares
’000

552,368

552,368

552,258

552,258

-

866

-

133

552,368

553,234

552,258

552,391

11.2
10.4

11.2
10.4

9.6
8.1

9.6
8.1

1,475,000 (2009: 2,249,000) share options granted to employees under the existing employee share option scheme
have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive for the current and
previous financial years presented.
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11.

Share Capital

		
				
				

Group and Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
		 At 1 January:
			 552,277,537 (2009: 552,250,537) shares

73,673

73,651

77

22

73,750

73,673

			 105,000 (2009: 27,000) shares issued under
			 Keppel T&T Share Option Scheme 1993
		 At 31 December:
			 552,382,537 (2009: 552,277,537) shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary
shares carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary shares have no par value.
Keppel T&T Share Option Scheme 1993
Share options are granted to employees under the Keppel T&T Share Option Scheme 1993 (“KT&T Share Option
Scheme”), which became operative on 5 May 1993.
The exercise price of the share options is equal to the average last business done price for the shares of the Company
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the three market days preceding the date of offer. The
Remuneration and Share Option Committee may at its discretion fix the exercise price at a discount not exceeding 20
per cent to the above price. None of the options granted in the financial year was granted at a discount.
The vesting of granted options is conditional on the employee completing another 24 months of service. Once the
options are vested, they are exercisable for a contractual option term of 10 years from the date of grant. The options
may be exercised in full or in part in respect of 100 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the exercise price.
The persons to whom the options have been issued, have no right to participate by virtue of the options in any share
issue of any other company. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in
cash.
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The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise price (“WAEP”) of, and movements in, share
options during the year.
		
Group and Company
		
2010
2009
			
Number of
WAEP
Number of
WAEP
			
Options
Options
			
’000
($)
’000
($)
					
Balance at 1 January
2,806
2.95
1,983
3.83
		 Granted
380
1.38
905
1.04
		 Cancelled
(1,259)
3.07
(55)
4.23
		 Exercised
(105)
0.73
(27)
0.83
Balance at 31 December
Exercisable at 31 December

1,822

2.67

2,806

2.95

982

3.94

986

2.61

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised during the year was $1.39 (2009:
$1.40). The options outstanding at the end of the financial year had a weighted average exercise price of $2.67 (2009:
$2.95) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.5 years (2009: 8.0 years). The weighted average fair value
of options granted during the year was $0.71 (2009: $0.51).
The fair value of share options as at the date of grant, is estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The inputs to the model used for the years
ended 31 December are shown below:
		
				
Date of grant
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of options (years)
Underlying share price ($)
Exercise price ($)

Group and Company
2010
2009
03.02.10
03.08.09
03.02.09
2.17
82.63
1.28
3.50
1.38
1.38

2.01
83.08
1.36
3.43
1.49
1.49

4.11
78.37
1.40
3.40
0.73
0.73

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility as it is assumed to be indicative of future trends, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of the option grant were incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.
Details of outstanding share options to subscribe to the Company’s shares granted under the Keppel T&T Share Option
Scheme 1993 are set out in paragraph 6 of the Directors’ Report.
Keppel T&T Share Plans
At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 21 April 2010, the Company’s shareholders approved the
adoption of two new share plans, namely, the KT&T Restricted Share Plan (“KT&T RSP”) and the KT&T Performance
Share Plan (“KT&T PSP”) with effect from the date of termination of the KT&T Share Option Scheme. The KT&T Share
Option Scheme was terminated on 2 July 2010. Options granted and outstanding prior to the termination will continue
to be valid and subject to the terms and conditions of the KT&T Share Option Scheme. The two share plans are
administered by the Remuneration Committee.
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Details of the KT&T RSP and KT&T PSP are as follows:
			

KT&T RSP

KT&T PSP

		 Plan Description
			
			
			

Award of fully-paid ordinary shares of the
Company, conditional on achievement of
pre-determined targets at the end of a
one-year performance period

Award of fully-paid ordinary shares of the
Company, conditional on achievement of
pre-determined targets over a three-year
performance period

		 Performance Conditions Return on Equity (“ROE”)
a)
					
				
b)
					
				
c)
					
					
		 Final Award
			
			

0% or 100% of the contingent award
granted, depending on achievement of
pre-determined targets

		 Vesting Condition
If pre-determined targets are achieved,
		 and Schedule
awards will vest equally over three years
		
subject to fulfillment of service requirements
				

Absolute Economic Value Added
(“EVA”)
Absolute Total Shareholder’s Return
(“TSR”)
Relative Total Shareholder’s Return
to FTSE Straits Times Mid Cap
Index (“FSTM”)

0% - 150% of the contingent award
granted, depending on achievement of
pre-determined targets
If pre-determined targets are achieved,
awards will vest at the end of the three 		
year performance subject to fulfillment
of service requirements

Movements in the number of shares under KT&T RSP and KT&T PSP are as follows:
		
			

2010
KT&T RSP
KT&T PSP

At 1 January
Granted
Adjustment
Vested
Cancelled

553,500
(52,500)

180,000
-

At 31 December

501,000

180,000

Senior management who are eligible for KT&T PSP are required to hold a portion of the shares released to them under
a share ownership guideline which requires them to maintain a beneficial ownership stake in the Company, thus further
aligning their interests with shareholders.
At the end of the financial year, the number of contingent shares granted but not released were 501,000 under KT&T
RSP and 180,000 under the KT&T PSP. Depending on the achievement of pre-determined performance targets, the
actual number of shares to be released could be zero or 501,000 under KT&T RSP and range from zero to a maximum
of 270,000 under KT&T PSP.
The fair values of the contingent award of shares under the KT&T RSP and KT&T PSP are determined at the grant date
using Monte Carlo simulation method which involves projection of future outcomes using statistical distributions of key
random variables including share price and volatility.
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On 2 July 2010, the Company granted contingent awards of 553,500 shares under the KT&T RSP and 180,000 shares
under the KT&T PSP.
		
			
			
Date of grant
Prevailing share price at date of grant
Expected volatility:
		 Company
		 FTSE Straits Times Mid Cap Index (“FSTM”)
Correlation with FSTM
Expected term
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield
Fair value of shares granted

KT&T RSP
$’000

2010
KT&T PSP
$’000

02.07.10
$1.25

02.07.10
$1.25

91.81%
0.5 - 2.5 years
0.45% - 0.59%
2.40%
$1.20

91.81%
40.17%
80.0%
2.5 years
0.59%
2.40%
$1.08

The expected volatilities are based on the historical volatilities of the Company’s share price and the FSTM price over the
previous 36 months immediately preceding the grant date. The expected term used in the model is based on the grant
date and the end of the performance period.
12.

Reserves

		
			
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Capital reserves
		 Share option and share plan reserve
		 Fair value reserve
		 Hedging reserve
		 Statutory reserve
			
Revenue reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve

5,320
8
(13)
6,176
11,491
265,719
(9,244)

4,643
259
(248)
5,472
10,126
225,398
(13,290)

4,350
4,350
46,524
-

3,477
3,477
57,280
-

			

267,966

222,234

50,874

60,757

Share option and share plan reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to employees under the
KT&T Share Option Scheme and contingent award of shares granted to employees under the KT&T Restricted Share
Plan (“KT&T RSP”) and the KT&T Performance Share Plan (“KT&T PSP”), and share of associated company’s share
option reserve.
Hedging reserve comprise the share of associated company’s reserve which records the portion of the fair value
changes on its derivative financial instruments designated as hedge instruments in the cash flow hedges that is
determined to be an effective hedge.
Statutory reserve comprise mainly required fund set aside on the appropriation of net profit by subsidiaries and
associated companies in People’s Republic of China and Thailand, in accordance with regulations governed in the
respective countries.
Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.
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13.

Fixed Assets

			
		
Leasehold
		
Land and
		
Buildings
		
$’000

Plant,
Equipment
and
Vehicles
$’000

Capital
Work-inProgress
$’000

Total
$’000

GROUP
2010
Cost
At 1 January
Additions
Subsidiary disposed
Disposals
Reclassification of assets
Write-off
Exchange differences arising on consolidation
Intergroup purchase/(sale)

207,636
253
(548)
1,947
(68)
(500)
-

48,538
3,158
(1,436)
(1,956)
(976)
(2,253)
(587)
24,622

27,373
11,167
(971)
(68)
(24,622)

283,547
14,578
(1,436)
(2,504)
(2,321)
(1,155)
-

At 31 December

208,720

69,110

12,879

290,709

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1 January
Depreciation for the year
Impairment write-back (Note 8)
Subsidiary disposed
Disposals
Reclassification of assets
Write-off
Exchange differences arising on consolidation

100,329
3,308
(1,300)
(46)
450
(61)
(160)

36,762
4,001
(1,398)
(1,940)
(450)
(2,038)
(463)

-

137,091
7,309
(1,300)
(1,398)
(1,986)
(2,099)
(623)

At 31 December

102,520

34,474

-

136,994

Net Book Value

106,200

34,636

12,879

153,715
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Leasehold
		
Land and
		
Buildings
		
$’000

Plant,
Equipment
and
Vehicles
$’000

Capital
Work-inProgress
$’000

Total
$’000

GROUP
2009
Cost
At 1 January
Additions
Subsidiary disposed
Disposals
Reclassification of assets
Write-off
Exchange differences arising on consolidation

210,781
200
53
(1,645)
(1,753)

51,678
1,961
(3,465)
(1,285)
1,955
(1,071)
(1,235)

2,842
27,598
(2,008)
(862)
(197)

265,301
29,759
(3,465)
(1,285)
(3,578)
(3,185)

At 31 December

207,636

48,538

27,373

283,547

98,615
3,188
697
(1,645)
(526)

40,049
3,140
3
(3,381)
(1,123)
(1,010)
(916)

-

138,664
6,328
700
(3,381)
(1,123)
(2,655)
(1,442)

At 31 December

100,329

36,762

-

137,091

Net Book Value

107,307

11,776

27,373

146,456

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1 January
Depreciation for the year
Impairment loss (Note 8)
Subsidiary disposed
Disposals
Write-off
Exchange differences arising on consolidation

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s capital-work-in-progress of $12,879,000 relates mainly to expenditure for
construction of a distribution centre in China. In 2009, the Group’s capital-work-in-progress of $27,373,000 relates to
expenditure for data centre and construction of a distribution centre.
Impairment write-back of $1,300,000 during the year relates to the write-back of loss in value of leasehold building. In
2009, an impairment loss of $700,000 during the year relates largely to the write-down of leasehold building from the
cessation of rail business in Foshan, China.
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14.

Subsidiaries

		
		
		

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Unquoted shares, at cost
Less: Loans owing to subsidiaries
		
Impairment losses
		

204,079
(2,065)
202,014
(128,697)

204,437
(12,220)
192,217
(123,540)

73,317

68,677

123,540
5,893
(723)
(13)

118,831
5,018
(309)
-

128,697

123,540

Movements in the impairment losses of the subsidiaries are as follows:
At 1 January
Allowance made
Allowance written-back
Allowance written-off
		

The loans owing to subsidiaries are interest-free, unsecured and not expected to be repayable within the next twelve
months.
Information relating to significant subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements is given in Note 33.
15.

Associated Companies and Jointly Controlled Entities

		
			
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Unquoted shares, at cost
Quoted shares, at cost
		 Market value: $438,826,000
		 (2009: $349,405,000)
Impairment losses
			
Share of post-acquisition reserves
			
Advances to associated companies

230,839
125,087

231,844
123,814

6,621
-

6,621
-

(2,075)
353,851
(48,183)
305,668
23,687

(531)
355,127
(75,521)
279,606
23,777

6,621
6,621
-

6,621
6,621
-

			

329,355

303,383

6,621

6,621

Advances to associated companies are unsecured and are not repayable within the next twelve months. The advances
are interest-free except for an advance of $1,689,000 (2009: $1,779,000) which bears interest at rate of 3.25% (2009:
5.00% to 7.25%) per annum.
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The summarised financial information of associated companies and jointly controlled entities, not adjusted for the
proportion of ownership interest held by the Group, are as follows:
		
		
		
Assets
Liabilities
Revenues
Attributable profit before exceptional items
Attributable profit after exceptional items

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

1,955,989
1,196,771
2,106,530
256,577
256,786

1,651,757
991,688
1,732,868
222,591
222,591

Included in unquoted shares are the costs of investment attributable to the jointly controlled entities of $5,150,000
(2009: $5,000,000). The current year profit and cumulative share of post-acquisition reserves attributable to the jointly
controlled entities are $1,046,000 (2009: $1,057,000) and $3,269,000 (2009: $3,564,000) respectively.
Information relating to significant associated companies and the jointly controlled entities equity accounted in the
financial statements is given in Note 33.
16.

Other Investments

		
			
			

2010
$’000

Group
2009
$’000

Available-for-sale financial assets:
		 Shares in corporations (quoted)
		 Shares in corporations (unquoted)

23
4,530

304
10,023

			

4,553

10,327

17.

Long-term Receivable
The long-term receivable of the Company at year-end of $43,274,000 (2009: $nil) consists of interest bearing loans due
from a subsidiary which are not expected to be repaid within the next twelve months. The loans bear interest at swap
offer rate (“SOR”) plus 0.83% (2009: nil) at 1.12% (2009: nil) per annum and are repayable in December 2012.

18.

Stocks and Work-in-progress

		
			
			

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Stocks, at cost:
		 Spare parts and consumable stocks, at cost
		 Provision for stock obsolescence

1,165
(137)

2,368
(420)

			

1,028

1,948

Work-in-progress, at cost
		 Cost incurred and attributable profits

1,267

316

2,295

2,264

Total stocks and work-in-progress
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19.

Debtors

		
			
			
Trade debtors
Sundry debtors
Sundry deposits
Interest receivable
Allowance for impairment
Net trade and other debtors
Prepayments
Tax receivable
Total debtors

Group

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

20,645
2,898
770
3
(980)
23,336

20,103
3,542
920
7
(2,285)
22,287

3
3

2
2

923
739

1,300
743

3
102

3
102

24,998

24,330

108

107

Trade debtors
Trade debtors are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms. They are recognised at their original
invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. Trade and other debtors that are neither past due
nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records.
Debtors that are past due but not impaired
The Group has trade and other debtors amounting to $8,127,000 (2009: $7,724,000) that are past due at the balance
sheet date but not impaired. These debtors are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements and the analysis
of their aging at the balance sheet date is as follows:
		
			
			

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Past due by:
		 Lesser than 3 months
		 3 to 6 months
		 Over 6 months

7,568
469
90

6,519
816
389

-

-

			

8,127

7,724

-

-
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Debtors that are impaired
The Group’s trade and other debtors that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the allowance
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:
		
			
			
Gross amount
Less: Allowance for impairment
			

Group
2010
$’000
980
(980)

2009
$’000

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

2,285
(2,285)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Movement in the allowance accounts:
		
			
			
At 1 January
Exchange differences
Allowance made
Allowance written-back
Allowance written-off
Company disposed
At 31 December

Group

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2,285
(50)
502
(16)
(1,741)
-

2,671
(197)
309
(134)
(66)
(298)

-

-

2,285

-

-

980

Trade and other debtors that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to debtors that
are in significant difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These debtors are not secured by any collateral or credit
enhancements.

92

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
Report to Shareholders 2010

20.

Amounts Owing by/(to) Holding and Related Companies

		
			
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Amounts owing by:
		 Related companies
			 Trade accounts
				

519
519

2,116
2,116

		 Related companies
			 Non-trade accounts
			 Loan accounts
			 Less : Allowance for impairment

142
-

95
-

				

661

Amounts owing to:
		 Related companies
			 Trade accounts
				

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

-

-

1
44,162
(13,689)

1
52,005
(3,749)

2,211

30,474

48,257

(9)
(9)

(163)
(163)

-

-

-

-

		 Holding company
			 Non-trade accounts
		 Related companies
			 Non-trade accounts

(143)

(59)

(168)

(295)

(52)

(37)

				

(320)

(517)

(52)

(37)

Trade amounts are repayable within normal trading terms. The non-trade and loan amounts are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of holding and related companies’ balances are largely denominated
in Singapore Dollars. Related companies of the Group refer to subsidiaries of Keppel Corporation Limited.
Trade amounts that are past due but not impaired
The Group has trade accounts owing by related companies amounting to $223,000 (2009: $1,069,000) that are past
due at the balance sheet date but not impaired and the analysis of their aging at the balance sheet date is as follows:
		
			
			

Group

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Past due by:
		 Lesser than 3 months
		 3 to 6 months
		 Over 6 months

203
20
-

383
4
682

-

-

			

223

1,069

-

-
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21.
Amounts Owing by/(to) Associated Companies
		
			
			

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Amounts owing by associated companies
		 Trade accounts
		 Less: Allowance for impairment

2,688
(60)

2,395
(442)

			

2,628

1,953

		 Non-trade accounts
		 Advances
		 Less: Allowance for impairment

768
1,358
(179)

683
10,797
(182)

			

1,947

11,298

			

4,575

13,251

Group

Amounts owing to associated companies
		 Trade accounts
		 Non-trade accounts

(142)
(23)

(37)
(151)

			

(165)

(188)

Trade amounts are repayable within normal trading terms. Advances owing are interest-free, unsecured and repayable
on demand except for an advance of $1,245,000 (2009: $9,470,000) which bears interest at 12.50% (2009: 5.31% to
12.50%) per annum. The carrying amounts of associated companies’ balances are largely denominated in Singapore
Dollars.
Trade amounts that are past due but not impaired
The Group has trade accounts owing by associated companies amounting to $1,527,000 (2009: $1,324,000) that
are past due at the balance sheet date but not impaired and the analysis of their aging at the balance sheet date is as
follows:
		
			
			

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Past due by:
		 Lesser than 3 months
		 3 to 6 months
		 Over 6 months

1,009
424
94

865
168
291

			

1,527

1,324

94
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Trade amounts that are impaired
The Group’s trade accounts owing by associated companies that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the
movement of the allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:
		
			
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

60
(60)

Gross amount
Less: Allowance for impairment

442
(442)

-

			

-

Movement in the allowance accounts:
		
			
			

Group
2010
$’000

At 1 January
Allowance made
Allowance written-back
At 31 December

2009
$’000

442
(382)

526
101
(185)

60

442

Trade amounts owing by associated companies that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet
date relate to companies that have defaulted on payments. These amounts are not secured by any collateral or credit
enhancements.
22.

Fixed Deposits, Bank Balances and Cash

		
				
			

Group

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Fixed deposits:
		 Related companies
		 Banks
			
Bank balances and cash

32,451
19,838
52,289
9,180

33,181
29,921
63,102
7,911

7,594
7,594
36

11,287
11,287
21

			

61,469

71,013

7,630

11,308

Deposits placed with related companies are made for varying periods of between 1 to 112 days (2009: 1 to 98 days).
These deposits earn interest at rates ranging from 0.002% to 0.515% (2009: 0.01% to 0.58%) per annum.
Deposits placed with banks are made for varying periods of between 7 days and 12 months (2009: 7 days and 12
months) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group. These deposits earn interest at rates ranging
from 0.10% to 5.50% (2009: 0.03% to 9.89%) per annum.
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23.

Creditors

		
				
			

Group

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Trade creditors
Advances from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries
Deposits from customers
Retention monies
Accrued expenses

18,553
984
2,318
6
15,955

17,070
3,326
2,367
6
16,283

6
496

6
489

Trade and other creditors

37,816

39,052

502

495

2,279

3,403

-

-

40,095

42,455

502

495

Provision for staff compensation and restructuring costs
Total creditors

Amounts due to trade creditors are non-interest bearing. Advances from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are
interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.
Restructuring
Restructuring cost provisions amounting to $2,279,000 (2009: $3,403,000) are in connection with the winding down
of the non-core businesses. The provisions are the expected costs based on best estimate of the direct expenditures
to be incurred for the restructuring of the Group’s activities when a detailed and formal restructuring plan has been
approved, and the restructuring has either commenced or has been announced publicly.
Details of movements in the restructuring cost provisions are as follows:
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Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

At 1 January
Exchange differences
(Write-back)/provided during the year
Provision written off
Utilised during the year

3,403
(274)
(227)
(623)

2,942
3,417
(2,420)
(536)

At 31 December

2,279

3,403
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24.

Short-term Borrowings

		
				
			

Group

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Short-term portion of long-term loans from a
		 related company, unsecured (Note 25)
Loans from a related company, unsecured

1,000
21,506

1,000
57,399

10,029

-

			

22,506

58,399

10,029

-

		Unsecured loans from a related company are repayable within 1 year and bear interest at rates ranging from 0.98% to
1.46% (2009: 1.01% to 2.77%) per annum.
25.

Long-term Borrowings

		
				
			

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

148,214
(1,000)

134,000
(1,000)

26,214
-

-

			
Bank borrowings, unsecured

147,214
-

133,000
15,000

26,214
-

-

			

147,214

148,000

26,214

-

Loans from a related company, unsecured
Less: Short-term portion (Note 24)

Unsecured loans from a related company include:
(a)

$48,000,000 (2009: $50,000,000) that are repayable in full in January 2012 and bear interest at Cost of Funds plus
1.0% ranging from 1.73% to 2.38% (2009: 1.12% to 2.38%) per annum;

(b)

$41,000,000 (2009: $42,000,000) of which $2,000,000 is repayable over 2 years in 8 installments and
$39,000,000 pertains to a final payment in December 2012 and bear interest at swap offer rate (“SOR”) plus 0.6%
(2009: SOR plus 0.6%) ranging from 0.86% to 1.37% (2009: 1.23% to 2.09%) per annum;

(c)

$33,000,000 (2009: Nil) that are repayable in full in December 2012 and bear interest at SOR plus 0.83%
(2009: Nil) at 1.12% (2009: Nil) per annum.

(d)

$26,214,000 (2009: Nil) that are repayable in full in December 2012 and bear interest at SOR plus 0.83%
(2009: Nil) at 1.12% (2009: Nil) per annum.

The interest rates of these floating rate loans are repriced at intervals of 3 months.
Unsecured loan from a related company of $30,000,000 at 31 December 2009 which bears interest at SOR plus 0.5%,
ranging from 1.12% to 1.55% was fully repaid during the year.
Unsecured loan of $12,000,000 at 31 December 2009 which is repayable in June 2011 and bears interest at SOR plus
0.88%, ranging from 1.4% to 2.52% was reclassified to short-term borrowings as it will be repayable within 1 year.
Unsecured bank borrowings of $15,000,000 at 31 December 2009 which bear interest at SOR plus 2.45%, ranging from
3.21% to 3.46% was fully repaid during the year.
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26.

Related Party Disclosures
An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Group for the purposes of the financial statements if: (i) it
possesses the ability (directly or indirectly) to control or exercise significant influence over the operating and financial
decisions of the Group or vice versa; or (ii) it is subject to common control or common significant influence.
(a)

Sale and Purchase of Goods and Services
During the year, the Group entered into transactions with related parties on commercial terms, as shown below:

		
		
		

Holding company
Related companies
Associated companies
Jointly controlled entity

Sale of goods
and rendering
of services
2010
2009
$’000
$’000
1
2,006
5,651
-

Purchase of goods
and receiving
of services
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

19
9,181
5,472
-

(555)
(641)
(91)
-

(1)
(569)
(5)
(7)

Management fees
received/(paid)
2010
2009
$’000
$’000
(284)
60

Rental of
premises
2010
2009
$’000
$’000
2
996
148
-

(419)
60

4
2,930
240
-

Other transactions entered by the Group with related parties are disclosed in Notes 6 & 7.
(b)

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

		
		
		

Group

Short-term employee benefits
Central Provident Fund contributions
Share options and share plans granted
		

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

1,775
56
511

1,531
52
265

2,342

1,848

No share options and share plans of the Company have been granted to the Company’s directors.
27.

Capital Commitments
Capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements in respect of contracts placed for:

		
		
		
Purchases of shares in other companies
Purchases of plant and machinery
Purchases of software and hardware
Construction of leasehold building
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Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

43,132
88
145
6,538

6,210
41
2
-

49,903

6,253
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28.

Lease Commitments
(a)

Operating Lease Commitments as Lessor
The Group has entered into property leases on its leasehold and rented properties. These non-cancellable leases
have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 1 month and 5 years.
Future minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable leases are as follows:
Group

			
			
Not later than one year
Later than one year not later than five years
			
(b)

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

13,630
17,926

6,169
4,432

31,556

10,601

Operating Lease Commitments as Lessee
The Group has entered into operating lease agreements largely for leasehold properties. These non-cancellable
leases have remaining lease terms of between 1 month and 30 years.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as follows:
Group

			
			
Not later than one year
Later than one year not later than five years
Later than five years
			
29.

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

7,253
15,021
48,549

6,830
16,874
51,446

70,823

75,150

Segment Analysis
The Group is organised into three main business segments namely the Logistics, Data Centre and Investments.

		The Logistics segment provides port operations, integrated logistics services, supply chain solutions, warehousing,
distribution, container storage and repairs and freight forwarding services operating mainly in Singapore, Malaysia and
China.
The Data Centre segment provides data centre facilities and co-location services including business continuity and
disaster recovery services.
The Investments segment is the investment holding arm for various entities not within the Logistics and Data Centre
segments.
The Group’s analysis of geographical segments is based on the location in which the Group’s activities are carried out.
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis.
Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with
third parties. Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between business segments. These transfers
are eliminated on consolidation.
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Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss
which is measured in the same manner as the operating profit in the consolidated financial statements.
2010
Business Segments
						 Adjustments/ Consolidated
			
Logistics Data Centre Investments Eliminations
Total
			
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

85,738
3,990

6,885
-

15,139
89

(4,079)

107,762
-

Total

89,728

6,885

15,228

(4,079)

107,762

14,438
1,105
(495)

1,234
4
(8)

(3,287)		
116		
(2,447)		

12,385
1,225
(2,950)

12,172
27,220
43
27,263
(3,936)

4,495
5,725
5,725
4,571

47,715		
42,097		
(4,616)		
37,481		
(10,371)		

64,382
75,042
(4,573)
70,469
(9,736)

23,327

10,296

27,110		

60,733

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
		 Profit before exceptional items
		 Exceptional items
			
Non-controlling interests

20,679
43
20,722
2,605

10,296
10,296
-

31,157		
(4,580)		
26,577		
533		

62,132
(4,537)
57,595
3,138

			

23,327

10,296

27,110		

60,733

Other Information
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

248,789
(104,214)

96,872
(64,286)

369,532
(178,031)

(133,572)
133,572

581,621
(212,959)

Net assets

144,575

32,586

191,501

-

368,662

59,269
13,392
5,703
-

51,655
3,478
1,141
-

218,431		
1,620		
465		
6,905		

329,355
18,490
7,309
6,905

Segment results
Operating profit/(loss)
Interest income
Interest expense
Share of results of associated companies
		 and jointly controlled entities
Profit before tax and exceptional items
Exceptional items
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit for the year

Investment in associated companies
		 and jointly controlled entities
Additions to non-current assets
Depreciation
Impairment losses
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By Geographical Location
					
			
			
		
Singapore
		
$’000
External sales
Non-current assets

68,930
291,144

Far East
and ASEAN
other than		 Consolidated
Singapore
Others
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
36,601
131,771

2,231
64,708

107,762
487,623

2009 (Restated)
Business Segments
						 Adjustments/ Consolidated
			
Logistics Data Centre Investments Eliminations
Total
			
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

92,003
3,780

-

21,333
209

(3,989)

113,336
-

Total

95,783

-

21,542

(3,989)

113,336

12,964
1,270
(752)

(155)
-

(4,500)		
160		
(2,255)		

8,309
1,430
(3,007)

10,462
23,944
(1,159)
22,785
(2,172)

5,252
5,097
5,097
(219)

42,809		
36,214		
(7,437)		
28,777		
(6,603)		

58,523
65,255
(8,596)
56,659
(8,994)

20,613

4,878

22,174		

47,665

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
		 Profit before exceptional items
		 Exceptional items
			
Non-controlling interests

19,047
(870)
18,177
2,436

4,878
4,878
-

28,990		
(7,437)		
21,553		
621		

52,915
(8,307)
44,608
3,057

			

20,613

4,878

22,174		

47,665

Segment results
Operating profit/(loss)
Interest income
Interest expense
Share of results of associated companies
		 and jointly controlled entity
Profit before tax and exceptional items
Exceptional items
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit for the year
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						 Adjustments/ Consolidated
			
Logistics Data Centre Investments Eliminations
Total
			
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Other Information
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

265,042
(125,819)

41,024
(24,648)

391,505
(225,107)

(124,336)
124,336

573,235
(251,238)

Net assets

139,223

16,376

166,398

-

321,997

56,874
7,654
5,660
344

40,912
-

205,597		
24,981		
668		
4,392		

303,383
32,635
6,328
4,736

Investment in associated companies
		 and jointly controlled entity
Additions to non-current assets
Depreciation
Impairment losses
By Geographical Location

					
			
			
		
Singapore
		
$’000
External sales
Non-current assets

69,248
285,398

Far East
and ASEAN
other than		 Consolidated
Singapore
Others
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
37,384
122,923

6,704
51,845

113,336
460,166

Notes:
(a) The Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, and has three reportable operating segments namely Logistics,
Data Centre and Investments. The Logistics division provides port operations, integrated logistics services, supply chain solutions, warehousing,
distribution, container storage and repairs and freight forwarding services. The Data Centre division provides data centre facilities and co-location
services including business continuity and disaster recovery services. The Investments division is the investment holding arm of various entities not
within the Logistics and Data Centre divisions.
(b) Pricing of inter-segment sales is at fair market value.
(c) Segment assets and liabilities are those used in the operation of each segment.
(d) In 2009, the Group had three principal operating businesses, namely Logistics, Data Centre & Networks and Investments. During the financial
year ended 31 December 2010, the Group took the decision to separate the Networks segment from the Data Centre segment, and integrate the
Networks segment with the Investments segment as a result of a change in the business structure. The Group has restated the corresponding
segment information for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

30.

Fair Values
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled between
knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
Financial instruments whose carrying amount approximate fair value
Management has determined that the carrying amount of cash and short-term deposits, current trade and other
receivables, current trade and other payables, based on their notional amount, reasonably approximate their fair values
because these are mostly short-term in nature.
Management has determined that the carrying amount of long-term borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values
because they bear interest at floating rates which approximate the current incremental borrowing rates for similar types
of lending and borrowing arrangement.
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Financial instruments carried at fair value
The Group has carried all long-term investments that are classified as available-for-sale financial assets at their fair value.
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy:
		
		
			
			
			
			
			

Group
$’000
Quoted
prices in
active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)

Total

23
-

4,530

23
4,530

23

4,530

4,553

Financial assets:
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 16)
		 Equity instruments (quoted)
		 Equity instruments (unquoted)
At 31 December 2010

Fair value hierarchy
The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy have the following levels:
Level 1 –
Level 2 –
			
Level 3 –

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, either
directly (ie. as prices) or indirectly (ie. derived from prices), and
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Methods and assumptions used to determine fair values
The methods and assumptions used by management to determine fair values of financial instruments other than those
whose carrying amounts reasonably approximate their fair values as mentioned earlier, are as follows:
Financial assets and liabilities
		
(a) Quoted equity investments
		
(Fair value hierarchy Level 1)
			

Methods and assumptions

(b) Unquoted equity investments
		
(Fair value hierarchy Level 3)
			

Fair value has been determined based on the net asset value
per share as reported by the managers of these funds, less
impairment.
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Fair value has been determined by reference to stock
exchange quoted market prices at the close of business on the
balance sheet date.
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Movements in level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value
The following table presents the reconciliation for all financial instruments measured at fair value based on significant
unobservable inputs (level 3).
		
Available-for-sale financial assets
Equity Instruments (unquoted)
At 1 January
Currency alignment
Total losses in other comprehensive income
Impairment losses
Purchases
Capital paid
Capital distribution
At 31 December

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

10,023
(414)
(976)
(5,441)
2,071
31
(764)

14,599
(919)
(3,887)
230
-

4,530

10,023

There are no financial instruments transferred between level 1, level 2 and level 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the
financial year.
31.

Financial Risk Management
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise loans and cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk,
credit risk and market price risk. The details regarding the Group’s exposure to these risks and the objectives, policies
and processes for the management of these risks are summarised below.
31.1 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk
arises primarily from fixed deposits and debt obligations. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge its interest rate risks. All of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at floating
rates are contractually repriced at intervals not exceeding 6 months (2009: not exceeding 6 months) from the
balance sheet date.
The Group’s policy is to manage interest cost using a mix of fixed and floating rate debts. The Group manages
interest cost by borrowing from its related company which charges interest at prevailing market rates (Notes 24
and 25).
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
At the balance sheet date, if interest rates had been 75 (2009: 75) basis points lower/higher with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit net of tax would have been $720,000 (2009: $881,000) higher/lower,
arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest income on fixed deposits, lower/higher interest expense on
floating rate loans from a related company and lower/higher interest income on floating rate loan to an associated
company. The Company’s profit net of tax would have been $178,000 (2009: $71,000) higher/lower arising
mainly from lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans from a related company and lower/higher interest
income on fixed deposits.
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31.2 Foreign Currency Risk
Transactional risk
The Group has entities whose functional currencies are primarily Singapore Dollar, Chinese Renminbi and
Malaysian Ringgit. These entities regularly transact in currencies other than their respective functional currencies
and the foreign currencies in which these entities transact are mainly in US Dollar, Malaysian Ringgit, Chinese
Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar.
Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. When a natural hedge is not
available, it is the Group’s policy to hedge these risks using appropriate financial instruments with the objective
of limiting the effect of changes in foreign currency fluctuations. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into forward
contracts until a firm commitment is in place. At the balance sheet date, the Group entities did not enter into any
hedge derivatives.
Approximately 9% (2009: 10%) of the Group’s sales and 3% (2009: 3%) of Group’s costs are denominated in
foreign currencies. The Group’s trade receivable and trade payable balances at the balance sheet date have
similar exposures. The Group and the Company also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign
currencies for working capital purposes.
Translational risk
The Group is exposed to currency translation risk arising from its investments in foreign operations, including
People’s Republic of China and Malaysia. The Group’s net investments in these foreign entities are not hedged
as currency positions are considered to be long-term in nature.
The carrying amounts of significant financial assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective entities are as follows:
		
			
			
			
Group
Financial Assets:
Debtors
Other investments
Fixed deposits, bank
		 balances and cash
Financial Liabilities:
Creditors
Company
Financial Assets:
Fixed deposits, bank
		 balances and cash

Notes to the Financial Statements

2010
Malaysian Hong Kong
Ringgit
Dollar
$’000
$’000

Chinese
Renminbi
$’000

US
Dollar
$’000

28
-

214
522

-

-

792

-

-

2009
Malaysian Hong Kong
Ringgit
Dollar
$’000
$’000

Chinese
Renminbi
$’000

US
Dollar
$’000

1,901
-

16
-

979
1,780

106
-

1,385
-

287

128

-

1,098

709

44

300

-

932

-

265

407

659

4

-

-

-

1

-

-
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Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change by 5% (2009: 5%) in the
Chinese Renminbi, US Dollar, Malaysian Ringgit and Hong Kong Dollar exchange rates (against Singapore Dollar),
with all other variables held constant, the effects of the Group’s profit after tax and equity will be as follows:
		
		
				
				
				
Chinese Renminbi
		 - strengthened
		 - weakened
US Dollar
		 - strengthened
		 - weakened
Malaysian Ringgit
		 - strengthened
		 - weakened
Hong Kong Dollar
		 - strengthened
		 - weakened

Group
2010
2009
Profit		
Profit
after tax
Equity
after tax
Equity
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

1
(1)

796
(796)

1
(1)

1,197
(1,197)

50
(50)

166
(166)

149
(149)

588
(588)

12
(12)

(13)
13

16
(16)

(123)
123

46
(46)

190
(190)

32
(32)

142
(142)

31.3 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations
due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to
maintain sufficient cash and continuity of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.
The Group’s funding is obtained from bank loans and borrowings from a related company.
At balance sheet date, approximately 13% and 28% (2009: 28% and nil%) of the Group’s and the Company’s
borrowings (Notes 24 and 25) will mature in less than one year based on the carrying amount reflected in the
financial statements.
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
at the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
1 year
or less
$’000

2010
1 to 5
years
$’000

1 year
or less
$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

Financial Assets:
Debtors
Other receivables
Fixed deposits, bank balance and cash

23,336
5,236
61,649

-

22,287
15,462
71,013

-

Total undiscounted financial assets

90,221

-

108,762

-

Financial Liabilities:
Creditors
Other liabilities
Borrowings

37,816
485
22,522

150,163

39,052
705
58,484

154,684

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

60,823

150,163

98,241

154,684

Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)

29,398

(150,163)

10,521

(154,684)

Financial Assets:
Debtors
Other receivables
Fixed deposits, bank balance and cash

108
30,474
7,630

43,274
-

107
48,257
11,308

-

Total undiscounted financial assets

38,212

43,274

59,672

-

Financial Liabilities:
Creditors
Other liabilities
Borrowings

502
52
10,035

26,804

495
37
-

-

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

10,589

26,804

532

-

Total net undiscounted financial assets

27,623

16,470

59,140

-

		
			
			
			

2009

Group

Company
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31.4 Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should counter-parties default on
its obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other
financial assets, the Group minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counter-parties. At
the balance sheet date, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counter-parties fail to
perform their obligations in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as indicated in the balance sheet, and is generally limited to the amounts, if any, by which the counterparty’s obligations exceed the obligations of the Group.
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased
credit risk exposure. It is the Group’s policy to enter into financial instruments with a diversity of creditworthy
counter-parties. The Group does not expect to incur material credit losses on its financial assets or other
financial instruments.
Concentration of credit risk exist when changes in economic, industry or geographical factors similarly affect
the group of counter-parties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s total
credit exposure. The Group’s portfolio of financial instruments is broadly diversified along industry, product and
geographic lines, and transactions are entered into with diverse credit-worthy counter-parties, thereby mitigating
any significant concentration of credit risk.
Credit risk concentration profile
The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profile of its
trade and other debtors on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade and other
debtors at balance sheet date is as follows:
		
		
		
By country:
Singapore
People’s Republic of China
Malaysia
Other countries
		
By industry sectors:
Logistics
Data Centre
Investments
		

108

Group
$’000

2010
% of total

$’000

2009
% of total

12,019
5,018
1,204
5,095

52%
21%
5%
22%

12,166
4,091
1,182
4,848

55%
18%
5%
22%

23,336

100%

22,287

100%

18,868
1,653
2,815

81%
7%
12%

18,041
4,246

81%
19%

23,336

100%

22,287

100%
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31.5 Market Price Risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates). The Group is exposed to equity
price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity instrument which is quoted on the SGX-ST in Singapore
and classified as available-for-sale financial asset under long-term investment. The Group does not have
exposure to commodity price risk.
Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk
At the balance sheet date, if the quoted price of equity instrument had been 1 cent higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s other reserve in equity would have been $8,000 (2009: $68,000) higher/lower,
arising as a result of an increase/decrease in the fair value of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale.
32.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares, buy-back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.
The Group’s and the Company’s strategies towards maintaining an optimal capital structure is through constant
monitoring of its gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total borrowings less fixed deposits, bank and cash balances. Total capital refers to the capital employed.

		
		
		

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Net debt

108,251

135,386

Total capital

368,662

321,997

29%

42%

Gearing ratio

The Group is in compliance with all imposed capital requirements for the financial years ended 31 December 2010 and
2009. The Company has borrowings of $36,243,000 (2009: $nil) as at year end.
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33.

Subsidiaries, Associated Companies and Jointly Controlled Entities
Information relating to the major subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly controlled entities whose results are
included in the financial statements are shown below:

			
			
			
		
			

Effective		
Equity
Cost of
Interest
Investment
2010
2009
2010
2009
%
%
$’000
$’000

Country of
Incorporation
and Operation

Principal
Activities

SUBSIDIARIES
Logistics
Keppel Logistics Pte Ltd
100
100
42,534
42,534
Singapore
								
								

Integrated logistics
services and supply
chain solutions

Keppel Logistics (Foshan) Limited (2)
70
70
15,645
15,645
China
							
								

Shipping operations,
warehousing and
distribution

Keppel Logistics (Hong Kong) Limited (6)
70
70
#
#
Hong Kong
								
								

Freight forwarding
and shipping
agencies

Steamers (HK) Limited (6)

100

100

-

-

Hong Kong

Investment holding

Transware Distribution Services Pte Ltd ^
50
50
#
#
Singapore
								

Warehousing and
distribution

TradeOneAsia Pte Ltd
100
98
#
#
Singapore
								
								

Provision of
procurement
services

Data Centre
Keppel Data Centres Pte Ltd
(formerly known as DataOne (Asia)
Pte Ltd)

100

100

26,500

26,500

Singapore

Keppel Datahub Pte Ltd
100
100
#
13
Singapore
								
								
Keppel Data Centre Investment
Management Pte Ltd
(formerly known as Apsilon
Technologies Pte Ltd)

Data centre facilities
and co-location
services

100

100

#

#

Singapore

Investment holding

Investments
Adfact Pte Ltd

100

100

17,435

17,435

Singapore

Investment holding

Apsilon Ventures Pte Ltd

100

100

75,101

75,101

Singapore

Investment holding

British Virgin
Islands

Venture capital
investments

Keppel IHT Investment Ltd (7)
100
100
26,864
26,864
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Effective		
Equity
Cost of
Interest
Investment
2010
2009
2010
2009
%
%
$’000
$’000

Country of
Incorporation
and Operation

Principal
Activities

Keppel Telecoms Pte Ltd
100
100
#
#
Singapore
								
								

Telecommunications
services and
investment holding

Keppel Communications Pte Ltd
100
100
#
#
Singapore
								
								
								
								

Trading and
provision of
communications
systems and
accessories

Trisilco Folec Philippines Inc (6)
55
55
#
#
Philippines
								
								
								
								

Marketing,
installation and
maintenance of
communications
systems

Trisilco Folec Pte Ltd
55
55
#
#
Singapore
								
								
								
								

Trading and
provision of
communications
systems and
accessories

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Logistics
Asia Airfreight Terminal Company
10
10
6,621
6,621
Hong Kong
Limited (3)& 						
								
			
Wuhu Annto Logistics Company Limited (4) 35
35
#
#
China
								
								
Indo-Trans Keppel Logistics
40
40
#
Vietnam
Vietnam Co Ltd (6)						
Data Centre
Citadel 100 Datacenters Limited (5)
50
50
#
#
Ireland
								
								
Investments
Advanced Research Group Co Ltd (1)
45
45
#
#
Thailand
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Operation of an air
cargo handling
terminal
Transportation,
warehousing and
distribution
Warehousing and
distribution

Data centre facilities
and co-location
services
IT publication and
business information
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Effective		
Equity
Cost of
Interest
Investment
2010
2009
2010
2009
%
%
$’000
$’000

Country of
Incorporation
and Operation

Business Online Public Company
22
22
#
#
Thailand
Limited (6)						

Principal
Activities

Online information
service provider

21
21
#
#
USA
Computer Generated Solutions Inc (6)
								
								

IT consulting and
outsourcing
provider

M1 Limited
20
20
#
#
Singapore
								

Telecommunications
services

ARIP Public Company Ltd (6)
21
#
#
Thailand
								
								
								
								
								

Publication of IT &
business information,
exhibition organiser
and online
information service
provider

ABIKS Development Co Ltd (6)
20
20
#
#
Thailand
								
								

Provision and
management of
office buildings

SVOA Public Company Limited (1)
32
32
#
#
Thailand
								
								
								

Distribution of IT
products and
telecommunications
services

Trisilco Radiance Communications
Sdn Bhd (1)
40
40
#
#
Malaysia
								
								
								
								

Sales, installation
and maintenance of
telecommunications
systems, equipment
and accessories

iCELL Network Pte Ltd (6)
30
30
#
#
Singapore
								
								
								

Provision of wireless
internet and
computer system
integration services

Trisilco Folec Sdn Bhd (6)
30
30
#
#
Malaysia
								
								
								
								

Trading and
provision of
communications
systems and
accessories
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Effective		
Equity
Cost of
Interest
Investment
2010
2009
2010
2009
%
%
$’000
$’000

Country of
Incorporation
and Operation

Principal
Activities

Singapore

Fund management

JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Data Centre
Securus Partners Pte Ltd

(6)

50

-

#

#

Investments
Radiance Communications Pte Ltd
50
50
#
#
Singapore
								
								
								
								

Distribution and
maintenance of
communications
equipment and
systems

Notes:
(a) All companies are audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore except for the following:
(1) Audited by overseas practice of Ernst & Young LLP.
(2) Audited by Crowe Horwath CPA, Guangdong, China.
(3) Audited by KPMG, Hong Kong.
(4) Audited by Zhonghui CPA, China.
(5) Audited by Grant Thornton, Ireland.
(6) Audited by other firms of Certified Public Accountants (not significant subsidiaries and associated companies).
(7) Not required to be audited by law in country of incorporation.
In accordance to Rule 716 of The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited – Listing Rules, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors of the
Company confirmed that they are satisfied that the appointment of different auditors for its subsidiaries, significant associated companies and jointly
controlled entities would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Company.
(b) #
(c) ^
(d) &

34.

The companies are indirectly held by Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd.
The Group has control over Transware Distribution Services Pte Ltd, a 50% owned company by virtue of its power to cast the majority of votes
(more than 50%) at meetings of the board of directors. Consequently, the company is consolidated as a subsidiary of the Group.
Although the Group holds less than 20 per cent of the voting power, Asia Airfreight Terminal Company Limited (AAT) is equity accounted in view of
the fact that the Group exercises significant influence by virtue of its right to appoint one director to the board of AAT.

Dividends

		
			
			

Group and Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Declared and paid during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares:
- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2009: 3.0 cents (2008: 3.0 cents) per share

16,570

16,568

19,333

16,568

Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 December:
Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholder’s approval at AGM
- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2010: 3.5 cents (2009: 3.0 cents) per share
35.

Authorisation of Financial Statements
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the directors on 14 February 2011.
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Statement by the Directors

We, TEO SOON HOE and REGGIE THEIN, being two of the Directors of Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd, do
hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors:
(a)

the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated profit and loss account, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, statements of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows together with the notes thereto set
out on pages 59 to 113 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
Company as at 31 December 2010, and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in
equity of the Company for the financial year then ended; and

(b)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as
and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board

TEO SOON HOE
Chairman

REGGIE THEIN
Director

Singapore, 14 February 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 113, which comprise the balance sheets of
the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2010, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company, the
consolidated profit and loss account, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash
flows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and
for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain
accountability of assets.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of
the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and the
results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that
date.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provision of the Act.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Audit Partner: Lim Siew Koon
Year Appointed: 2010
Singapore, 14 February 2011
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Corporate Governance

The Company believes in having high standards of corporate governance, and is committed to making sure that effective selfregulatory corporate practices exist to protect the interests of its shareholders and maximise long term shareholder value.
As required by the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”), the following report describes
the Company’s corporate governance practices with specific reference to the principles and guidelines set out in the Code of
Corporate Governance 20051 (the “Code”).
Board’s conduct of affairs
Principle 1: Effective Board to lead and control the Company
The Board’s responsibility is to oversee the business, assets, affairs and performance of the Company in the best interest of its
shareholders. The principle functions of the Board are to:
•
•
•
•

decide on matters in relation to the Group’s activities which are of a significant nature, including decisions on strategic
directions and guidelines and the approval of periodic plans and major investments and divestments;
oversee the business and affairs of the Company, establish, with management, the strategies and financial objectives to be
implemented by management, and monitor the performance of management;
oversee processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial reporting and compliance,
and satisfy itself as to the adequacy of such processes; and
assume responsibility for corporate governance.     

All Directors are expected to exercise independent judgment in the best interests of the Company. This is one of the
performance criteria for the peer and self assessment of the effectiveness of the individual Directors. Based on the results of
the peer and self assessment carried out by the Directors, all Directors have discharged this duty consistently well.
To assist the Board in the discharge of its oversight function, various Board committees, namely the Divestment and New
Investment Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration and Share Option Committee2 and
the Board Risk Committee have been constituted with clear written terms of reference. All the Board committees are actively
engaged and play an important role in ensuring good corporate governance in the Company and within the Group. The terms
of reference of the respective Board committees are disclosed in the Appendix to this report.
The Board is scheduled to meet six times in 2011. However, adhoc non-scheduled board meetings are convened as warranted
by particular circumstances. Telephonic attendance and conference via audio-visual communication at board meetings are
allowed under the Company’s Articles of Association. The number of board and board committee meetings held in 2010 and
the Directors’ attendance at these board and board committee meetings are disclosed below:
Attendance at board and board committee meetings
Board Committee Meetings
							
				 Remuneration		 Divestment
Board			
and Share		
and New
Director
Meetings
Audit Nominating
Option Board Risk Investment
Teo Soon Hoe
Tan Tin Wee
Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
Reggie Thein
Wee Sin Tho
Tan Boon Huat
Karmjit Singh*
No. of meetings held in 2010

7
7
7
5
6
7
3
7

4
4
4
4

1
1
1
1

3
4
4
4

4
4
4
4

*

Mr Karmjit Singh was appointed Director with effect from 1 October 2010.

1

The Code of Corporate Governance 2005 issued by the Ministry of Finance on 14 July 2005.
The Remuneration and Share Option Committee has been renamed Remuneration Committee with effect from 25 February 2011.

2
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The Company has adopted internal guidelines setting forth matters that require Board approval. Under these guidelines,
investments, acquisitions and disposals exceeding $30 million by any Group company, and all commitments to term loans and
lines of credit from banks and financial institutions by the Company, require the approval of the Board. Further, investments
or acquisitions of $30 million and below but which do not have strategic fit with the Company’s core business but which are
considered strategic investments for the long-term prospects of the Company, would require specific Board approval. Each
Board member has equal responsibility to oversee the business and affairs of the Company. Management on the other hand is
responsible for the day-to-day operation and administration of the Company in accordance with the policies and strategy set by
the Board.
A formal letter is sent to newly-appointed Directors upon their appointment explaining their duties and obligations as director.
All newly-appointed Directors also undergo an orientation programme which includes management presentations on the
Group’s businesses and strategic plans and objectives. The Directors are provided with continuing education in areas such as
finance, economics, management and committees’ duties and responsibilities so as to update and refresh them on matters that
affect their performance as Board or Board committee members.
Board composition and guidiance
Principle 2: Strong and independent element on the Board
The Board currently has a majority of independent Directors, with a total of seven Directors, six of whom are considered
independent3 by the Nominating Committee.
The Nominating Committee determines on an annual basis whether or not a Director is independent, bearing in mind the
Code’s definition of an “independent director” and guidance as to relationships the existence of which would deem a Director
not to be independent.
The Nominating Committee is of the view that taking into account the nature and scope of the Company’s operations, the
current size of the Board is appropriate for the time being for the Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively.
The Nominating Committee is of the view that the Board comprises Directors who as a group provide core competencies
such as accounting or finance, business or management experience, industry knowledge, strategic planning experience and
customer-based experience or knowledge, required for the Board to be effective.
The nature of the Directors’ appointments on the Board and details of their membership on Board committees are set out in the
Appendix hereto. The profile of each of the Directors is set out on pages 10 to 13 of this Annual Report.
The Board and management fully appreciate that fundamental to good corporate governance is an effective and robust board
whose members engage in open and constructive debate and challenge management on its assumptions and proposals, and
that for this to happen, the Board, in particular, the non-executive Directors, must be kept well informed of the Company’s
businesses and affairs and be knowledgeable about the industry in which the businesses operate. The Company has therefore
adopted initiatives to put in place processes to ensure that the non-executive Directors are well supported by accurate,
complete and timely information, have unrestricted access to management, and have sufficient time and resources to discharge
their oversight function effectively. These initiatives include providing the Board with project briefs at an early stage to keep the
Board abreast of the developments of the projects. A board strategy meeting was also organised in October 2010 for in-depth
discussions on strategic issues and directions for the Company.
During the year, the non-executive Directors met without the presence of management to discuss matters such as the
performance of the Chief Executive Officer, succession planning and senior management appointments.

3

The Code defines an “independent” Director as one who has no relationship with the company, its related companies or its officers that could interfere, or be
reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent business judgment with a view to the best interests of the company. A related
company in relation to a company includes its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries, or parent company.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer to be separate persons to ensure appropriate balance of power
and authority, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased
accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making. The Chairman is not related to the Chief
Executive Officer.
The Chairman, with the assistance of the Company Secretaries, schedules meetings and prepares meeting agenda in
consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, to enable the Board to perform its duties responsibly having regard to the flow of
the Company’s business and operations. The Chairman monitors the flow of information from management to the Board to
ensure that all Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. He also encourages constructive relations between the
Board and management, between the Chief Executive Officer and non-executive Directors and facilitate effective contributions
of the non-executive directors. The Chairman also assists in ensuring compliance with corporate governance guidelines set by
the Company, and that sound corporate governance practices are put in place.
The Chairman also ensures effective communication with shareholders.
The Chief Executive Officer leads the management team and directs the business of the Group in line with the Group’s strategic
directions and policies. The Chief Executive Officer keeps in regular communication with the Chairman and the Board to update
them of corporate issues and developments.
Board membership
Principle 4: Formal and transparent process for appointment of new Directors to the Board
Nominating Committee
The Company has established a Nominating Committee to, among other things, make recommendations to the Board on
all Board appointments. The Nominating Committee comprises three Directors, two of whom (including the Chairman) are
independent, namely:
Dr Tan Tin Wee
Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
Mr Teo Soon Hoe

Chairman
Member
Member

The terms of reference of the Nominating Committee are disclosed in the Appendix hereto.
Process for appointment of new Directors
The Nominating Committee recommended, and the Board approved, a formal process for the selection of new Directors
to increase transparency of the nominating process in identifying and evaluating nominees for Directors. The Nominating
Committee leads the process and makes recommendations to the Board as follows:
(a)

(b)
(c)
(d)
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Nominating Committee evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board and, in the light of such
evaluation and in consultation with management, prepares a description of the role and the essential and desirable
competencies for a particular appointment.
External help (for example, Singapore Institute of Directors, search consultants, open advertisement) to be used to source
for potential candidates if need be. Directors and management may also make suggestions.
Nominating Committee meets with short-listed candidates to assess suitability and to ensure that the candidate(s) are
aware of the expectations and the level of commitment required.
Nominating Committee makes recommendations to the Board for approval.
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Criteria for appointment of new Directors
All new appointments of Directors are subject to the recommendation of the Nominating Committee based on the following
objective criteria:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

Integrity
Independent mindedness
Diversity – Possess core competencies that meet the current needs of the Company and complement the skills and
competencies of the existing Directors on the Board
Ability to commit time and effort to carry out duties and responsibilities effectively – the proposed Director is on not more
than six principal boards
Track record of making good decisions
Experience in high-performing companies
Financial literacy

The Nominating Committee is also charged with the responsibility of re-nomination of Directors, having regard to the Director’s
contribution and performance (such as attendance, preparedness, participation and candour), with reference to the results of
the assessment of the performance of the individual Director by his peers for the previous financial year.
The Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once every three years.
Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors retire from office at the Company’s annual
general meeting, and a newly appointed Director must submit himself for re-election at the annual general meeting immediately
following his appointment.
As a matter of policy, a non-executive Director would serve a maximum of two three-year terms of appointment. However,
the Board recognises the contribution of Directors who over time have developed deep insight into the Group’s businesses
and operations and who are therefore able to provide invaluable contribution to the Board as a whole. In such cases, the
Board would exercise its discretion to extend the term and retain the services of the Director rather than lose the benefit of his
contribution.
The Nominating Committee is also charged with determining the “independence” status of the Directors annually. Please
refer to page 117 for the basis of the Nominating Committee’s determination as to whether a Director should or should not be
deemed independent.
The Nominating Committee also determines annually whether a Director with multiple board representations is able to and has
been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the Company. The Nominating Committee took into account the results
of the assessment of the effectiveness of the individual Director, and the respective Directors’ actual conduct on the Board, in
making the determination, and is satisfied that all the Directors have been able to and have adequately carried out their duties
as Director notwithstanding their multiple board representations.
The Nominating Committee has adopted internal guidelines addressing competing time commitments that are faced when
Directors serve on multiple boards. As a guide, Directors should not serve on more than six principal boards.
The following key information regarding Directors is set out in the following pages of this Annual Report:
Pages 10 to 13: Academic and professional qualifications, date of first appointment as Director, date of last re-election as
Director, directorships and chairmanships both present and past held over the preceding five years in other listed companies
and other major appointments;
Page 129: Board committees served on (as a member or Chairman), whether appointment is executive or non-executive and
whether considered by the Nominating Committee to be independent; and
Pages 54 to 55: Shareholding in the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Board performance
Principle 5: Formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each Director
to the effectiveness of the Board
The Board has implemented formal processes for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the contribution by each
individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board, as well as the effectiveness of the Chairman of the Board.
To ensure that the assessments are done promptly and fairly, the Board has appointed an independent third party (the
“Independent Co-ordinator”) to assist in collating and analysing the returns of the Board members. Mr Chaly Mah, Managing
Partner of Deloitte & Touche, was appointed for this role.
The evaluation processes and performance criteria are set out in the Appendix to this report.
The board assessment exercise provided an opportunity to obtain constructive feedback from each Director on whether the
Board’s procedures and processes allowed him to discharge his duties effectively and the changes which should be made to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The assessment exercise also helped the Directors to focus on their key
responsibilities. The individual Director assessment exercise allowed for peer review with a view to raising the quality of Board
members. It also assisted the Nominating Committee in determining whether to re-nominate Directors who were due for
retirement at the next annual general meeting, and in determining whether Directors with multiple board representations were
nevertheless able to and had adequately discharged their duties as Directors of the Company.
Access to information
Principle 6: Board members to have complete, adequate and timely information
The Company fully recognises that the continual flow of relevant information on an accurate and timely basis is critical for the
Board to be effective in the discharge of its duties. Management is therefore expected to provide the Board with accurate
information in a timely manner concerning the Company’s progress or shortcomings in meeting its strategic business objectives
or financial targets and other information relevant to the strategic issues facing the Company.
As a general rule, board papers are required to be sent to the Directors at least seven days before the board meeting so that
the members may better understand the matters prior to the board meeting and discussion may be focused on questions that
the Board has about the board papers. However, sensitive matters may be tabled at the meeting itself or discussed without any
papers being distributed. Managers who can provide additional insight into the matters at hand would be present at the relevant
time during the board meeting. In additional, management provides the Board with project briefs at an early stage to keep the
Board abreast of the developments of the projects.
The Directors are also provided with the names and contact details of the Company’s senior management and the Company
Secretaries to facilitate direct access to senior management and the Company Secretaries.
Management also provides the Board members with reports and accounts on a monthly basis. Such reports keep the Board
informed, on a balanced and understandable basis, of the Group’s performance, financial position and prospects and consist
of the consolidated profit and loss accounts, analysis of sales, operating profit, pre-tax and attributable profit by major divisions
compared against the budgets, together with explanation given for significant variances for the month and year-to-date.
Subject to the approval of the Chairman, Directors, whether as a group or individually, may seek and obtain independent
professional advice to assist them in their duties, at the expense of the Company.
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The Company Secretaries administer, attend and prepare minutes of board proceedings. They assist the Chairman to ensure
that board procedures (including but not limited to assisting the Chairman to ensure timely and good information flow to the
Board and the Board committees, and between senior management and the non-executive Directors, and facilitating orientation
and assisting in the professional development of the Directors) are followed and regularly reviewed to ensure effective
functioning of the Board, and that the Company’s memorandum and articles of association and relevant rules and regulations,
including requirements of the Companies Act, Securities & Futures Act and SGX Listing Manual, are complied with. They also
assist the Chairman and the Board to implement and strengthen corporate governance practices and processes with a view to
enhancing long-term shareholder value. They are also the primary channel of communication between the Company and SGX.
The appointment and removal of the Company Secretaries are subject to the approval of the Board.
Remuneration matters
Principle 7: Formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing
remuneration packages of individual Directors
Principle 8: Remuneration of Directors should be adequate but not excessive
Principle 9: Disclosure on remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and procedure for setting
remuneration
Remuneration and Share Option Committee4
The Remuneration and Share Option Committee comprises three non-executive Directors, two of whom (including the
Chairman) are independent, namely:
Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
Dr Tan Tin Wee
Mr Teo Soon Hoe

Chairman
Member
Member

The Remuneration and Share Option Committee is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior management. The
Committee assists the Board to ensure that remuneration policies and practices are sound in that they are able to attract, retain
and motivate without being excessive, and thereby maximising shareholder value. The Committee recommends to the Board
for endorsement a framework of remuneration (which covers all aspects of remuneration including Directors’ fees, salaries,
allowances, bonuses, options and benefits in kind) and the specific remuneration packages for each Director. The Committee
also reviews the remuneration of senior management and administers the Keppel T&T Share Option Scheme 19935 (“KT&T
Share Option Scheme”), the KT&T Restricted Share Plan (“KT&T RSP”) and the KT&T Performance Share Plan (“KT&T PSP”,
and together with the KT&T RSP, the “KT&T Share Plans”).
The Committee has access to expert advice in the field of executive compensation outside the Company where required.
Annual remuneration report
Policy in respect of non-executive Directors’ remuneration
The non-executive Directors are paid Directors’ fees, the amount of which is dependent on their level of responsibilities. Each
non-executive Director is paid a basic fee. In addition, non-executive Directors who perform additional services through Board
committees are paid an additional fee for such services. The members of the Audit Committee are paid a higher fee than the
members of the other Board committees because of the heavier responsibilities and more frequent meetings required of them.
The Chairman of each Board committee is also paid a higher fee compared with members of that Board committee in view of
the higher responsibility carried by that office. The amount of Directors’ fees payable to non-executive Directors is subject to
shareholders’ approval at the Company’s annual general meetings.

4
5

The Remuneration and Share Option Committee has been renamed Remuneration Committee with effect from 25 February 2011.
The KT&T Share Option Scheme was terminated with effect from 2 July 2010. No further share options shall be offered by the Company but the termination shall
not affect share options which had been granted and accepted, whether such share options had been exercised (whether fully or partially) or not.
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The Remuneration and Share Option Committee conducted a review of the Directors’ fee structure and the Board, after due
deliberation, approved (subject to shareholders’ approval at each annual general meeting) the Remuneration and Share Option
Committee’s proposed revised Directors’ fee structure as follows:
		
Non-executive Chairman		
Non-executive Director		
Audit Committee
Chairman
Member
Other Board Committees
Chairman
Member

Annual Retainer
$35,000
$25,000
$15,000
$10,000
$10,000
$5,000

Remuneration policy of the Chief Executive Officer and other key executives
The Company advocates a performance-based remuneration system that is highly flexible and responsive to the market, the
Company’s and the individual employee’s performance.
In designing the compensation structure, the Remuneration and Share Option Committee seeks to ensure that the level and
mix of remuneration is competitive and relevant. The total remuneration mix comprises 3 key components; that is, annual
fixed cash, annual performance incentive and the KT&T Share Plans. The annual fixed cash component comprises the annual
basic salary plus any other fixed allowances. The annual performance incentive is tied to the Company’s, business unit’s and
individual employee’s performance, inclusive of a portion which is tied to EVA performance. The EVA performance incentive plan
and the KT&T Share Plans are both long term incentive plans.
EVA Incentive Plan
Each year, a portion of the executive’s annual performance incentive is tied to EVA performance and a portion of his current
year’s EVA bonus is paid out and the other portion is deferred and credited into his EVA bank for payment in future years,
subject to the continued performance of the Company.
The EVA bank concept is used to defer incentive compensation over a time horizon to ensure that the executive continues to
generate sustainable shareholder value over the longer term. The EVA bank account is designated on a personal basis and
represents the executive’s contribution to the EVA performance of the Company. Monies credited into the EVA bank are at risk
in that the amount in the bank can decrease should EVA performance be adversely affected in the future years.
KT&T Share Plans
At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 21 April 2010, the Company’s shareholders approved the
adoption of the KT&T RSP and the K&T PSP, with effect from the date of termination of the KT&T Share Option Scheme.
The KT&T Share Option Scheme was terminated on 2 July 2010. No further share options shall be offered by the Company.
However, options granted and outstanding prior to the termination will continue to be valid and subject to the terms and
conditions of the KT&T Share Option Scheme.
The KT&T Share Plans are put in place to increase the Group’s flexibility and effectiveness in its continuing efforts to reward,
retain and motivate employees to achieve superior performance and to motivate them to continue to strive for the Group’s longterm shareholder value. The New Share Plans also aim to strengthen the Group’s competitiveness in attracting and retaining
talented key senior management and employees. The KT&T RSP is intended to apply to a broader base of employees while
the KT&T PSP is intended to apply to a select group of key senior management. Generally, it is envisaged that the range of
performance targets to be set under the KT&T RSP and the KT&T PSP will be different, with the latter emphasizing stretched or
strategic targets aimed at sustaining longer-term growth.
Details of the KT&T Share Plans are set out on pages 57, 76 and 84 to 86 of the Annual Report.
The Chief Executive Officer and the Deputy Chief Executive Officer participate in both the KT&T RSP and the KT&T PSP.
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Level and mix of remuneration of Directors and key executives (who are not also Directors) for the year ended
31 December 2010
The level and mix of each of the Directors’ remuneration, and that of the key executives (who are not also Directors), in bands of
$250,000 are set out below:
		
		
Remuneration band &
Base/
name of Director
fixed salary

Performance-related
bonuses earned			
(including EVA and
Directors’
Benefitsnon-EVA bonuses)
fees
in-kind

			
		
Paid
Above $250,000 to $500,000
Nil
Below $250,000
Teo Soon Hoe
Tan Tin Wee
Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
Reggie Thein
Wee Sin Tho
Tan Boon Huat
Karmjit Singh

Contingent
award of
Shares6

Deferred
& at risk7

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

-

-

Remuneration band &
name of key executive
Above $500,000 to $750,000
Nil
Above $250,000 to $500,000
Pang Hee Hon
67%
19%
14%
- 0 to 100,000 PSP
						 0 or 70,000 RSP
Chan Shui Har
68%
19%
13%
0 to 80,000 PSP
						 0 or 60,000 RSP
Bruno Lopez
68%
19%
13%
0 or 50,000 RSP
Gui Eng Hwee
69%
19%
12%
0 or 50,000 RSP
Vincent Ko Woon Chun
73%
15%
12%
0 or 32,000 RSP
Below $250,000
Nil
Remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a Director or the Chief Executive Officer
No employee of the Company and its subsidiaries was an immediate family member of a Director or the Chief Executive Officer
and whose remuneration exceeded $150,000 during the financial year ended 31 December 2010. “Immediate family member”
means the spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, brother, sister and parent.
Details of the KT&T Share Option Scheme and the KT&T Share Plans
The KT&T Share Option Scheme and the KT&T Share Plans, which have been approved by shareholders of the Company, are
administered by the Remuneration and Share Option Committee. Please refer to pages 55 to 57, 76 and 83 to 86 for details of
the KT&T Share Option Scheme and the KT&T Share Plans.

6

7

Shares awarded under the KT&T PSP and KT&T RSP are subject to pre-determined performance targets set over a three-year and one-year performance period
respectively. For the KT&T PSP, the additional award can be up to 50% of the maximum range depending on the achievement of the pre-determined targets at the
end of the three-year performance period.
A portion of the annual performance incentive is tied to EVA performance.

Corporate Governance

123

Corporate Governance

Accountability and audit
Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects
Principle 11: Establishment of Audit Committee with written terms of reference
The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects, including interim and other price sensitive public reports, and reports to regulators (if required).
The Board has embraced openness and transparency in the conduct of the Company’s affairs, whilst preserving the commercial
interests of the Company. Financial reports and other price sensitive information are disseminated to shareholders through
announcements via SGXnet to SGX, press releases, the Company’s website, and in the case of financial results, through media
and analyst briefings where appropriate. The Company’s Summary Financial Report is sent to all shareholders and its Annual
Report is available on request and accessible at the Company’s website.
Management provides the Board members with management accounts on a monthly basis. Such reports keep the Board
informed of, on a balanced and understandable basis, the Group’s performance, position and prospects and consist of the
consolidated profit and loss accounts, analysis of sales, operating profit, pre-tax and attributable profit by major divisions
compared against the budgets, together with explanation given for significant variances for the month and year-to-date.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises entirely of independent non-executive Directors:
Mr Reggie Thein
Dr Tan Tin Wee8
Mr Wee Sin Tho

Chairman
Member
Member

Messrs Reggie Thein (Chairman of the Committee) and Wee Sin Tho have accounting and related financial management
expertise and experience. The Board considers the other member, Dr Tan Tin Wee, as having sufficient financial management
knowledge and experience to discharge his responsibilities as a member of the Committee.
The Audit Committee’s main role is to assist the Board to ensure integrity of financial reporting and that there is in place sound
internal control systems. The Audit Committee’s terms of reference are set out in the Appendix to this report.
The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any matters within its terms of reference, full access to and cooperation of management, full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings, and reasonable
resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly. Keppel Corporation Limited’s Group Internal Audit (“Group Internal
Audit”), together with the external auditors, report their findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee independently.
The Audit Committee met with the external auditors and with the internal auditors four times during the year, with at least one of
the meetings conducted without the presence of management.
During the year, the Audit Committee performed independent review of the financial statements of the Company before the
announcement of the Company’s quarterly and full-year financial results. In the process, the Committee reviewed the key areas
of management judgment applied for adequate provisioning and disclosure, critical accounting policies and any significant
changes made that would have a great impact on the financials.
The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved both Group Internal Audit’s and the external auditor’s plans to ensure
that the plans covered sufficiently in terms of audit scope in reviewing the significant internal controls of the Company. Such
significant controls comprise financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management. All audit findings and
recommendations presented by Group Internal Audit and the external auditors were also reviewed during Audit Committee
meetings, and significant issues were discussed.
8

Dr Tan Tin Wee relinquished his membership on the Audit Committee, and Mr Karmjit Singh was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee, with effect from
15 January 2011.
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In addition, the Audit Committee reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external auditors through discussions with
the external auditors as well as reviewed the non-audit fees awarded to them, and has confirmed that the non-audit services
performed by the external auditors would not affect their independence.
The Audit Committee also reviewed the adequacy of the internal audit function and is satisfied that the internal audit team is
adequately resourced to discharge their duties effectively, and has appropriate standing within the Company.
The Company has in place the “Keppel T&T: Whistle-Blower Protection Policy” (“Policy”) which provides the mechanism by
which employees and any persons who have dealings with the Group may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting or other matters. The Audit Committee reviewed the Policy and was satisfied that
arrangements are in place for independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up actions.
On a quarterly basis, the Audit Committee reviewed the interested person transactions (“IPTs”) reported by management in
accordance with the Company’s shareholders’ mandate for IPTs. The IPTs were reviewed by Group Internal Audit. All findings
were reported during the Audit Committee meetings.
Internal controls and risk management
Principle 12: Sound system of internal controls
The Board of Directors, assisted by the Board Risk Committee, has oversight of risk management in the Group. The Board Risk
Committee examines the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system and guides management in the formulation
of risk policies, processes and procedures to effectively identify, evaluate and manage significant risks, and discuss risk
management strategies with management. The Committee reports to the Board on material findings and recommendations with
respect to significant risk matters. The detailed terms of reference of this Committee are set out in the Appendix to this report.
The Board Risk Committee comprises three independent directors (including the Chairman), namely Messrs Wee Sin Tho
(Chairman), Reggie Thein and Tan Boon Huat.
The risk management framework, adopted by the Group, provides structured and systematic risk management process to
prepare the Group for responding to the dynamic business environment. Management reviews the key risks identified in the
operations regularly to detect any early warning signals of emerging risks.
Risk-related policies are reviewed periodically to ensure that they are adequate to address business risks and support business
objectives. During the review, the key investment guidelines of the Group were reassessed in view of the global economy,
operating environment and the Group’s business strategic considerations. The review also took into account the Group’s
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) such as Return on Equity (“ROE”) and Economic Value Added (“EVA”) and the Group’s
exposure of profit and asset allocation in various countries. The Group’s investment decision process is guided by investment
parameters instituted on a Group-wide basis. All investments are subjected to due diligence processes and are independently
scrutinized and evaluated by management and reviewed by the Board to ensure that they are in line with the Group’s strategic
business focus, meet relevant hurdle rates of return, and take into consideration risk factors such as country risks, regulatory
risks, contractual risks etc.
Emphasis is also placed on the promotion of risk centric culture. Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) sessions were
conducted as part of orientation programmes and overseas exchange programmes to raise awareness of ERM processes and
reinforce risk management practices across the Group.
Continuous scanning and close monitoring of political, economic, and regulatory issues have enabled management to have a
better insight on impeding developments in the span of countries where the Group operates.
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Business Continuity Management (“BCM”) enhances the Group’s operational resilience and enables its businesses to respond
seamlessly to threat while minimising operational disruption. Please refer to “Risk Management & Business Continuity” on pages
46 and 47 of the Annual Report for the Group’s BCM activities during the year. In addition, KCL’s Group Internal Audit and
the external auditors also conduct an annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s material internal controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management. Any material non-compliance or failures in internal
controls and recommendations for improvements are reported to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee also reviews the
effectiveness of the actions taken by management on the recommendations made by Group Internal Audit and the external
auditors in this respect.
During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk management
procedures and was satisfied that they were adequate in meeting the needs of the Company in its current business
environment.
The system of internal controls and risk management established by the Company are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives. Management is involved in regular reviews of the
risks that are significant to the fulfillment of the objectives of the business. However, it should be recognised that such systems
are designed to provide reasonable assurance, but not an absolute guarantee against material misstatement or loss.
Internal audit
Principle 13: Independent internal audit function
The role of Group Internal Audit is to assist the Audit Committee to ensure that the Company maintains a sound system
of internal controls by regular monitoring of key controls and procedures and ensuring their effectiveness, undertaking
investigations as directed by the Audit Committee, and conducting regular in-depth audits of high risk areas. Staffed by suitably
qualified executives, Group Internal Audit has direct access to the Audit Committee and reports to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee on all issues of concern.
As a corporate member of the Singapore branch of the Institute of Internal Auditors Incorporated, USA (“IIA”), Group Internal
Audit is guided by the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the IIA. These standards
consist of attribute and performance standards. The professional competence of Group Internal Audit is maintained through
Group Internal Audit’s continuing professional development programme for its staff which includes updating auditors’
knowledge of auditing techniques and sending them to attend continuing professional courses conducted by external
accredited organisations.
During the year, Group Internal Audit adopted a risk-based auditing approach that focuses on material internal controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls. Audits were carried out on all significant business units in the Group,
including limited review performed on dormant and inactive companies. All internal audit reports are submitted to the Audit
Committee for deliberation with copies of these reports extended to the Chairman and the relevant senior management. In
addition, Group Internal Audit’s summary of findings and recommendations are discussed at the Audit Committee meetings.
To ensure timely and adequate closure of audit findings, the status of implementation of the actions agreed by management is
tracked and discussed with the Committee.
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Communications with shareholders
Principle 14: Regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders
Principle 15: Greater shareholder participation at annual general meetings
In addition to the matters mentioned above in relation to “Accountability and Audit”, the Group Corporate Communications
Department of Keppel Corporation Limited (with assistance from the Group Finance and Group Legal Departments of Keppel
Corporation Limited, when required) regularly communicates with shareholders and receives and attends to their queries and
concerns.
Material information is disclosed in a comprehensive, accurate and timely manner via SGXnet and the press. To ensure a level
playing field and provide confidence to shareholders, unpublished price sensitive information are not selectively disclosed,
and on the rare occasions when such information are inadvertently disclosed, they are immediately released to the public via
SGXnet and the press.
Shareholders are informed of shareholders’ meetings through notices published in the newspapers and reports or circulars
sent to all shareholders. Shareholders are invited at such meetings to put forth any questions they may have on the motions to
be debated and decided upon. If any shareholder is unable to attend, he is allowed to appoint up to two proxies to vote on his
behalf at the meeting through proxy forms sent in advance.
At shareholders’ meetings, each distinct issue is proposed as a separate resolution.
The Chairman of each Board committee is required to be present to address questions at the annual general meeting. External
auditors are also present at the annual general meeting to assist the Directors to address shareholders’ queries, if necessary.
The Company is not implementing absentia voting methods such as by mail, e-mail or fax until security, integrity and other
pertinent issues are satisfactorily resolved.
The Company Secretaries prepare minutes of shareholders’ meeting, which incorporates substantial comments or queries from
shareholders and responses from the Board and management. These minutes are available to shareholders upon request.
Securities transactions
Insider Trading Policy
The Company has a formal policy on dealings in the securities of the Company, which sets out the implications of insider trading
and guidance on such dealings. The policy has been distributed to all Directors and officers. In line with best practices on
securities dealings, the Company issues circulars to its Directors and officers informing that the Company and its officers must
not deal in listed securities of the Company a month before the release of the full-year results and two weeks before the release
of the quarterly results, as the case may be, and if they are in possession of unpublished material price-sensitive information.
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APPENDIX
BOARD COMMITTEES – TERMS OF REFERENCE
A.

Divestment and New Investment Committee
(1)
Consider, evaluate, review and, if deemed fit, approve investments, acquisitions and disposal of assets of the
Company and its subsidiaries of up to S$30,000,000 per investment or divestment.
(2)
Review and recommend to the Board proposed investments, acquisitions and disposals of assets of the
Company and its subsidiaries which are above S$30,000,000 per investment or divestment.
(3)
Review and recommend to the Board proposed investments and acquisitions of the Company and its
subsidiaries which do not fall within the Company’s core business but which are considered strategic investments
for the long-term prospects of the Company.
(4)
Sub-delegate any of its powers within its terms of reference as listed above, from time to time, as this Committee
may deem fit.

B.

Audit Committee
(1)
Examine the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, to ensure that a sound system of internal controls is maintained.
(2)
Review audit plans and reports of the external auditors and internal auditors, and consider the effectiveness of
actions or policies taken by management on the recommendations and observations.
(3)
Review financial statements and formal announcements relating to financial performance, and review significant
financial reporting issues and judgments contained in them, to ensure integrity of such statements and
announcements.
(4)
Review the independence and objectivity of the external auditors annually.
(5)
Review the nature and extent of non-audit services performed by the auditors.
(6)
Meet with external auditors and internal auditors, without the presence of management, at least annually.
(7)
Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor,
and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.
(8)
Review the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function.
(9)
Ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company,
at least annually.
(10)
Review arrangements by which employees of the Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters, to ensure that arrangements are in place for the
independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow up action.
(11)
Review interested person transactions.
(12)
Investigate any matters within the Audit Committee’s purview, whenever it deems necessary.
(13)
Report to the Board on material matters, findings and recommendations.
(14)
Perform such other functions as the Board may determine.
(15)
Sub-delegate any of its powers within its terms of reference as listed above from time to time as this Committee
may deem fit.

C.

Nominating Committee
(1)
Recommend to the Board the appointment/re-appointment of Directors.
(2)
Annual review of skills required by the Board, and the size of the Board.
(3)
Annual review of independence of each Director, and to ensure that the Board comprises at least one-third
independent Directors.
(4)
Decide, where a Director has multiple board representation, whether the Director is able to and has been
adequately carrying out his duties as Director of the Company.
(5)
Decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated, and propose objective performance criteria to assess
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each Director.
(6)
Annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and individual Directors.
(7)
Review succession plan including identification and management of talent.
(8)
Sub-delegate any of its powers within its terms of reference as listed above, from time to time, as this Committee
may deem fit.
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D.

Remuneration and Share Option Committee
(1)
Recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for Board members and key executives.
(2)
Determine specific remuneration packages for each Director and the chief executive officer (if the chief executive
officer is not an executive Director).
(3)
Decide the early termination compensation (if any) of Directors.
(4)
Consider whether Directors should be eligible for benefits under long-term incentive schemes (including weighing
the use of share schemes against the other types of long-term incentive scheme).
(5)
Review the terms, conditions and remuneration of the senior management.
(6)
Administer the Company’s employee share option scheme (the “KTT Share Option Scheme”) in accordance with
the rules of the scheme.
(7)
Grant share options under the KTT Share Option Scheme as this Committee may deem fit.
(8)
Sub-delegate any of its powers within its terms of reference as listed above, from time to time, as this Committee
may deem fit.
Save that a member of this Committee shall not be involved in the deliberations in respect of any remuneration,
compensation, options or any form of benefits to be granted to him.

E.

Board Risk Committee
(1)
Review and guide the Group in formulating its risk policies.
(2)
Discuss risk mitigation strategies with management.
(3)
Examine the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system to ensure that a robust risk management
system is maintained.
(4)
Review and guide in establishing a process to effectively identify, evaluate and manage significant risks.
(5)
Review risk limits, where applicable.
(6)
Review the Group’s risk profile periodically.
(7)
Provide a forum for discussion on risk issues.
(8)
Report to the Board on material matters, findings and recommendations.
(9)
Perform such other functions as the Board may determine.
(10)
Sub-delegate any of its powers within its terms of reference as listed above from time to time as this Committee
may deem fit.

Nature of current Directors’ appointments and membership on Board committees
Board Committee Membership
				Remuneration Divestment
Board			
and Share
and New
Director
Membership
Audit Nominating
Option Investment
		
Teo Soon Hoe
Tan Tin Wee
Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
Reggie Thein
Wee Sin Tho
Tan Boon Huat
Karmjit Singh(1)

Non-Executive Chairman
& Non-Independent
Independent
Independent
Independent
Independent
Independent
Independent

Member(2)
Chairman
Member
Member(2)

Member
Chairman
Member
-

Member
Member
Chairman
-

Chairman
Member
Member
-

Board Risk

Member
Chairman
Member
-

Note:
(1)
Mr Karmjit Singh was appointed as a Director with effect from 1 October 2010.
(2)
Mr Karmjit Singh was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee, and Dr Tan Tin Wee relinquished his membership on the Audit Committee, with effect
from 15 January 2011.
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Board performance
Evaluation processes
Board
Each Board member is required to complete a Board Evaluation Questionnaire and send the Questionnaire directly to the
Independent Co-ordinator within five working days. An “Explanatory Note” is attached to the Questionnaire to clarify the
background, rationale and objectives of the various performance criteria used in the Board Evaluation Questionnaire with the
aim of achieving consistency in the understanding and interpretation of the questions. Based on the returns from each of the
Directors, the Independent Co-ordinator prepares a consolidated report and briefs the Chairman of the Nominating Committee
on the report. The Independent Co-ordinator will, together with the Chairman of the Nominating Committee, brief the Chairman
of the Board on the report. Thereafter, the Independent Co-ordinator will present the report to the Board for discussion on the
changes which should be made to help the Board discharge its duties more effectively.
Individual Directors
The Board differentiates the assessment of an executive Director from that of a non-executive Director.
In the case of the assessment of the executive Director, each non-executive Director is required to complete the Executive
Director’s assessment form and send the form directly to the Independent Co-ordinator within five working days. It is
emphasised that the purpose of the assessment is to assess the executive Director on his performance on the Board (as
opposed to his executive performance). The executive Director is not required to perform a self, nor a peer, assessment.
Based on the returns from each of the non-executive Directors, the Independent Co-ordinator prepares a consolidated report
and briefs the Chairman of the Nominating Committee on the report. The Independent Co-ordinator will then, together with
the Chairman of the Nominating Committee, brief the Chairman of the Board on the report. Thereafter, the Independent Coordinator will present the report for discussion at a board meeting, following which the Chairman of the Nominating Committee
will meet with the executive Director to provide necessary feedback on his board performance with a view to improving his
board performance and shareholder value.
As for the assessment of the performance of the non-executive Directors, each Director (both non-executive and executive)
is required to complete the non-executive Directors’ assessment form and send the form directly to the Independent Coordinator within five working days. Each non-executive Director is also required to perform a self-assessment in addition
to a peer assessment. Based on the returns, the Independent Co-ordinator prepares a consolidated report and briefs the
Chairman of the Nominating Committee. The Independent Co-ordinator will then, together with the Chairman of the Nominating
Committee, brief the Chairman of the Board on the report. Thereafter, the Independent Co-ordinator will present the report for
discussion at a board meeting. Following the meeting, the Chairman of the Nominating Committee will meet with non-executive
Directors individually to provide the necessary feedback on their respective performance with a view to improving their board
performance and shareholder value.
Chairman
The Chairman Evaluation Form is completed by each non-executive Director (other than the Chairman) and sent directly to
the Independent Co-ordinator within five working days. Based on the returns from each of the non-executive Directors, the
Independent Co-ordinator prepares a consolidated report and briefs the Chairman of the Nominating Committee on the report.
The Independent Co-ordinator will then, together with the Chairman of the Nominating Committee, brief the Chairman of the
Board on the report. Thereafter, the Independent Co-ordinator will present the report for discussion at a board meeting.
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Performance Criteria
The performance criteria for the board evaluation are in respect of board size and composition, board independence, board
processes, board information and accountability, management in diversity, board performance in relation to discharging its
principal functions, board committee performance in relation to discharging their responsibilities set out in their respective terms
of reference, and financial targets which includes return on capital employed, return on equity, debt/equity ratio, dividend payout ratio, economic value added, earnings per share and total shareholder return (i.e dividends plus share price increase over
the year).
The individual Director’s performance criteria are categorized into five segments; namely, (1) interactive skills (under which
factors as to whether the Director works well with other Directors, and participates actively are taken into account); (2)
knowledge (under which factors as to the Director’s industry and business knowledge, functional expertise, whether he provides
valuable inputs, his ability to analyse, communicate and contribute to the productivity of meetings, and his understanding
of finance and accounts are taken into consideration); (3) Director’s duties (under which factors as to the Director’s board
committee work contribution, whether the Director takes his role of Director seriously and works to further improve his own
performance, whether he listens and discusses objectively and exercises independent judgment, and meeting preparation
are taken into consideration); (4) availability (under which the Director’s attendance at board and board committee meetings,
whether he is available when needed, and his informal contribution via e-mail, telephone, written notes etc are considered);
and (5) overall contribution, bearing in mind that each Director was appointed for his/her strength in certain areas which, taken
together with the skill sets of the other Directors, provides the Board with the required mix of skills and competencies.
The assessment of the Chairman of the Board is based on his ability to lead, whether he established proper procedures to
ensure the effective functioning of the Board, whether he ensured that the time devoted to board meetings were appropriate
(in terms of number of meetings held a year and duration of each board meeting) for effective discussion and decision-making
by the Board, whether he ensured that information provided to the Board was adequate (in terms of adequacy and timeliness)
for the Board to make informed and considered decisions, whether he guides discussions effectively so that there is timely
resolution of issues, whether he ensured that meetings are conducted in a manner that facilitates open communication and
meaningful participation, and whether he ensured that Board committees are formed where appropriate, with clear terms of
reference, to assist the Board in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities.
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Code of Corporate Governance 2005
Specific Principles and Guidelines for Disclosure
Relevant Guideline or Principle

Page Reference
in this report

Guideline 1.3
Delegation of authority, by the Board to any Board committee, to make decisions on certain
board matters

Pages 116, 128 and 129

Guideline 1.4
The number of board and board committee meetings held in the year, as well as the attendance
of every Board member at these meetings

Page 116

Guideline 1.5
The type of material transactions that require Board approval under internal guidelines

Page 117

Guideline 2.2
Where the company considers a Director to be independent in spite of the existence of a
relationship as stated in the Code that would otherwise deem him as non-independent,
the nature of the Director’s relationship and the reason for considering him as independent
should be disclosed

Not Applicable

Guideline 3.1
Relationship between the Chairman and CEO where they are related to each other

Not Applicable

Guideline 4.1
Composition of nominating committee

Page 118

Guideline 4.5
Process for selection and appointment of new Directors to the Board

Pages 118 and 119

Guideline 4.6
Key information regarding Directors, which Directors are executive, non-executive or considered
by the nominating committee to be independent

Pages 10 to 13 and 129

Guideline 5.1
Process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each
individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board

Pages 130 and 131

Principle 9
Clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, procedure for setting
remuneration and link between remuneration paid to Directors and key executives, and performance

Pages 121 to 123

Guideline 9.1
Composition of remuneration committee

Page 121
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Guideline 9.2
Names and remuneration of each Director. The disclosure of remuneration should be in bands
of $250,000. There will be a breakdown (in percentage terms) of each Director’s remuneration
earned through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, benefits
in kind, and stock options granted and other long-term incentives

Page 123

Names and remuneration of at least the top five key executives (who are not also Directors).
The disclosure should be in bands of $250,000 and include a breakdown of remuneration

Page 123

Guideline 9.3
Remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a Director or the CEO,
and whose remuneration exceed $150,000 during the year. The disclosure should be made
in bands of $250,000 and include a breakdown of remuneration

Page 123

Guideline 9.4
Details of employee share schemes

Pages 55 to 57, 76 and
83 to 86

Guideline 11.8
Composition of audit committee and details of the committee’s activities

Pages 124 to 126

Guideline 12.2
Adequacy of internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
and risk management systems

Pages 125 and 126
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Interested Person Transactions

Interested person transactions carried out during the financial year pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate obtained under
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST) by the Group are as follows:

Name of Interested Person
		
		
General Transactions
Keppel Corporation Limited
Singapore Telecommunications Limited

Aggregate value of all
interested person
transactions during
the financial year
under review (excluding
transactions less than
$100,000 and transactions
conducted under
shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920)
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

-

-

2,623
2,313

12,076
2,417

46,716

46,640

500

500

52,152

61,633

Treasury Transactions
Keppel Corporation Limited
				
Management Services
Keppel Corporation Limited
		

Aggregate value of all
interested person
transactions conducted
under shareholders’
mandate pursuant
to Rule 920 of the
SGX Listing Manual

-

-

Save as disclosed under Corporate Governance, in the Directors’ Report and in the Financial Statements, the Company and its
subsidiaries did not enter into any material contracts involving the interests of the directors or controlling shareholder since the
end of the previous financial year and no such material contracts still subsist at the end of the financial year.
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Shareholding Statistics
As at 1 March 2011

Total number of issued Shares : 552,674,537 Shares			
Issued and Fully Paid-Up Capital : $74,048,299.36			
Class of Shares
: Ordinary Shares with equal voting rights
No. of		
Shareholders
%

Size of Shareholdings
1 - 999
1,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above

No. of
Shares

%

374
5,243
938
13

5.69
79.83
14.28
0.20

144,904
20,508,622
34,836,382
497,184,629

0.03
3.71
6.30
89.96

Total

6,568

100.00

552,674,537

100.00

Location of Shareholders
Singapore
Malaysia
Others

6,148
334
86

93.61
5.08
1.31

549,001,147
2,048,742
1,624,648

99.34
0.37
0.29

Total

6,568

100.00

552,674,537

100.00

No. of Shares
442,935,526
9,817,747
8,560,969
6,563,740
6,218,034
5,793,083
3,366,306
3,205,000
3,016,083
2,788,038
2,621,078
1,264,025
1,035,000
925,216
783,319
673,033
515,146
418,849
413,027
337,000

%
80.14
1.78
1.55
1.19
1.13
1.05
0.61
0.58
0.55
0.50
0.47
0.23
0.19
0.17
0.14
0.12
0.09
0.08
0.07
0.06

501,250,219

90.70

Twenty Largest Shareholders
1.
Keppel Corporation Limited
2.
UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd
3.
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd
4.
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
5.
Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd
6.
Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd
7.
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd
8.
BNP Paribas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd
9.
Bank of Singapore Nominees Pte Ltd
10.
DBSN Services Pte Ltd
11.
Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd
12.
OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd
13.
Morph Investments Ltd
14.
Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd.
15.
Selat Pte Limited
16.
OCBC Securities Private Ltd
17.
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd
18.
Island Investment Company Pte Ltd
19.
Asia Chemical Corporation Sdn Bhd
20.
Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd
Total		
Substantial Shareholders
		
1.
Keppel Corporation Limited
2.
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited(1)
3.
Kapital Asia Pte Ltd(2)
4.
Agus Anwar(3)
5.
Tjia Marcel Han Liong(3)
Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)

Direct Interest
No. of Shares
%
442,935,526
80.14
4,328,000
0.78
-

Deemed Interest
No. of Shares
%
442,935,526
80.14
33,545,000
6.07
29,217,000
5.29
33,545,000
6.07

Total Interest
No. of Shares
%
442,935,526
80.14
442,935,526
80.14
33,545,000
6.07
33,545,000
6.07
33,545,000
6.07

The interest of Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited arises from its shareholdings in Keppel Corporation Limited.
Includes interests held by Kapital Asia Company Limited and Agus Anwar.
The interests of Agus Anwar and Tjia Marcel Han Liong arise from their controlling interests in Kapital Asia Pte Ltd and Kapital Asia Company Limited.

Public Shareholders
Based on the information available to the Company as at 1 March 2011, approximately 13.7% of the issued shares of the
Company is held by the public and therefore, pursuant to Rules 1207 and 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited, it is confirmed that at least 10% of the ordinary shares of the Company is at all times held by the public.		
Treasury Shares
As at 1 March 2011, there are no treasury shares held.
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Share Prices and Turnover

Share Prices (S$)

Turnover (million units)
70

7.0

60

6.0

50

5.0

40

4.0

30

3.0

20

2.0

10

1.0

0

0.0
2006
Turnover

		

2007

2009

2008

2010

2011

High and Low Prices

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Earnings per share (cents) (Note 1)

7.7

9.1

10.1

9.6

11.2

Dividends per share (cents)

5.5

6.0

3.0

3.0

3.5

Share price (cents)
Highest
Lowest
Average

183
128
156

590
160
375

580
69
325

179
68
124

156
121
139

Dividend yield (%) (Note 2)

3.5

1.6

0.9

2.4

2.5

Net price earnings ratio (Note 2)

20.3

41.2

32.2

12.9

12.4

Net tangible assets ($)

0.41

0.45

0.50

0.54

0.62

Notes:
1. Earnings per share are calculated based on Group attributable profit before exceptional items by reference to the weighted average number of shares in issue
during the year.
2. In calculating dividend yields and net price earnings ratios, the average share prices have been used.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting/Closure of Books

eppel T&T
Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
Co Reg No.: 196500115G
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

ALL MEMBERS ARE CORDIALLY INVITED TO ATTEND the annual general meeting of Keppel Telecommunications &
Transportation Ltd (the “Company”) to be held at Swissôtel Merchant Court, Merchant Court Ballroom B (Level 1), 20 Merchant
Road, Singapore 058281, on Tuesday, 19 April 2011 at 3.00 p.m. to transact the following business:
Ordinary Business
Resolution 1
To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.
Resolution 2
To declare a first and final dividend of 3.5 cents per share tax exempt one-tier for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: 3.0
cents per share tax exempt one-tier).
Resolution 3
To re-elect Dr Tan Tin Wee who retires in accordance with Article 86 of the Company’s Articles of Association and who, being
eligible, offers himself for re-election (see Note 2).
Resolution 4
To re-elect Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie who retires in accordance with Article 86 of the Company’s Articles of Association
and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election (see Note 2).
Resolution 5
To re-elect Mr Karmjit Singh who, being appointed by the board of directors after the last annual general meeting, retires in
accordance with Article 93 of the Company’s Articles of Association and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election (see
Note 2).
Resolution 6
To re-elect Mr Reggie Thein who, being over the age of 70 years, will cease to be a director at the conclusion of this annual
general meeting, and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act (Cap.
50) to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company (see Note 2).
Resolution 7
To approve directors’ fees of $281,250 for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: $248,000).
Resolution 8
To re-appoint the Auditors and authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration.
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Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, approve with or without modification, the following Ordinary Resolutions:
Resolution 9
That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”) and Article 52(2) of the
Company’s Articles of Association, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:
(1)

(a) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”), whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise, and including any
capitalisation pursuant to Article 139 of the Company’s Articles of Association of any sum for the time being standing
to the credit of any of the Company’s reserve accounts or to the credit of the profit and loss account or otherwise
available for distribution; and/or
(b) make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require Shares to be issued (including but not limited
to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into
Shares) (collectively “Instruments”),

		at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may in their
absolute discretion deem fit; and
(2)

(notwithstanding that the authority so conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Shares in
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while the authority was in force,

provided that:
(i)

the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of
Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution and any adjustment effected under any relevant Instrument) shall
not exceed 50 per cent. of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares) (as calculated in accordance
with sub-paragraph (ii) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to
shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to
this Resolution and any adjustment effected under any relevant Instrument) shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below);

(ii)

(subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“SGX-ST”)) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph
(i) above, the percentage of issued Shares shall be calculated based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding
treasury Shares) at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:
(a)

new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities or share options or vesting of share
awards which are outstanding or subsisting as at the time this Resolution is passed; and

(b)

any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of Shares;

(iii)

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Companies
Act, the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the
SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

(iv)

(unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall continue in
force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) or the date by which the next AGM
is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier (see Note 3).
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Resolution 10
That:
(1)

for the purposes of the Companies Act, the exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company
to purchase or otherwise acquire Shares not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined), at such
price(s) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter
defined), whether by way of:
(a)

market purchase(s) (each a “Market Purchase”) on the SGX-ST; and/or

(b)

off-market purchase(s) (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) in accordance with any equal access scheme(s) as may be
determined or formulated by the Directors of the Company as they consider fit, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the
conditions prescribed by the Companies Act;

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations, including but not limited to, the provisions of the
Companies Act and listing rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and
approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share Buy-Back Mandate”);
(2)

(3)

unless varied or revoked by the members of the Company in a general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors
of the Company pursuant to the Share Buy-Back Mandate may be exercised by the Directors of the Company at any
time and from time to time during the period commencing from the date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring
on the earlier of:
(a)

the date on which the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held; or

(b)

the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buy-Back
Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated;

in this Resolution:
“Maximum Limit” means that number of issued Shares representing 10 per cent. of the total number of issued Shares as
at the date of the last AGM or at the date of the passing of this Resolution, whichever is higher, unless the Company has
effected a reduction of the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies
Act, at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the total number of Shares shall be taken to be the total
number of issued Shares as altered (excluding any treasury shares that may be held by the Company from time to time);
“Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the last AGM was held and expiring on the
date the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, after the date of this Resolution; and
“Maximum Price”, in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price (excluding brokerage,
stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) which is:
(a)

in the case of a Market Purchase, 5 per cent. above the Average Closing Price; and

(b)

in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 20 per cent. above the Average
Closing Price,

where:
“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five (5) Market Days (a
“Market Day” being a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities), on which transactions in the Shares
were recorded, in the case of Market Purchases, before the day on which the purchase or acquisition of Shares was
made and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five (5) Market Days, or in the
case of Off-Market Purchases, before the date on which the Company makes an announcement of the offer; and
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(4)

the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and
things (including, without limitation, executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may consider
necessary, expedient, incidental or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/
or authorised by this Resolution (see Note 4).

Resolution 11
That:
(1)

approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, for the Company,
its subsidiaries and target associated companies (as defined in Appendix 2 to this Notice of Annual General Meeting
(“Appendix 2’’)), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions falling within the types of Interested Person
Transactions described in Appendix 2, with any person who falls within the classes of Interested Persons described in
Appendix 2, provided that such transactions are made on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the review
procedures for Interested Person Transactions as set out in Appendix 2 (the “Shareholders’ Mandate’’);

(2)

the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the
date that the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier;

(3)

the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorized to take such action as it deems proper in respect of
such procedures and/or to modify or implement such procedures as may be necessary to take into consideration any
amendment to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual which may be prescribed by the SGX-ST from time to time; and

(4)

the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and
things (including, without limitation, executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may consider
expedient, necessary, incidental or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate and/or
this Resolution (see Note 5).

To transact such other business which can be transacted at the annual general meeting of the Company.
NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN THAT:
(a)

the Share Transfer Books and the Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 27 April 2011 for the
preparation of dividend warrants. Duly completed transfers in respect of Shares received by the Company’s Registrar,
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte Ltd, at 50 Raffles Place #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore
048623, up to the close of business at 5.00 p.m. on 26 April 2011 will be registered to determine shareholders’
entitlement to the proposed first and final dividend. The proposed first and final dividend if approved at the annual
general meeting will be paid on 6 May 2011; and

(a)

the electronic copy of the Company’s Annual Report 2010 will be published on the Company’s website on 28 March
2011. The Company’s website address is http://www.keppeltt.com.sg, and the electronic copy of the Annual Report
2010 can be viewed or downloaded from the “Annual Reports” section, which can be accessed from the main menu
item “Investor Relations”. To view the electronic copy of the Annual Report 2010, you will need the Adobe Reader
installed on your computer, which can be downloaded free of charge at http://get.adobe.com/reader.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Caroline Chang
Company Secretary

Laura Low
Company Secretary

Singapore, 28 March 2011
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Notes:
1. A member of the Company is entitled to appoint one proxy or two proxies to attend the meeting and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be
a member of the Company. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company not less than
48 hours before the time appointed for holding the annual general meeting.
2. Detailed information on the Directors can be found in the Board of Directors section of the Company’s Annual Report for the financial
year ended 31 December 2010. Dr Tan Tin Wee will, upon re-election, continue to serve as Chairman of the Nominating Committee and
member of the Divestment and New Investment Committee and Remuneration Committee. Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie will, upon
re-election, continue to serve as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of the Divestment and New Investment Committee
and Nominating Committee. Mr Karmjit Singh will, upon re-election, continue to serve as member of the Audit Committee. Mr Reggie
Thein will, upon re-election, continue to serve as Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the Board Risk Committee. They are
considered by the Nominating Committee to be independent directors.
3. Resolution 9 is to empower the Directors from the date of the annual general meeting until the date of the next annual general meeting to
issue further Shares and Instruments in the Company, up to 50 per cent. of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury Shares) (with a
sub-limit of 20 per cent. of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury Shares) in respect of Shares to be issued other than on a
pro rata basis to shareholders). For the purpose of determining the total number of Shares (excluding treasury Shares) that may be
issued, the percentage of issued Shares shall be based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares) at the time that
Resolution 9 is passed, after adjusting for new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options
or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that Resolution 9 is passed, and any subsequent bonus issue,
consolidation or sub-division of Shares.
4. Resolution 10 relates to the renewal of the Share Buy-Back Mandate, which was originally approved by Shareholders on 21 May 2003 and
amended on 23 April 2004. The Share Buy-Back Mandate was last renewed at the last annual general meeting of the Company held on
21 April 2010. Please refer to Appendix 1 to this Notice of Annual General Meeting for details.
5. Resolution 11 relates to the renewal of a mandate given by Shareholders on 30 October 2002 and amended on 21 May 2003 and 26 April
2005 allowing the Company, its subsidiaries and target associated companies to enter into transactions with interested persons as defined
in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. Please refer to Appendix 2 to this Notice of Annual General Meeting for details.
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Financial Calendar

Financial year-end
Announcement of 2010 results:
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Full year
Despatch of Annual Report to Shareholders
Annual General Meeting
2010 Proposed final dividend
Books closure date
Payment date
Announcement of 2011 results
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Full year

Financial Calendar

31 December 2010

19 April 2010
21 July 2010
19 October 2010
20 January 2011
28 March 2011
19 April 2011

5.00 p.m., 26 April 2011
6 May 2011

April 2011
July 2011
October 2011
January 2012
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IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy ordinary shares in the
capital of Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd, the Annual Report
2010 is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and
is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for
all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.
3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as observers
have to submit their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees so that
their CPF Approved Nominee may register, within the specified timeframe, with
the Company’s Share Registrar. (CPF Approved Nominee: Please refer to Note
No. 7 on the reverse side of this form on the required details.)
4. CPF investors who wish to vote must submit their voting instructions to their
CPF Approved Nominees to enable them to vote on their behalf.

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
Co Reg No.: 196500115G
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Proxy Form

I/We

(Name)

(NRIC/Passport Number)

of

(address)

being a Shareholder(s) of Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd (the “Company”), hereby appoint:
Name

Proportion of Shareholdings

Address

NRIC/
Passport Number

No. of Shares

Address

NRIC/
Passport Number

No. of Shares

%

and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name

Proportion of Shareholdings
%

Number of Votes
For *

Resolutions

Number of Votes
Against *

Ordinary Business
1. Adoption of Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements
2. Declaration of Dividend			
3. Re-election of Dr Tan Tin Wee as Director
4. Re-election of Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie as Director
5. Re-election of Mr Karmjit Singh as Director
6. Re-election of Mr Reggie Thein as Director
7. Approval of Directors’ fees
8. Re-appointment of Auditors
Special Business
9. Authority for Directors to issue shares and convertible instruments pursuant
to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50
8. Renewal of Share Buy-Back Mandate
9. Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
*

If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against” the relevant Resolution, please mark with an “X” within the relevant box provided. Alternatively, please
indicate the number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this _______ day of ____________ 2011

Total Number of
Shares held

________________________________________
Signature(s) or Common Seal of Member(s)
IMPORTANT: Please read the notes overleaf before completing this Proxy Form.

Fold and glue along dotted line

Fold and glue along dotted line

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the Annual General
Meeting of the Shareholders of the Company to be held on 19 April 2011 at Swissôtel Merchant Court, Merchant Court Ballroom B
(Level 1), 20 Merchant Road, Singapore 058281 at 3.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies
to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting
is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the
meeting and at any adjournment thereof.

Notes:
1.

Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register
(as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you
only have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. However, if
you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register
of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and
registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall
be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2.

A Shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies
to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a Shareholder of the Company. Where a Shareholder appoints two
proxies, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the proxy form. If no
percentage is specified, the first named proxy shall be deemed to represent 100 per cent. of the shareholding and the second
named proxy shall be deemed to be an alternate to the first named proxy.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 1 HarbourFront
Avenue, #18-01 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General
Meeting.

Fold along this line (2)

Affix
Postage
Stamp

The Company Secretary
Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
1 HarbourFront Avenue
#18-01 Keppel Bay Tower
Singapore 098632

Fold along this line (1)

4.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its
seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of
the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with
the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

5.

A corporation which is a Shareholder may authorise, by resolution of its directors or other governing body, such person as it
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 of Singapore.

6.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shareholders whose Shares are entered against their names
in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such Shareholders are
not shown to have Shares entered against their names in the Depository Register 48 hours before the time appointed for holding
the Annual General Meeting as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

7.

CPF Approved Nominees acting on the request of the CPF investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as
observers are requested to submit in writing, a list with details of the CPF investors’ names, NRIC/Passport numbers, addresses
and number of Shares held. The list, signed by an authorised signatory of the CPF Approved Nominee, should reach the
Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01, Singapore Land
Tower, Singapore 048623, at least 48 hours before the time fixed for the Annual General Meeting.
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Request Form

28 March 2011
Dear Shareholder,
We are providing you a copy of the Annual Report (“AR”) of Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd (“Keppel T&T” or the
“Company”) for the financial year ended 2010, which contains the Directors’ Report and full financial statements of the Company, in
digital format in the enclosed CD-ROM. In addition, the Appendices to the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 28 March 2011
(“Appendices”) are included as part of the CD-ROM.
In line with the Company’s drive towards sustainable development, we would like to encourage you to read our AR and the
Appendices from the CD or online from Keppel T&T’s website at http://www.keppeltt.com.sg. By doing so, you are helping us to be
environmentally-friendly. If you wish to access the AR from our website for future financial years, please tick the first box provided
below.
Alternatively, shareholders may request for a printed copy of the AR 2010 and/or Appendices, at no cost. Please indicate your
preference by completing the Request Form below and returning it to us, no later than 4 April 2011.
Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd

Caroline Chang
Company Secretary

Laura Low
Company Secretary

REQUEST FORM
To: Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd
N.B. We regret that we will not be able to process incomplete or improperly completed request.
[

]

I/We wish to access the AR from the Company’s website at www.keppeltt.com.sg (“Company’s Website”) for the respective
future financial years for as long as I/we am/are a shareholder(s) of Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd, and
I/we hereby agree to be notified of the following information by way of a publication within the Notice of Annual General
Meeting, that is: (1) the date of publication of the AR on the Company’s Website, (2) the address of the Company’s
Website, and (3) the location on the Company’s Website where the AR may be accessed, and how the AR may be
accessed. The posting of the AR for the respective future financial years, on the Company’s Website shall constitute valid
delivery of the relevant AR to me/us under the Companies Act (Cap. 50) of Singapore.

[

]

Please send me/us a printed copy of the Annual Report 2010.

[

]

Please send me/us a printed copy of the Appendices to the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 28 March 2011.

Name(s) of shareholder(s):
The shares are held by me/us under or through:

NRIC/Passport Number(s):
CDP Securities Account No.

1

6

8 1 -

-

CPFIS Account
Physical Scrips
Address:
Email:

Singapore
Signature(s)
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Date:
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Postage will be
paid by addressee.
For posting in
Singapore only.
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BUSINESS REPLY SERVICE
PERMIT NO. 05433

THE COMPANY SECRETARY
KEPPEL TELECOMMUNICATIONS & TRANSPORTATION LTD
1 HARBOURFRONT AVENUE
#18-01 KEPPEL BAY TOWER
SINGAPORE 098632
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This annual report is printed on Meridien Brilliance, Eco-Frontier and Excel Satin. These papers
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